WP-2.1: Critical review and incorporation of information of EC, national and international programmes in RTD component 2

(**D2.1.1**)

Author(s): Berta de la Cruz, M. Victoria Villar, M. Jesús Turrero, Javier Peña, Ana M Fernández (CIEMAT); Torbjörn Carlsson (VTT); Hans-Jürgen Herbert, Thorsten Meyer (GRS); Antonin Vokal (NRI); David Arcos (Enviros-Spain)

Date of issue of this report: 31 March 2005

Start date of project: 01/01/2004

Module duration: **48** Months

DISTRIBUTION LIST

Name	No. of copies	Comments
Berta de la Cruz	1	CIEMAT WP-2.1 Leader
Maria Victoria Villar	1	CIEMAT WP-2.2 Leader
Torbjörn Carlsson	1	VTT WP-2.3 Leader
Hans-Jürgen Herbert	1	FZR WP-2.4 Leader
Luc van Loon	1	PSI WP-2.5 Leader
David Arcos	1	ENVIROS WP-2.6 Leader
M. Jesús Turrero	1	CIEMAT (co-author)
Javier Peña	1	CIEMAT(co-author)
Ana M Fernández	1	CIEMAT(co-author)

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]
Dissemination level: PU
Date of issue of this report: 31 March 2005

i/106

Thorsten Meyer	1	GRS (co-author)
Antonin Vokal	1	NRI (co-author)
Bernd Grambow	1	ARMINES (Co-ord. RTD C1)
Pedro Hernán	1	ENRESA (Co-ord. RTD C2)
Hans-Joachim Alheid	1	BGR (Co-ord. RTD C3)
J-F Aranyossy	1	ANDRA (Co-ord. RTD C4)
Lawrence Johnson	1	NAGRA (Co-ord. RTD C5)
Alain Sneyers	1	NIROND (NF PRO IP co-ordinator)
Julio Astudillo	1	ENRESA

Project co-funded by the European Commission under the Euratom Research and Training		
Programme on Nuclear Energy within the Sixth Framework Programme (2002-2006)		
Dissemination Level		
PU	Public	Yes
RE	Restricted to a group specified by the partners of the [NF PRO]	No
СО	Confidential, only for partners of the [NF PRO] project	No

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

ii/106

Dissemination level: PU

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION	
1.1.	Report organisation	1
1.2.	Different near-field designs	2
1.2	.1. Conceptual designs in granites	2
	Backfilling and sealing materials	3
1.2	.3. Conceptual designs in clays	3
	Callovo-Oxfordian formation	3
	Boom Clay formation	4
	Opalinus Clay	5
	Lower Miocene Spanish argillaceous formation	5
1.2	.4. Repository design in salts	5
1.2	.5. Repository in volcanic tuff	6
2.	CHARACTERISTICS OF THE NEAR FIELD COMPONENTS	6
2.1.	Role and requirements of the different components:	6
2.1	.1. Role of the EBS components	6
2.1	.2. Requirements of the EBS components	7
2.2.	Characteristics of the initial materials and industrial processing and manufactur engineered barrier (EB).	ing of the 10
2.2	1. Container	10
	Steel	10
	Copper	11
2.2	.2. Bentonitic clay	11
	Mineralogical and chemical characteristics	11
	Physico-chemical characteristics	12
2.2	.3. Ordinary Portland Cement (OPC) + additives	13
2.3.	Characteristics of the EBS	14
2.3	.1 Canister	14
	Steel canister	14
	Copper canister	15
2.3	.2 Clay barrier	15
	Types of water in compacted bentonites	16
	Chemical composition of the pore water	17
	Thermal-hydro-mechanical characteristics	19
	Thermal properties	19
	Mechanical properties	19
	Swelling pressure in contact with brines	20
	Hydraulic properties	21
2.3.3	Concrete	22
	Physico-chemical characteristics and pore water	22
	Distribution of porosity	23

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04] iii/106 Dissemination level: PU Date of issue of this report: **31 March 2005**

	Diffusion coefficient	24
	Water adsorption by concrete	25
	Pore water chemistry	26
	Thermo-Hydraulic-Mechanical Characteristics of concrete	27
	Thermal properties	28
	Mechanical properties	28
	Micropore structure of concrete expressed as pore size distribution	
	Degree of hydration of cement in concrete	
	Pore water content	29
	Hydraulic properties	29
	Permeability	29
2.3.	.4. EBS materials in salt formations	30
	Crushed salt	30
	Salt mixtures	30
	Salt cements	31
	Mechanisms of salt cement degradation in salt formations	31
3.	NEAR-FIELD GEOCHEMICAL PROCESSES DURING	THE
HYDRA	ATION/SATURATION STATES	
3 1	Hydration/saturation of the concrete support with saline and high saline water (clay a	nd solt
5.1.	formation) or fresh water (granitic formation) under thermal gradient	
3.1.	.1. Reaction of the solid phases of the concrete with saline and fresh water	33
3.1.	.2. Leachability of concrete and/or neoformation of solid phases	33
	Leaching experiments with salt cements	34
3.2.	Hydration/saturation of the clay barrier through the concrete support under thermal g	radient
	(clay and salt formation)	35
3.2.	.1. Geochemical processes due to concrete/bentonite interaction	35
3.2.	.2. Geochemical processes due to the influence of salt solutions	37
3.2.	.3. Modification of bentonite due to the concrete/bentonite interaction	37
3.2.	.4. Modification of hydro-mechanical properties of bentonite due to the concrete/ben	ntonite
	interaction	
3.3.	Hydration/saturation of the clay barrier with fresh water (granitic formation) under t	hermal
33	1 Modification of bantonite due to the granite/bantonite interaction	
5.5.	Theoretical and experimental considerations	30
33	2 Geochemical processes due to the granite/bentonite interaction	
3.7	Corrosion at the hentonite/canister interface under thermal gradient	
3.4	1 Corrosion of canister	
5.4.	C_steel stainless steel	
	Copper	
	Generated corrosion products	<u>+</u> 3
	Iron corrosion products	4 <u>4</u> 4
	Conner corrosion products	
34	 Geochemical processes induced in the bentonite due to corrosion 	
35	Migration	- 0 47
J.J. 25	1 Diffusion in bentonite	+/ /7
5.5.		4/

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04] iv/106 Dissemination level: PU Date of issue of this report: **31 March 2005**

3.5.2	2. Retention in bentonite	48
4. INVOLV GEOLO	THERMODYNAMIC OF THE NEAR-FIELD PROCE VED IN THE GEOCHEMICAL EVOLUTION OF A I OGICAL REPOSITORY. DATA BASES	SSES DEEP 49
41	Data bases	49
4.2.	Extrapolation to zero jonic strength	
4.3.	Computer programs	51
4.4.	Thermodynamics of the main reactions in the near field	52
5.	NEAR-FIELD SYSTEM BEHAVIOUR MODELLING	53
5.1.	Conceptual model (relevant processes for the NF component behaviour and for PA)	53
5.1.1	1. Bentonite	54
5.1.2	2. Host rock	55
5.1.3	3. Concrete	56
5.1.4	4. Steel canister/cast iron insert	57
5.1.5	5. Copper canister	58
5.2.	Existing numerical models	58
5.3.	Predictive model	59
6.	KNOWN AND UNKNOWN FACTS AND UNCERTAINTIES	59
6.1.	Near-field geochemical processes	59
6.1.1	I. Known facts	60
	In concrete	60
	In compacted bentonite	60
	Corrosion at the bentonite/canister interface	62
	Migration of radionuclides	63
6.1.2	2. Uncertainties:	63
	Bentonite related processes.	63
	Concrete related processes	65
	Canister corrosion related processes	66
	Host rock related processes	66
6.1.3	3. Critical concepts to be developed	67
6.1.4	4. Missing parameters to be determined	67
ANNEX	X 69	
REFER	ENCES	69
	CHAPTER 1	69
	CHAPTER 2	71
	CHAPTER 4	82
	CHAPTER 5	
ACRON	CHAFTER J	98
ACKO	1 110	100

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]
Dissemination level: PU
Date of issue of this report: 31 March 2005

v/106

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Report organisation

Chapter 1 gives a general view of the different conceptual designs of a Deep Geological Repository (DGR) in granite, clay and salt formations. It also provides information on the possibility of retrievability in the different disposal designs.

Chapter 2 is focused on the role and requirements of the different components of the Engineered Barrier System (EBS), giving special attention to the mineralogical, chemical and physico-chemical characteristics of the natural bentonitic clay (FEBEX and MX-80) and ordinary Portland cement.

It also presents a brief review of the mineralogical, chemical and physico-chemical characteristics of the C-steel and Cu/stainless steel containers, clay barrier and concrete, the latter being mainly used in clay repositories. The types of pore water, state, location and quantity of the FEBEX bentonite are reviewed. The chemical composition of the pore water in the clay barrier is discussed, as well as the techniques to collect the pore water and the difficulties posed by the small amounts of water collected. The thermo-hydro-mechanical properties of the clay barrier are also briefly mentioned.

The hydration stages of concrete are described together with the accompanying precipitation/dissolution processes of different minerals. The pore water chemistry of concrete is studied, and the degradation of concrete and its influence on the mobility of the radionuclides as well as the resulting high pH plume are briefly described.

Chapter 3 gives a general view of the processes that take place during the hydration/saturation states under thermal gradient. It is organized according to the chronological order in which the processes may occur. First, the groundwater will flow through a concrete plug in the case of clay and salt formations causing modifications in the concrete. The groundwater from the concrete or from the granite will interact with the bentonite generating a series of geochemical processes in the bentonite. Finally, the groundwater will reach the canister and corrosion processes will start. The geochemical processes that take place in a salt formation are also reviewed in this section.

Chapter 4 reviews the pro and cons of the chemical thermodynamic data bases relevant to nuclear systems. Kinetics is pointed out as being an important uncertainty in the data bases, since reaction kinetics depend on the environment conditions, making any extrapolation difficult. Anyway, the development of kinetic data base is in progress. The most used computer programs to model the near-field geochemical evolution are mentioned, as well as the main processes and reactions taken into account in the geochemical modelling. A brief review is given of the thermodynamic of the main reactions in the near field.

Chapter 5 describes the main chemical processes in each of the considered components of the EBS (conceptual model); furthermore, a review of the existing numerical models, and the uncertainties related to present-day models (identification of key chemical processes, critical concepts and missing parameters) are given.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04] Dissemination level: PU

Chapter 6 compiles the known and unknown facts and uncertainties in the host rock/ concrete/ bentonite/ canister interfaces and gives a list of those parameters that should be studied to broaden the knowledge and understanding of the geochemical processes in the near field.

1.2. Different near-field designs

The concept of the deep geological disposal (DGR) on land (depth of burial around 500 m) relies on a series of natural and <u>engineered barriers</u> to store the waste for thousands of years and to minimize the amount of radioactive material that will eventually be released from a repository and reach the human environment [1-1].

In this integrated project, the near-field concept comprises the key processes controlling dissolution of and release from the waste matrix, chemical processes taking place in the Engineered Barrier System (EBS), the thermo-hydromechanical (THM) evolution of the EBS and the characteristics and the evolution of the excavation disturbed zone (EDZ). With respect to the Research and Technology Development (RTD Component 2), it comprises fundamentally the geochemical processes that take place in the EBS.

The different conceptual designs of a DGR that will be described in this report are classified according to their host rocks. Thus, granites have been chosen by Sweden, Finland, Canada Spain, France, Switzerland; clays by Belgium, Switzerland, France, Spain; salts by Germany and volcanic tuffs by the United States.

1.2.1. Conceptual designs in granites

The <u>KBS-3V</u> concept, first designed by SKB (Sweden), is based on the <u>storage of the</u> <u>spent fuel</u> at a depth of approximately 500 m in crystalline rocks. The spent fuel will be placed inside <u>copper canisters</u> in vertical boreholes and a ring of <u>bentonite</u> will isolate the canisters from groundwater.

In Sweden, besides the KBS-V concept, which is still the reference design, a horizontal emplacement with several <u>canisters</u> one after the other in 300 m. long deposition holes (<u>KBS-3 H</u>) was studied [1-5], [1 6]. The type and dimension of the canister remain the same in both concepts. However, the KBS-3H design requires great efforts to develop deposition technology as well as machines and other equipments. [1-5] [1-34].

The temperature at the surface of the container both in KBS-3V and 3H was established at 100°C. But, recently, a lower limit from 80 to 90°C is being considered as a safety factor in order to account for the uncertainties.

Finland and Canada have also chosen the KBS-3V as reference design for the storage of spent fuel. More information on the Finnish and Canadian site-specific layout adaptation can be found in [1-10] [1-16].

The Swiss HLW repository design is foreseen for vitrified high-level waste from reprocessing, spent fuel and long-lived intermediate-level waste from the Swiss nuclear power plants. The repository conceptual design establishes a depth of 1200 m in granites located in Northern Switzerland. The <u>steel container</u> will be emplaced in 800 m-long horizontal deposition tunnels, and will be surrounded by <u>bentonite blocks</u>

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

2/106

Dissemination level: PU

situated underneath the container and by a mixture of bentonite pellets and powder bentonite (80/20) at the sides and on top. A temperature of 125° C is expected in the outer half of the buffer, in the inner half the temperatures can be higher [1-36], [1-38].

The **Spanish AGP** -ENRESA concept considers the storage of spent fuel (PWR and BWR type), fundamentally, a small amount of vitrified waste from fuel reprocessing and intermediate level waste from the dismantling of nuclear plants at a depth of 500 m [1-21]. The C steel containers will be emplaced in long <u>horizontal deposition tunnels</u> and are surrounded by compacted FEBEX bentonite blocks. Further information on the repository layout in [1-21], [1-33].

The Czech Republic plans to store spent fuel and HLW in granitoid bodies within the <u>Bohemian Massif</u>. A <u>preliminary conceptual disposal</u> design considers a system of main and horizontal parallel disposal galleries, where stainless steel containers (titanium is also considered) will be surrounded by bentonite (and bentonite-based mixtures) as buffer and backfill material [1-32].

Backfilling and sealing materials

Once the emplacement of the spent fuel canisters is complete, all access routes from the surface to the disposal tunnels are <u>backfilled and sealed</u>, [1-3], [1-4], [1-5], [1 6], [1-7] [1-8], [1-10], [1-33], [1-34]., [1-41] and.[1-45].

Different materials and methods for backfilling and sealing of tunnels, rock caverns and shafts in the repository have been considered through the years, such as a 15-85% mixture of bentonite-crushed rock , bentonite and quartz , a mix of glacial rock clay and crushed granite aggregate or only crushed rock.

Experiences were performed in Äspö HRL (<u>Backfill and Plug Test</u> and <u>Prototype</u> <u>Repository Test</u>) to test these backfill and sealing materials and improve methods for compaction of the backfill of tunnels and determine their interaction with the host rock. Since 2003, special emphasis has been given to developing a low-pH cementitious (pH < 11) or non-cementitious materials for applications where the material cannot be removed before the closure of the repository like in grouting [1-5] [1-10].

SKB plans to define in greater detail the function of the sealing, technical solutions will be then worked out and the location of plugs will most probably be determined by sitespecific conditions, this being one of the design questions that is dealt with in the permit application for the deep repository.

1.2.3. Conceptual designs in clays

Many European countries have chosen suitable clay formations as probable sites for a DGR: Callovo-Oxfordian formation (France), Boom clay (Belgium), Opalinus clay (Switzerland) and a generic Lower Miocene Spanish argillaceous formation.

Callovo-Oxfordian formation

The <u>construction</u> of the Underground Research Laboratory (URL) facility, near the village of Bure, France started in September 2000. The <u>potential host rock</u> ([1-15]) is the **Callovo-Oxfordian horizontal clay formation** (150 My) of Eastern France (the

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

3/106

Dissemination level: PU

Meuse and Haute-Marne area), with a thickness is 130 m at the URL site and lies at an average depth of 500 m [1-14] [1-15] [1-40].

Three types of high-level radioactive wastes are envisaged to be stored at the deep disposal: vitrified C waste, B waste and spent fuel.

In <u>Class C</u> wastes the use of concrete in significant amounts is excluded and the containers can be surrounded by a swelling clay buffer or not. On the contrary, , the inner walls of the excavated structures for <u>Class B</u> wastes are supported by concrete. More information on the lay out of the modules which will store class C and B wastes can be read in [1-15].

With respect to the **spent fuel storage**, they will be emplaced in tunnels, and the material surrounding the container can be either concrete or clay A cellular lightweight concrete-type cementitious backfill (CLC) is being discussed as an alternative material [1-15]. Low and non-alloy steels for the metallic overpack is preferred, instead of nickel-chromium-based steels or copper and titanium [1-14].

Boom Clay formation

The <u>Boom Clay formation</u> at Mol, Belgium is proposed to be the Belgian reference disposal concept to store vitrified wastes at a depth of approximately 240 m [1-2] [1-42] [1-43].

The stainless steel drums will be introduced in a sort of <u>"supercontainer</u>", which will be buried in underground concrete <u>galleries</u> (Fig 4-1 and 4-2 in [1-43]). The repository will be entirely closed off with backfilling material (pre-compacted bentonite blocks of the FoCa type clay with added sand and graphite) and plugs (mixture of FoCa clay powder and pellets) [1-43] [1-12]. More information on the Belgian repository design in chapter 4 in [1-43]. Other materials such as concrete or cement are also being considered as sealing materials (<u>RESEAL project</u>)

Further research must be done to establish the minimum thickness of the overpack in relation to mechanical strength and to create full radiological protection; to determine the separation between the containers in the disposal tube; to decide what type of filling should fill the container-overpack gap; to study the type of weld and method of inspection of lids and to decide if Boom Clay can be used as backfilling material [1-43].

The concrete lining of the galleries is made from prefabricated concrete sections to ensure the stability of the galleries. Cements with no furnace slag and with low alkali level are the most suitable to be in contact with the backfill material and the Boom Clay [1-43]). Further information on the alteration of concrete and its effect on the Boom Clay in [1-42]. The possible use of other materials such as steel, cast iron or brick for the lining is not excluded but they need to be further tested to ensure that they have no negative effects on long-term safety assessment [1-43]

The disposal design for spent fuel (Fig 4-8 and 4-9 in [1-43]) in Belgium is based on the reference design for vitrified waste with several modifications regarding the repository layout (spacing between galleries, diameter of galleries, thickness of lining, etc [1-43])

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

Dissemination level: PU

Date of issue of this report: 31 March 2005

4/106

Class B and C wastes will be separated from the vitrified waste and spent fuel, but their disposal design is not so advanced.

Future investigations will focus on the biodegradation of organic waste forms in repository conditions and their effect on the migration of radionuclides in clay [1-42].

Opalinus Clay

Spent fuel and vitrified high-level waste will be buried in <u>Opalinus Clay</u> (Switzerland) at a depth between 400 and 1000 m [1-37] [1-46].

The <u>C-steel overpacks</u> will be introduced in emplacement tunnels and will be surrounded by MX-80 bentonite blocks and pellets as buffer material; also, separate tunnels for long-lived intermediate-level waste are envisaged in the same disposal. After closure of the repository itself, the behaviour of the safety barriers can continue to be monitored in the pilot facility [1-13].

More information on the description of the disposal in [1-37] [1-46].

The repository layout is similar to the one described for the Swiss disposal in granites (<u>Table 1</u>). The main difference lies in the presence of concrete in the clay repository to give mechanical stability to the host rock.

Lower Miocene Spanish argillaceous formation

The concept adopted by ENRESA is very similar to the granite disposal as regards to types of wastes, repository design and backfilling and sealing materials. The host rock will be a **Lower Miocene Spanish argillaceous formation** (lacustrine lutites), but the site location is still unknown.

The <u>HLW disposal</u> will be situated at a depth of 260 m [1-22], [1-23]. The main difference with the high level waste disposal in granites is the existence of concrete blocks, with different thickness depending if they line access or disposal galleries.

The backfill material for all the underground facilities, except for the disposal galleries, will be clay from the excavation. The disposal galleries will be backfilled with FEBEX compacted bentonite [1-23].

1.2.4. Repository design in salts

The Gorleben district (Germany) has a salt dome at a depth of 250 to 3000 m where spent fuel and vitrified high-level waste will be emplaced.

The <u>repository</u> was planned to have a <u>square gallery</u> at a depth of 880 m. The use of steel and iron canisters is intended primarily to contain waste in the short-term [1-1].

Crushed salt will be used in Germany for backfilling and sealing of intermediate and high level waste repositories. A new salt backfill material on the basis of crushed salt with water free magnesium sulphate as an additive has been developed lately by GRS.

Backfill and sealing materials are partly based on <u>cementitious materials</u> and smectitic clays, the latter also relied upon as buffer material ([3-217], [3-168]). The presence of

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

5/106

Dissemination level: PU

brine solutions in contact with cementitious materials and bentonite poses certain problems related to performance assessment due to changes in the properties of concrete and bentonite [1-44] and section 3.2.3 of this work.

1.2.5. Repository in volcanic tuff

The <u>Yucca Mountain</u> repository, located in the <u>Nevada desert</u>, is situated at a depth of 300 m in an unsaturated layer of volcanic tuff [1-2], [1-25], [1-27], [1-28]. The <u>waste</u> forms are spent fuel and high-level radioactive waste

The <u>repository basic design</u> includes fifty-eight 700 m-long horizontal <u>emplacement</u> <u>tunnels</u> [1-25] [1-28].

By itself, the mountain would provide a high <u>degree of protection</u> to the public. The major <u>engineered barriers</u> include the following: <u>Solid waste forms</u> (section 3.3 in [1-25]); <u>Waste packages</u>; <u>Drip shields</u> and <u>Inverts</u>. More detailed information in [1-25] [1-26], [1-28].

Although the general corrosion rate in Yucca Mountain is extremely low, it is recommended that long-term corrosion tests using multiple specimens are carried out [1-26], in order to build further confidence in the performance of the metal containers over thousands of years. More information on further tests on corrosion in [1-26].

Confidence in the modelling of flow and radionuclide transport in the unsaturated zone should be increased through further experimentation.

2. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE NEAR FIELD COMPONENTS

2.1. Role and requirements of the different components:

2.1.1. Role of the EBS components

The EBS represents the man-made, engineered materials placed within a repository, including the waste canister, buffer materials, backfills- seals and concrete [2-1]. Its main role is to provide physical, chemical, hydraulic and biological isolation of the waste and to minimize the radionuclide release to the geosphere over the long-term. The more robust the design of the EBS is, the less reliance can be placed on the performance of the geosphere.

Though waste form is one of the components of the EBS, it will not be included in this report, since it is comprehensively studied in RTD Component 1. The main functions of EBS components can be summarized as follows:

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

Dissemination level: PU

Date of issue of this report: 31 March 2005

6/106

- The container/overpack facilitates waste handling, emplacement and retrievability and provides containment for up to 1000 years or longer depending on the waste type.
- The buffer/backfill is designed to stabilize the thermo-hydro-mechanicalchemical conditions, and to provide low permeabilities and/or diffusivities and/or long-term retardation.
- Concrete provides structural stability and works as a physical barrier to the release of radionuclides. Concrete components appear within the seal system at the very bottom, the very top, and several locations in between where they provide a massive plug that fills the opening and a tight interface between the plug and the host rock.

The repository is thus built up of several barriers (multi barrier concept) which support and complement each other. The safety of the repository must be adequate even if one barrier should be defective or fail to perform as intended [2-2].

2.1.2. Requirements of the EBS components

There are no standard requirements that can satisfactorily meet the needs of each component of the EBS in the different repository designs. The factors that must be taken into account when selecting the materials of the different components are: the heat that will be produced by the waste, the pH and Eh conditions that are expected, the expected groundwater flux, the local groundwater chemistry, possible interactions among different materials in the waste and EBS, the mechanical behaviour of the host rock after closure and the evolution of conditions over time. Anyway a general idea of the characteristics that the EBS components must exhibit to fulfil their function can be given as guidelines. These properties are briefly mentioned below:

Container:

- Good mechanical resistance to impacts and/or falls during its transportation or handling. Material deformation should occur without cracking. The container must withstand any stresses imposed by the repository.
- An adequate heat dissipation to keep the temperature at its surface approximately at 100°C (design criterion).
- Resistance to radiation.
- Resistance to corrosion. It is built with highly corrosion-resistant metals, such as C-steel, stainless steel, copper, and Ni and Ti alloys, as a way to delay as much as possible the contact of groundwater with the wastes [2-6].

Bentonite buffer:

• Sufficient swelling pressures (approximately from 4 to 6 MPa) to guarantee selfsealing of the gaps between the different EBS components, as well as sealing the repository against any free water entrance. The swelling pressure depends on the water content and the dry density of the material.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

7/106

Dissemination level: PU

- A low hydraulic conductivity ($\leq 10^{-12}$ m/s) so that solutes move primarily by diffusion, ensures a long transit time. As a consequence, the transport rates of corrodants to canisters prior to their failure are reduced and the transport of radionuclides into the surrounding rock after canister failure is retarded. Furthermore, the gas generated within the waste packages cannot reach an important gas pressure that may jeopardize the performance of the buffer. In addition, the small pore size of the bentonite assures that colloids generated in the waste package volume cannot migrate through the buffer.
- High surface area and cation exchange capacity to be able to incorporate radionuclides dissolved in the pore water.
- Adequate thermal conductivity when saturated to dissipate the heat and gas generated by the waste.
- From a chemical point of view, the clay minerals in bentonite have a very good chemical stability, which is favorable taking into account the long time scales involved. The carbonate content should not be excessively high ($\approx 0.4\%$) and the content of organic matter must not exceed the trace level to hinder bacteria growth.
- It is recommended that the grain size should not be smaller than 5 mm to prevent excessive dust that could difficult the handling activities.

The types of bentonite that are taken into account for the different repository designs are sodic or calcium-magnesium types, such as FEBEX, FoCa and MX-80, among others.

Bentonite-based backfill and seals ([2-4][2-7][2-8])

- High thermal conductivity to ensure heat dissipation
- Low hydraulic conductivity $(10^{-10} \text{ or lower})$ to prevent the formation of hydraulic circuits in the disposal system.
- Swelling pressures must not be larger than the in situ effective stress, though they must be sufficient to close the voids left after the backfilling work (about 100kPa).
- Low compressibility to prevent expansion of the buffer so that the density and other desired properties of the buffer remain unchanged.
- Contribute to the long-term mechanical stability of the cavities excavated in the host rock.
- The chemical composition should be such that no significant harmful effects can be detected on other barriers. Corrosive substances like sulphur must be limited, as well as organic matter. Illitization and cementation should be considered in further studies.
- Capacity to be compacted to sufficient density, also close to the roof to maintain the physical and chemical properties of the backfill, even in high salinity

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

8/106

Dissemination level: PU

environments. In case of pre-compacted blocks, materials with sufficient plasticity and cohesion are desirable.

• Materials easy to handle and compact to limit the risk of buffer dislocation before the backfill is installed.

The natural clay materials most used for backfilling purposes are: swelling clays (smectite), non-swelling clays (illite, kaolinite), additives such as crushed rocks and other potential soil types. In salt repositories, bentonite-based materials are not considered to be the preferred option.

In some repository designs, like in Sweden, a mixture of crushed rock and bentonite (70/30) is assumed to perform in groundwater salinity up to 1%. Pre-compacted bentonite blocks can perform well as backfill material, even in high saline groundwaters. AECL (Canada) is studying the use of pre-compacted bentonite pellets to enhance the density of both bulk material and bentonite itself. NAGRA has tested a groutable backfill material composed of bentonite pellets and bentonite powder (50/50). Although in this case the material was used as a buffer around a horizontal canister, the technique may be possibly applied elsewhere as backfilling material [2-8].

Concrete seals [2- 6][2- 9]

- Low permeability. Upon hydration, unfractured concrete is nearly impermeable (10^{-20} m^2) .
- No gas generator.
- Radiation shield.
- Adequate structural compressive strength. The most important indicator of strength is the water used / amount of cement ratio. Basically, the lower this ratio is, the higher the final concrete strength will be. Superplasticizers are responsible for the recent development of very high strength concretes, some in excess of 15,000 psi because they greatly reduce the need for excess water for workability [2-10].
- Longevity. It will be reduced if large quantities of brine were available causing degradation of the major components of concrete.
- By addition of admixtures to concrete, there is a possibility to modify: its plasticity, the tendency of cement particles to bind together in flocs and thus escape complete hydration and the set time, which can be important when large masses must be placed in a repository [2-10].
- Availability, low cost and constructability.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04] Dissemination level: PU 9/106

2.2. Characteristics of the initial materials and industrial processing and manufacturing of the engineered barrier (EB).

2.2.1. Container

Steel

Steel is the common name for a large family of iron alloys which are easily malleable after the molten stage. Steels are commonly made from iron ore, coal, and limestone.

According to the chemical compositions, standard steels can be classified into three major groups: <u>carbon steels</u>, <u>alloy steels</u>, and <u>stainless steels</u>.

Carbon steels are steels whose alloying elements do not exceed the following limits : 1% C; 0.60% Cu; 1.65% Mn; 0.40% P; 0.60% Si and 0.05% S. General properties can be found in [2-16].

Alloy steels exceed the element limits for carbon steels. Also includes steels that contain elements not found in carbon steels such as nickel, chromium (up to 3.99%), cobalt, etc. Alloy steels are generally more responsive to heat and mechanical treatments than carbon steels.

Stainless steel contains at least 10% chromium, with or without other elements (Ni, Mo, Ti, C). Stainless steel is renown for its resistance to corrosion and low maintenance requirements. Based on the structures, stainless steels can be grouped into three grades: <u>Austenitic</u>, ferritic and martensitic.

The most important type for repository purposes is included in the <u>austenitic group</u> and is known as AISI 316 with an extra 2-3% molybdenum and nickel to enhance corrosion resistance

The stainless steel corrosion resistance is attributable to the presence of a thin, durable film of passive, but stable chromium oxide . Should the film be damaged or removed, it will reform independently, provided that oxygen is present to allow the reaction to occur with the chromium content of the steel. In case no oxygen is available the passive film is destroyed [2-14] [2-15].

Stainless steels have <u>lower thermal conductivity</u> than carbon steel and <u>high toughness</u>; they <u>harden</u> considerably, tend to be <u>sticky</u> and have poor <u>chip-breaking</u> characteristics.

The difference in the mechanical properties of different stainless steels is seen most clearly in <u>stress-strain curves</u>. Austenite steels have good creep resistance and can also be used in cryogenic applications and is in annealed condition the only non-magnetic steel [2-15].

The <u>welding</u> of stainless steel is related to the microstructure. The steels of type ASTM 304, 316, 304L, and 316L have very good <u>weldability</u>. The old problem of intergranular corrosion after welding is very seldom encountered today [2-15].

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

10/106

Dissemination level: PU

More information on other <u>typical properties of steels</u> at room temperature $(25^{\circ}C)$ and specifically on <u>AISI 316 steel</u> in [2-15] [2-16].

<u>Copper</u>

Some countries favour the use of <u>copper</u> containers mainly because copper is naturally resistant to corrosion. Moreover because copper is a pure element and not an alloy, it is possible to calculate conditions under which the metal will remain stable indefinitely [2-11] [2-12].

Copper is a very ductile metal even at low temperatures. It is easily worked into thin sheets and fine wires, and it can tolerate impact type loads without shattering [2-13]

2.2.2. Bentonitic clay

Bentonite is a clay composed essentially by minerals of the group of the smectites, independently of its genesis and way of appearance ([2-29]).

Commercial data on clay manufacturers, and export and import of bentonite materials can be found in Roskill ([2-37]: <u>http://www.roskill.com/reports/bentonite</u>).

MX-80 and FEBEX bentonites are planned to be used in the NF-PRO Project. Commercially available MX-80 bentonite is used in the repository concepts of Finland, Switzerland, France, Japan, Sweden; while FEBEX bentonite is used in Spain.

The bentonite occurrences in Almería (Spain) and Wyoming (USA) have been relatively well studied under laboratory conditions and as a natural analogue of the long-term behaviour of the bentonite barrier in the final nuclear waste repository.

Both bentonites are the result of the alteration of rhyolitic volcanic ash. The mineralogies of these two bentonite deposits are fairly similar. The most significant difference between them is the exchangeable cation. Wyoming bentonite mainly consists of Na-smectites, while Ca-smectites predominates in the Almería bentonite.

Mineralogical and chemical characteristics

Different authors have characterised the MX-80 and FEBEX bentonites ([2-35], [2-34], [2-30], [2-25], [2-23], [2-24]). The following properties are the most important for exploiting a clay source to obtain buffer and backfill materials:

- Amount of smectite-rich material
- Smectite type
- Degree of homogeneity with respect to the smectite content
- Type and amount of accessory minerals
- Organic content

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]
Dissemination level: PU
Date of issue of this report: **31 March 2005**

11/106

The reference MX-80 mineralogy was taken from [2-34]) and is reproduced in <u>Table 2</u>. The reference FEBEX mineralogy was taken from [2- 23]) and [2- 24]) and is reproduced in <u>Table 3</u>.

The major mineral phase of the MX-80 and FEBEX bentonites is montmorillonite. The content of montmorillonite in the former bentonite is more heterogeneous (\approx 75 to 90 wt %) than in the FEBEX type (92 wt %). In spite of their high smectite content, these bentonites contain numerous accessory minerals, such as neoformed minerals, and unaltered remains of the original volcanic rock. In addition to the main minerals, carbonates, sulphates, sulphides, chlorides and organic matter are chemically important components. Phosphorous, nitrogen and the organic content of buffers may serve as nutrients to bacteria and produce organic colloids [2-36]. For MX-80, the organic content is 0.40%, while for Febex is 0.35%.

The typical chemical composition of the two bentonites is shown in <u>Table 4</u>. The chemical formula of the smectites is given in <u>Table 5</u>.

Based on XRD, the smectitic phases of the FEBEX bentonite are actually made up of a smectite-illite mixed layer with ~11 % of illite layers. 18 % of the charge comes from tetrahedral substitution, and 82 % from octahedral substitution. The *surface charge density* (σ), i.e., the excess charge per unit surface area of this smectite is 0.132 C/m².

In the case of MX-80 bentonite, 17% of the charge arised from tetrahedral substitution, and 83 % from octahedral substitution. The *surface charge density* (σ) is 0.120 C/m².

Physico-chemical characteristics

Most of the physical properties of smectites, such as swelling, adsorption, plasticity, permeability and shear strength are related to the electrical charge, the colloidal size and the interactions between electrically charged intelamellar surfaces and water molecules [2- 30]. Some of the main physico-chemical properties of the MX-80 and FEBEX bentonites are shown in <u>Table 6</u>. However, the bentonites also contain soluble salts which influence the chemical composition of the pore water. The chlorides and sulphate inventories of the two bentonites are shown in <u>Table 7</u>.

Cation exchange on clay minerals has been extensively studied and can contribute significantly to radionuclide sorption depending on the conditions ([2-17]), [2-20]). Furthermore, the type of adsorbed cations of smectite determines the degree of hydration and the reological properties. Maximum expandability is obtained for Li and Na as adsorbed cations, while it is minimum for Ca and polyvalent cations.

Cation exchange studies have shown that, under a given set of conditions, various cations are not equally replaceable and do not have the same replacing power. In principle, the following law of replacement power applies: $\text{Li} < \text{Na} < \text{K} < \text{Ca} < \text{Mg} < \text{NH}_4$. However, there is no single universal replaceability series. It varies depending on the experimental condition, the cations involved, the valence, the kind of smectite mineral, the ion concentration, the nature of anions in replacing solutions, etc.

Wyoming bentonite may have a significant fraction of the exchange sites occupied by magnesium and calcium although sodium dominates. In the case of the FEBEX

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

12/106

Dissemination level: PU

bentonite, calcium dominates although the amount of sodium and magnesium are similar (Table 8).

Cation exchange reactions are commonly described by selectivity coefficients defined over mass action equations ([2-26]). The selectivity coefficients for MX-80 and FEBEX bentonites are shown in <u>Table 9</u>.

The H-Na selectivity coefficient for smectites is approximately unity ([2-28]). Consequently, proton exchange on the permanent charge sites is not expected to be a significant process at the pH values relevant to the near field processes.

There is a second category of reactive sites associated with montmorillonite which are perceived as being surface hydroxyl groups (\equiv SOH) situated along the edges of the clay platelets, *edge or broken bond sites*. These sites have a capacity of ~10% of the CEC and can protonate and deprotonate so that the concentrations of neutral protonated and de-protonated edge sites (\equiv SOH, \equiv SOH₂⁺, \equiv SO⁻, respectively) change as a function of pH. Thus, the hydroxyl groups can potentially function as a powerful pH buffer ([2-19]). The \equiv SOH site types, capacities and protolysis constants for the FEBEX and MX-80 smectites are shown in <u>Table 10</u> and <u>Table 11</u>.

2.2.3. Ordinary Portland Cement (OPC) + additives

Cementitious and clay materials are generally used for plugging and sealing deposition tunnels and galleries and are often found to be in contact in existing repository designs in granitic and argillaceous rocks.

A concrete mix with the proper thermal, mechanical and chemical characteristics for the repository design and its effect on the bentonite buffer has been the aim of several international programs (ECOCLAY I and II).

The standard concrete used in underground repositories is usually made with OPC, or formulations based on OPC. Among the Portland-based cements, the most suitable for repository purposes are a high alkali content cement (CEM I) and a sulphoresistant low alkali cement (CEM I–SR). Their average chemical and mineralogical composition are shown in <u>Table 12</u> and <u>Table 13</u>.

It is common to add blending agents to cement, such as fly ashes (FA), blast furnace slags (BFS) or mixtures to control the amount of alkalies, Ca, Al and S (<u>Table 14</u>). Depending on the amount of blending agent, the global composition of the cement can vary widely. The principal effects on the composition are the increase in silica content and subsequent decrease formation of calcium hydroxide (CH) and decrease of the Ca/Si ratio of calcium silicate hydrates (CSH) [2-40].

Concerning concrete, numerous formulations based on Portland cement exist, but it is clear that the standard concrete for repository design is made with sulphoresistant ordinary Portland cement (CEM I-SR) with no organic additives and whose main characteristics are given in <u>Table 15</u>.

Experiments performed in ECOCLAY I and II have studied the stability of the bentonite in contact with different concrete pore solutions concluding that the initial pH of these

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

13/106

Dissemination level: PU

solutions is the main factor controlling the steady-state composition of the resulting solutions. This process was also confirmed by the modelling tasks. Also, experiments were carried out to study the dissolution-precipitation processes between the bentonite (VOLCLAY and FEBEX bentonites) and the concrete pore solution; the alteration of the VOLCLAY bentonite generates beidellite at pH >12.6, and FEBEX bentonite remains stable at pH =13.2, at higher pH zeolites and a Mg-type silicate (saponite) are formed. The kinetics studies of the cement-bentonite interface have concluded that there are chemical changes, as well as mineral fabric modifications, at this interface [2-41].

A methodology has been established to reproduce the process of degradation of the cement in contact with groundwaters in granitic media. The method allows to evaluate the evolution of the pore solution chemistry at different stages of the degradation process and to study the saturation state of such solutions by thermodynamic means.

The numerical approaches used to model the different experiments need to be refined, and the kinetic factors that condition the precipitation of beidellite or saponite must be better identified to incorporate them into the numerical codes using kinetic laws [2-41].

A vast infrastructure and experience on the study and behaviour of concretes is available [2-6].

2.3. Characteristics of the EBS

2.3.1 Canister

Steel canister

The design lifetime of the steel canisters varies from 1000 to 3000 depending on the repository design, although a 10000 year lifetime might be more realistically expected ([2-83]).

The thickness and choice of material are determined on the basis of corrosion tests and the wall thickness may vary from 5 to 10 mm depending on the repository concept. The thickness must be enough to withstand drop tests from a height of 17 m onto shock absorbers [2-162].

The small annulus of 1 to 2 cm between the primary containment and the overpack may be left unfilled or filled with glass frit, which would retard the corrosion of the glass matrix, and, hence, the release of radionuclides. If filling this annulus is decided, then the physicochemical interaction of the glass frit with the glass matrix would have to be studied and further corrosion tests would be necessary. Packing this void with a material of low compressibility would also affect the mechanical requirements of the overpack, possibly resulting in a reduction of its required thickness.

Most of the repository designs consider the presence of an overpack in stainless steel grade AISI 316L hMo with a thickness of 20 to 30 mm. This thickness is a rough estimate, and the extent to which this figure can satisfy a range of mechanical and physicochemical requirements is now being investigated. AISI 316 steel presents a low risk of pitting and generalised corrosion, however, further research is needed to be able

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

14/106

Dissemination level: PU

to demonstrate the suitability of this steel grade with greater certainty. Further reading on the steel overpack can be found in [2-162].

Copper canister

Sweden and Finland favour the encapsulation of high level radioactive wastes in <u>copper</u> <u>containers</u>.

Based on tests over more than 15 years, copper is stable in the oxygen-free water that will exist in the Swedish repository [2-11]. Copper will eventually be corroded by the sulphides in the groundwater, but this will take place at a very low rate due to the extremely low concentration of sulphides.

The thickness of the canister walls must be approximately 50 mm, however recent studies carried out in Sweden with copper canisters have confirmed that thinner walls (10 mm) improve the mechanical strength and reduce the fabrication of the copper tubes using the pertinent methods, providing better control over the microstructure of the material. On the other hand, the reliability and quality of the weld is expected to be even higher with thinner walls, even though the welding techniques work well for 50mm copper. However, thinner walls lead to reduced mechanical stability of the copper cylinder. It has not been established whether this might complicate fabrication and handling [2- 3]. In order to meet the required mechanical strength, an inner structure made from nodular cast iron that supports the outer copper shell is provided.

Swedish scientists concluded that a copper canister of this type has a design lifetime of 100,000 years, although a corrosion evaluation suggests a lifetime in excess of 1 million years. In addition to the benefit of an increased canister lifetime, the choice of this canister design also essentially eliminates corrosion-induced H_2 production, except in the rare case of a prematurely breached canister [2-83].

Most of the containers have been constructed using the <u>roll-forming method</u> but it must be optimised and scaled up to accommodate the large number of canisters that will be required in the future [2-11]. On the other hand, production of seamless tubes by extrusion and pierce-and-draw has yielded such promising results that these methods will become the focus of work in the immediate future. More information of manufacturing procedures for a seamless cylinder and a cast iron insert can be read in [1-10, section 2.4.2].

Experimental research and theoretical studies to quantify the rate of general corrosion of copper under the oxygen free and saline conditions prevailing at repository depth are expected to continue in the coming years.

If the elimination of gas production is deemed completely necessary, a chemically inert insert (ceramic or bronze) would be possible to design for a copper canister for spent fuel [2-83].

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04] Dissemination level: PU

2.3.2 Clay barrier

The bentonite used in nuclear waste disposal has been treated (excavated, air-dried and ground to powders and granulates) and is compacted under a pressure of 50-100 MPa to obtain compacted blocks. Nevertheless, predicting the behaviour of this kind of material requires mathematical models for material behaviour, which cannot be developed and justified without sufficient measurement data and knowledge about the mineralogy, chemistry, microstructure and other physico-chemical properties of the materials.

The physico-chemical properties of the compacted bentonite are closely related to the properties of the powdered material (section 2.2.2.), and mainly to the smectite component.

Types of water in compacted bentonites

Primary clay particles consist of a coherent stack of silicate layers, which often occur as aggregates. The cluster of the clay aggregates may generate a micro-structure (fabric) often with large pores between the clay aggregates. Thus, a clay may develop three kinds of pores: interlamellar pores within the primary particles, intraaggregate pores (0.01-0.2 μ m size) delineated by the boundaries of primary particles within the aggregates, and interaggregate pores (0.2 to several micrometers size) within the microstructure ([2-58],[2-79]).

Three modes of clay hydration can be distinguished and may take place simultaneously with the increasing water activity or relative humidity ([2-58]): a) interlamellar hydration which involves the adsorption of limited amounts of water molecules on the internal surfaces of primary clay particles, named *interlamellar water*; b) continuous (osmotic) hydration which is related to an unlimited adsorption of the water on the internal surfaces of primary particles, named *intraparticle water*; and c) capillary condensation of free water in micropores within the clay fabric (i.e., in the interaggregate and intraaggregate pores), named *interparticle water*.

The swelling pressure is due to interlamellar hydration of expandable minerals and to osmosis related to interparticle forces. The hydration of expandable minerals depends on the type of adsorbed interlamellar cation, which determines the maximum number of hydrates and hence the maximum c-dimension of the stacks of lamellae ([2-76], [2-77]). The second stage of swelling is due to double-layer repulsion, also known as osmotic swelling, which was found to be inversely proportional to the square-root of the salt concentration in the solution ([2-74]).

The sorption of water into interlamellar space is governed by the hydration energy of the interlayer cations and their polarization degree (charge/size relationship), the location of the layer charge of the adjacent silicate sheets, the relative vapour pressure, the water content and the salinity of the solutions surrounding the clay particles ([2-74] [2-80] [2-78] [2-73] [2-65] [2-46]).

Usually a continuous variation of d(001) with water content has been experimentally found. Some authors ([2-59]) theoretically showed that the c-axis dimension spacing varies continuously but not uniformly with water content. Others showed that the apparently continuous change in the c dimension results from an alternation of

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

16/106

Dissemination level: PU

successive discrete hydrates ([2-56] [2-66]). This phenomenon has been observed in the FEBEX bentonite as a function of the water content ([2-49] [2-50]. Based on wetting experiments, the FEBEX montmorillonite expands or swells in the c-dimension to an extent equivalent to a maximum of three monolayers of water in the interlayer space. In the case of the sodium smectites, like MX-80 bentonite, the expansion is unlimited in powdered material.

As summary, the different types of waters in the FEBEX bentonite powder, their state, location and quantity are shown in <u>Table 16</u>.

In the case of MX-80 bentonite, the results of <u>water vapour adsorption</u> as a function of the water activity can be observed in <u>Table 17</u>.

However, in compacted bentonite, the amount of adsorbed water depends on the <u>dry</u> <u>density</u>. As it was shown, the compaction of the bentonite originates an intergranular porosity which is a function of the compaction degree (dry density) and the amount and size of the accessory minerals. In a compacted material, the total volumetric water content is equivalent to the total pore volume. The distribution and physico-chemical characteristics of the water in the system depend on the types of pores and the pore size distribution.

Different techniques were used to determine the amount of internal and external water for the MX-80 ([2-76] [2-77]) and FEBEX bentonite ([2-50]). In the case of FEBEX bentonite, a <u>statistical model</u> has been used to distinguish between internal porosity (interlayer water) and external porosity (external water) in compacted material. The <u>internal porosity</u> for the MX-80 bentonite is shown for comparison. However, the <u>saline content</u> of the infiltrating solutions must be taken into account (<u>Table 18</u>). The external water also allows to model the pore water chemistry of the FEBEX compacted bentonite, both as a powder and as a compacted material (see the *pore water chemistry* section below).

Thus, rehydration of the interlayer cations is the main mechanism responsible for the generation of swelling pressures in highly compacted bentonite systems. The swelling accompanying the re-saturation of the compacted bentonite tends to fill most of the initially present macroporosity and turns it into predominantly interlayer porosity.

Chemical composition of the pore water

The pore water composition in the clay barrier is essential for performance assessment, since it influences the release and transport of the radionuclides, canister corrosion, dissolution of the waste matrix, sorption on mineral surfaces, solubility of radionuclides, etc.

However, obtaining reliable data on the pore water chemistry of compacted bentonite (dry density around 1650 kg/m³) under initial and saturated conditions where the water contents (w.c.) are so low (8-14 wt.% and 24 wt.% of the dry mass, respectively), is very difficult. Many of the different laboratory techniques employed so far to obtain pore water compositions tend to perturb the system and introduce sampling artefacts into the measured data ([2-54]). For example, squeezing at high pressures may produce

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

17/106

Dissemination level: PU

oxidation and dissolution of the accessory minerals present in the bentonite, the outgassing of CO_2 and chemical fractionation ([2-75]). Furthermore, squeezing techniques cannot extract pore water from bentonites with water contents below 20 wt.% ([2-48]).

Also, pore water chemistries for compacted bentonite cannot be obtained directly from aqueous extraction experiments. They are generally carried out at unrealistically low solid to liquid (S:L) ratios and the unconstrained dissolution of highly soluble salts and sparingly soluble minerals, together with cation exchange reactions on the montmorillonite, leads to water compositions and cation occupancies which are very dependent on the experimental conditions ([2-42]; [2-48]; [2-69]).

Rather, indirect methods based on geochemical modelling must be applied to deduce the chemical composition of the pore water. There are numerous papers concerning the modelling of the pore water in compacted bentonite and the argillaceous rocks ([2-42]; [2-43], [2-44]; [2-48], [2-81], [2-71]; [2-77], [2-45], [2-82], [2-47]).

The pore water chemistry in bentonites is the result of different interactions occurring in the clay/water system: interactions between water, solutes and clay. For this reason, it is necessary to know the mineralogical and chemical components of the clay system; their physico-chemical characteristics, the hydration mechanisms, as well as the types of waters, porosity, microstructure, and the ion diffusion pathways of compacted bentonites ([2-52]).

Usually, Bradbury & Baeyens's procedure ([2-43]) is used in order to model the pore water chemical composition. This procedure is based on physico-chemical characterisation and geochemical modelling.

Besides knowing the physico-chemical characterisation of the bentonite material, two quantities need to be fixed in order to calculate a unique aqueous chemistry and to fully define the bentonite-water system: the pH (or pCO_2) and the chloride concentration.

A bentonite-water system must be defined, among other parameters, by a water/rock ratio, which can be conveniently described by a quantity analogous to the porosity. In compacted bentonite, the total porosity (physical porosity) can be divided in: i) internal porosity (interlayer water) and, ii) external porosity (external water) which corresponds to free water plus double diffusion layer (DDL) water. The external porosity is called effective porosity or geochemical porosity. The amount of water involved in the geochemical processes in the engineered barrier corresponds to the free water or interparticle water (the external water), taking into account that the amount of this water depends on the modifications of the dry density and the saline concentration in the system.

According to Bradbury & Baeyens ([2-43]), the free water volume, i.e., the pore water volume in compacted bentonite, is supposed to be equivalent to the accessible porosity to chloride in *through-diffusion* experiments (<u>Table 19</u>). The results of the chemical composition calculated for the MX-80 bentonite are shown in <u>Table 20</u>.

In the context of the FEBEX project ([2-60]), the chemical composition of the pore waterin the FEBEX bentonite was determined ([2-54]; [2-53], [2-50], [2-51]). A combination of methodologies was applied based on different pore water extraction

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

18/106

Dissemination level: PU

methods, physico-chemical and mineralogical characterisation and geochemical modelling.

A distribution of the external and internal porosity as a function of dry density was obtained for FEBEX bentonite ([2-50]), based on the types of water and their distribution in the FEBEX smectite and on the statistical distribution of the water in the compacted material (external/internal water) as a function of the total porosity. The external porosities calculated have been found to be similar to the accessible porosities determined in through-diffusion tests (Table 21). Most of the water is situated in interlayer space, but there is always a small fraction of external water in the compacted saturated bentonite-system.

In order to calculate the chemical composition of the FEBEX bentonite pore water, Bradbury & Baeyens's procedure was followed. However, the external porosity has been considered as the accessible porosity or free water volume ([2-54]). The pore water chemistry of the FEBEX bentonite is shown in <u>Table 22</u> and <u>Table 23</u> as a function of the total porosity and as a function of the effective or geochemical porosity.

The thermodynamic formulation is a powerful tool to calculate the properties of the bentonite-water system and all the possible interactions among water, clay and solutes. Macroscopic properties, such as accessible porosities to chloride and swelling pressure, can be determined by improving the knowledge of the chemical composition of the pore water, which reflects the thermodynamic equilibrium of the microscopic system. The <u>swelling pressures</u> can be explained by osmotic pressures in the bentonite-water system. Because the DDL thickness at dry densities higher than 1400 kg/m³ is lower than 3 Å, the application of the DDL models could be not valid in these systems ([2-50], [2-53]).

Other works about these issues can be found in [2-72], [2-61], [2-62].

Thermal-hydro-mechanical characteristics

Thermal properties

The main thermal property of the bentonite affecting the barrier behaviour is the thermal conductivity. Its dependence on dry density and water content of the bentonite and on temperature is well known (FEBEX, [2-115], the <u>MX-80</u> [2-109] and the FoCa bentonites [2-84]).

More information about the relation between specific heat and temperature can be found in [2-88], and on the thermal properties of high density pellets in [2-110]..

Mechanical properties

The mechanical property of the bentonite that mostly conditions its behaviour is its volume change capacity. The swelling capacity and the swelling pressure of a bentonite strongly depend on the <u>content of smectite</u>, the type of <u>adsorbed cations</u>, the density and the microstructure, the brine composition and the applied hydrostatic pressure [3-184]).

The relation between swelling pressure / <u>swelling strain</u> and <u>dry density</u> of the bentonite can be defined by well established empirical equations. The dependence of these properties on the initial water content of the clay has also been studied. The

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

19/106

Dissemination level: PU

repercussion of salinity on swelling has been experimentally analysed and modelled, although it is not completely understood (<u>MX-80 bentonite</u> ([2-92]), <u>Kunigel V1</u> <u>bentonite</u> ([2-110]), <u>FEBEX</u>). The effect of temperature on the volume change of bentonite has been scarcely analysed, although it does not seem to be crucial. The aspects less studied –due to the experimental difficulties involved– are the variation of swelling properties with <u>suction</u> and the kinetics of swelling development; the latter seems to depend on the structure of the material (compacted blocks, <u>pellets/powder mixtures</u>).

More on the swelling pressure of precompacted samples and pellets/ powder samples in [2-120], [2-114]. More information on how salinity affects the swelling pressure in [2-92]] Information on the behaviour of the swelling pressure as a function of suction can be read in [2-115], [2-100], [2-94], [2-95]] for FEBEX bentonite, and in [2-87] for a silt/bentonite mixture.

Papers referring to thermal effects on saturated expansive soils are [2-113], [2-111], [2-86] and on unsaturated soils [2-93], [2-106], [2-108], [2-117], [2-121]. Results on the effect of heating on the swelling pressure as a function of the adsorbed cations in the exchange complex can be found in [2-104]] The results of heating on the swelling capacity in terms of the confining stress can be found in Lloret *et al.* ([2-96], 2004), Villar & Lloret ([2-117], 2003) and Karnland *et al.* ([2-91], 1994).

Other aspects of the mechanical behaviour of bentonite regarding temperature, such as the effect on the apparent preconsolidation pressure, the stiffness upon loading and the compressibility, have been scarcely studied ([2-117], 2003; <u>Lloret *et al.*</u>, [2-96], 2004,).

Swelling pressure in contact with brines

Since none of the existing predictive models can describe the complex processes involved in the swelling of bentonites in high saline solutions ([3-182]), GRS suggested a pragmatic approach to the problem.

In order to obtain the needed data, a set of <u>experiments</u> was carried out in which MX-80 bentonite reacted with <u>high molar saline model solutions</u> with varying proportions of Na and Mg and constant concentrations of K and Ca [3-184]. The swelling pressures of bentonites in contact with high saline brines is considerably lower than those with pure water. The brine composition influences the resulting swelling pressure. Experiments with synthetic brines have demonstrated that the swelling pressures increase with increasing Mg in solution, and decrease with K. Because of these opposite effects of K and Mg, the swelling pressures obtained with naturally occurring brines with varying K and Mg contents do not differ as much as expected.

Interlayer spacing and total water content of MX-80 in contact with the model solutions increases as the Na/Mg-ratio in solution decreases. For a precise differentiation between pore water and interlayer water of MX-80 being in contact with a high molar salinar solution, an independent method could be applied for the determination of the density of hydrated clay minerals.

At the time being the existing knowledge on swelling pressures in contact with brines is neither complete nor consistent enough for a successful modelling. Factors like dry

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

20/106

Dissemination level: PU

density, microstructure, flooding regime, sample dimensions seem to have a much bigger influence on the swelling pressure than brine composition. The flooding regime has a decisive influence on the resulting permeability and thus on the sealing capacity of the bentonites. With the same solution a very similar swelling pressure can be obtained under different brine inflow rates. Under certain conditions the build-up of a pore pressure is faster than the closure of the pores by the swelling and a relative high permeability is maintained despite a high swelling pressure. Therefore in order to obtain data which can be used for the practical purposes future swelling pressure experiments must be performed under boundary conditions as close as possible to the expected insitu conditions.

Hydraulic properties

The most important hydraulic properties of the bentonite barrier are the hydraulic conductivity and the retention capacity.

The hydraulic conductivity is considered to be independent of the hydraulic gradient applied to measure it ([2-102], [2-115]]). However, it has not been established whether the hydraulic gradient threshold pointed out by several authors exists or not, below which the relation between flow and gradient in clays deviates from linearity ([2-99], [2-115], [2-119], [2-123]). Other authors also find this threshold in their tests performed with mixtures of expansive clay and crushed granite For larger hydraulic gradients, they observe a linear relation between flow and hydraulic gradient.

The variation of hydraulic conductivity with dry density is well defined (dry or saturated clay), and its variation with water content (or suction) is conceptually understood and can be approximated by equations derived from modelling of experimental data. Temperature affects slightly the hydraulic conductivity (kaolinite and bentonite [2-113], [2-107]]; saponite and montmorillonite [2-118]).

The influence of salinity on permeability is different depending on the type of bentonite and its density and it is not completely explained (FEBEX bentonite, MX-80 bentonite), while the effect on the unsaturated permeability of less expansive granite/bentonite mixtures is more significant. Probably, the hydraulic gradient and the existence of a water vapour phase have an effect on permeability but it is currently not known.

More reading of the relation between effective porosity and permeability in [2-115], and on hydrated clay in confined conditions in [2-116], [2-112]. Information on the method generally used to determine permeability to water in the unsaturated state of highly expansive materials in ([2-98], [2-101], [2-94]).

With respect to the retention capacity, the confinement state of the bentonite is the key factor (<u>unconfined samples</u> and <u>in confined samples</u>) and consequently its dry density ([2-122], [2-105], [2-115], [2-118]). The effect of temperature has started to be studied, but the experimental data are scarce [2-96]. The influence of salinity on the retention capacity is practically unknown. The results for a crushed granite / Na

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

21/106

Dissemination level: PU

bentonite mixture (70/30 wt %) show that the influence of salinity on hydraulic parameters is more important than that of temperature [2-89].

The investigated reactions not only caused mineralogical changes but also considerable changes of the water uptake capacity. The MX-80 montmorillonites in salt solutions lost about half of their water uptake capacity compared with pure water. The reduction was found to be dependent on the reaction time and temperature. Smectites in salt solutions with cement lost their water uptake capacity almost completely. They revealed a water uptake behaviour similar to that of non swelling materials [3-185].

2.3.3 Concrete

The design for underground disposal of nuclear wastes in geological formations includes the use of concrete and bentonite as engineered barriers, seals or supporting structures. Bentonite and concrete will be directly in contact with each other, leading to chemical interaction between them. Furthermore, cementitious materials can potentially degrade because of their instability when they are in contact with water from the host rock. This gradual degradation creates a high-pH plume which can affect the swelling and transport properties of the bentonite, as well as the properties of the adjacent host rock and groundwater flowing through. An overview of the alteration processes is given in [3-163], [3-193], [3-218], [3-220], [3-223], [3-187], [3-195].

For safety purposes, it is necessary to identify the magnitude of the water-rock reaction processes and physical changes in the host rock (granite, clay or salt), bentonite and in the concrete.

Physico-chemical characteristics and pore water

The cement widely used in the investigations related to the repositories to produce concrete is Portland cement, which is a combination of 60-70% CaO, 17-25% SiO₂, 3-8% Al₂O₃, 0.5-6% Fe₂O₃, 0.1-4% MgO, 1-3% SO₃, 0.5-1.3% Na₂O+K₂O ([2-132]).

The addition of water to cement causes exothermic reactions and leads to the formation of a plastic paste that sets and eventually hardens to a hard, rock-like mass ([2-167], [2-151]). Hardening is associated with the formation of a cohesive mass of hydration products: the major hydration product is calcium-silica hydrated gel (CSH-gel), ([2-147], [2-148]). This gel occupies approximately 60% of the total volume of the hydration products and acts as a binding agent in the hardened cement, 20-25% of the total volume is occupied by portlandite (Ca(OH)₂), 10-20% by ettringite (AF_t), monosulphate (AF_m) and ferric phases, 10-20% by pore solution and 0-5% by minor components (NaOH, KOH, Mg(OH)₂), which gradually replace the water between the cement grains and finally bind the composite cement mass together. Berner ([2-124], 1992) and Bourbon ([2-126], 2003) present a thermodynamic description of the main constituents of hydrated Portland cement, such as CSH-gels.

The development of the microstructure and mechanism of hydration of cement has been studied extensively. The processes are complex but in general it is accepted that in contact with water, the cement grains are rapidly surrounded by thin layers of colloidal gelatinous hydrates which are tipically 0.1-1.0 μ m thick. After several hours, CSH gel

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

22/106

Dissemination level: PU

grows in a variety of forms (fibrils, sheets, hollow tubes) ([2-131], [2-134]). The basic structure of the gel is, however, composed of an agglomeration of colloidal particles of ≈ 50 nm in size which is in agreement with the high specific surface area and microporosity of cement pastes ([2-127]).

In a cement paste as described above, under normal conditions, the hydration reaction does not usually go to completion, leaving residual grains of unreacted cement embedded in a matrix of CSH gel ([2-135]). The physical characteristics of the developed hardened cement product, such as permeability and strength, partially depend on the degree of hydration, temperatures reached during the hydration reactions, and the degree to which the CSH phases efficiently fill the space. These factors will also affect the chemical stability of the hardened product and the permeability of the hardened material, which is a function of the macro/microporosity of the material and the degree of macrocracking/thermal strain induced during curing.

Lastly, the concrete consists of a mixture of the above described paste formed during the hydration of Portland cement and crushed rock aggregates¹. The water/cement ratio is of paramount importance to the final set strength of the concrete, and the cement/aggregate ratio and aggregate size distribution are also important. The resultant solid phases are in equilibrium with a pore water solution.

For the NF-PRO studies, a sulphate resistant Portland cement, as described in subchapter 2.2.3., has been selected.

Distribution of porosity

Concrete has a 20-50% porosity, with sizes significantly smaller than soil materials ([2-143]).

It has been generally accepted that the water/cement ratio determines the initial porosity. The hydration process results in the formation of two classes of pores: gel and capillary. Gel pores are characteristic of the main hydration product (CSH) and constitute 28% of the total gel volume. Their sizes vary from 0.5 to 4 nm, being only an order of magnitude greater than the size of the water molecules, to which they have a great affinity. The capillary pores range in size from 10 nm to 10 μ m and are associated with most of the mechanical and durability aspects in concrete ([2-140]). The two pore systems are interrelated, not only in the fact that both are a function of the hydration process, but also on their interdependence of the moisture content. ([2-167]).

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

Dissemination level: PU

¹ To ensure strength and durability of the finished product, concrete aggregates, found in natural sand and gravel deposits from igneous, sedimentary and metamorphic rocks, must generally satisfy a number of specifications relating to: mechanical performance (resistance to fragmentation, abrasion and polishing), durability (resistance to environmental conditions, particularly freezing/thawing cycles), chemical stability (resistance to any deleterious reaction, e.g. dissolution, sulfatation), alkali-aggregate reactivity (with the highly basic and alkaline concrete pore solution), harmful substances (soft and friable particles, organic matter, low density matter), particle shape and surface texture (sphericity and angularity, toughness and alteration), particle size distribution (gradation and amount of fines, % < 80 μ m), other useful (for concrete proportioning) or specified properties (for special uses) (surface moisture, water content, absorptivity, specific gravity, bulk density, and percentage of voids).

Date of issue of this report: **31 March 2005**

Based on its influence on the mechanical properties with changing moisture state, the pore system of concrete is described as active and non-active ([2-140]). The former has an effect on the mechanical properties, while the influence of non-active porosity on the mechanical properties is invariant of the moisture state. The active pore volume is controlled by the water/cement ratio, extent of hydration and moisture conditions, all of which affect the total porosity and pore size distribution during the life of the cementitious matrix. Non-active porosity is the volume of entrained (1-50 μ m) or entrapped air (1000-3000 μ m) introduced at the time of mixing, and remains constant throughout the life of the cementitious matrix. Active porosity or capillary porosity can be described as long continuous channels as compared to the circular or nearly circular shape and discontinuous nature of non-active pores.

Yaman et al. ([2-140]) mention that porosity can be kept constant with large variations in the water/cement ratio (w/c) and viceversa (<u>Table 24</u>). For example, the use of low w/c ratio will maximize density and consequently, minimize porosity, and favour autogeneous sealing. Therefore, the porosity properties of the concrete are related to the density, homogeneity and distribution of the cement paste, which in turn may be due to aggregate properties and mixing procedures.

Diffusion coefficient

One of the critical properties controlling the service life of concrete structures is the resistance that concrete provides to the diffusion ingress of deleterious species such as chloride and sulphate ions ([2-128]).

Tang and Nilsson ([2-139], 1992) do provide a set of measured chloride diffusion coefficients for concretes determined with w/c ratios of 0.32 and 0.7 at several different curing ages and with different volumes of aggregates. The diffusivities vary from $4.5 \cdot 10^{-11}$ to $1.74 \cdot 10^{-12}$ m²/s. Bentz et al. ([2-125], 1998) predicted chloride diffusivity values using a multi-scale microstructural model. The diffusivities vary within two orders of magnitude, from $2.1 \cdot 10^{-13}$ to $8.18 \cdot 10^{-11}$ m²/s. For simulated seawater tidal condition, a chloride diffusion coefficient was obtained using open-circuit potential measurements, ranging from $6.4 \cdot 10^{-8}$ to $1.24 \cdot 10^{-7}$ cm²/s ([2-129]).

Johnston and Wilmot ([2-133], 1992) measured effective diffusive coefficient for tritiated water and ³⁶Cl in sulphate resistant Portland cement. The measured effective diffusive coefficient varied from $1.12 \cdot 10^{-11}$ to $4.81 \cdot 10^{-12}$ m²/s for tritium and from $7.46 \cdot 10^{-12}$ to $1.41 \cdot 10^{-12}$ m²/s for ³⁶Cl. The same authors calculated the effective diffusive coefficient for ¹³⁷Cs and ⁸⁵Sr, which vary from $1.1 \cdot 10^{-12}$ to $2.6 \cdot 10^{-13}$ m²/s for ¹³⁷Cs and from $4.0 \cdot 10^{-13}$ to $1.7 \cdot 10^{-13}$ m²/s for ⁸⁵Sr.

Diffusion in cement is far from being well understood. It seems that the chemistry of the radionuclides in the cement is the key issue for understanding their migration in cement or concret.

Other alternative method that provides important information was studied by Jakob et al. ([2-180], 1999) and Tits et al ([2-181], 2003). The former measured effective diffusion coefficients for ${}^{36}\text{Cl}^-$, ${}^{125}\Gamma$, ${}^{134}\text{Cs}^+$ and ${}^{63}\text{Ni}^{2+}$ in sulphate resistant Portland cement at a w/c ratio of 1.3.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

24/106

Dissemination level: PU

Tits et al. (2003) measured the diffusion of HTO and $^{22}Na^+$ in sulphate resistant Portland cement at a w/c ratio of 1.3 using a through- and an out-diffusion method. The measured effective diffusion coefficient varied from $2.7 \cdot 10^{-11}$ to $3.0 \cdot 10^{-11}$ m²/s for HTO and $1.0 \cdot 10^{-11}$ to $1.6 \cdot 10^{-11}$ m²/s for ²²Na⁺.

Water adsorption by concrete

The structure of concrete and the chemical conditions of the cement paste will change over time. In the young concrete, the paste is not in chemical equilibrium. CSH precipitate and grow on the surface of the clinker grain, while others like calcium hydroxide and ettringite can precipitate in the water phase.

The first step of the hydration reaction is the dissolution of sulphate and alkali constituents, together with protonolysis of the very reactive C_3A . This will form ettringites (Aft). Later, when the sulphates are used up, the Aft will transform into monosulphates (Afm) that contain relatively less sulphate. Also, simultaneously the major calcium silicate minerals of the cement starts to react. Hydroxyl and silicate ions are generated, and the simultaneously liberated Ca-ions will precipitate the silicate ions as CSH at the surface. The first stage product will act as a barrier, which slows down the migration of water to the clinker surface and the release of calcium and hydroxyl ions to the pore water. After a couple of hours, this first product seems to undergo changes that makes it more permeable and the major phase of hydration can start. The composition of the pore fluid follows a reverse picture with high Ca and sulphate contents to start with but low when portlandite and ettringite start to precipitate. The different types of early formed phases and compounds will reequilibrate slowly, and it will take some time before a proper equilibrium is reached.

The later stages of hydration are also complex and there are several models to explain the phenomena observed in the cement paste ([2-134], [2-168]). As the hydration is a fast process, the system is not in equilibrium. Therefore, one can assume that it will change over time, to lower its energy and reach a more proper equilibrium. The system will thus change chemistry and texture, which in turn will change the porosity and leaching conditions. This must be taken into account when long-time performance is considered.

During leaching, the concrete will be constantly in contact with an excess of water for a very long time. The hydration will slow down with time but, given the long-term perspective of the leaching, prolonged hydration and re-equilibration will become important. Theoretically, with a w/c ratio of around 0.4 or lower, all the water will be consumed and no capillary space will remain. In this case the gel porosity will dominate and will influence the leaching [2-167].

The diffusion in cementitious materials mainly occurs in the connected porosity of the cement paste. The connected porosity, in turn, depends both on the structure and the unevenness of the cement paste. A critical element for the diffusion is the interfacial zone between the aggregates and the cement paste, which is more porous and contains more calcium hydroxide and ettringite than the rest of the cement paste.

Hygroscopic water uptake in cemented waste containing various amounts of salts has been demonstrated experimentally [2-160]. At humidities below 80%, the infiltrating

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

25/106

Dissemination level: PU

solution is accommodated inside the available pore space. However, at humidities above 95%, the pore water solution is leached from the cemented samples. The process is relatively slow. However, in the case of concrete, the transport (by a condensation-evaporation mechanism) of water vapour through the pore system takes place relatively easily.

Even at low humidities, some capillary condensation of water occurs in cement pores and of course, an aqueous phase is always an important constituent of the cement systems. The pore structure of a well mature paste extends over a very wide range of pore sizes. The diffusion and permeability properties are dominated by the larger pores, whereas sorption is dominated by the smaller pores and chemical surface potential of the hydrates.

Pore water chemistry

The chemistry of the pore solution is of prime importance to understand the mobility of trace element and migration processes in cement. Ionic strength, pH, Eh and the ion composition are important parameters of the chemistry of the pore solution in cements.

The most important parameter to study in the cement pore water is the hydroxyl ion concentration, from a safety assessment point of view in a repository. Cementitious materials are fundamentally unstable in water and their properties will change with time. Moreover, the degradation reaction will contaminate the groundwater, which must be taken into account with respect to the safety system as a whole. When the cement paste is formed, it is in equilibrium with a pore solution with a pH of 13 to 14. Due to leaching, the pore solution of concrete equilibrates with the surrounding water of pH around 6-8. This will result in a change of chemistry of the pore solution, which in turn leads to chemical changes and dissolution of the cement paste.

If water can flow through the concrete, the pore water will be continuously renewed and the leaching will be fast. Moreover, the flowing water will dissolve components, which, in turn, will increase the porosity and the degree of penetration. This, however, requires a water pressure or some other force to drive the water through the concrete. When the concrete is saturated, no water will penetrate the concrete and dissolution will then be controlled by diffusion through the surface of the concrete. The driving force for diffusion controlled leaching will be the difference of concentrations between the pore solution and the external water ([2-167]).

Due to the slow hydration process of cementitious material, there are problems in quantifying the chemical composition of cement pore water with predictive equilibria models. Indeed, the reactions and equilibria in cement are complicated and not well defined. Firstly, many of the hydrated reaction products are complex solid solutions, not pure mineral phases; and secondly, a cement/water system is always in a transient state. Many different solid phases are formed during the hydration of cement and these phases are changing with time. The kinetics of the mineral dissolution/precipitation reaction does not determine this transient state because both the original anhydrous material and the hydrated alteration products are very reactive in water even at low temperatures. Rather, the transient state is determined by the slow diffusion of elements to the pore water from unreacted cores of the original minerals of the cement and by

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

26/106

Dissemination level: PU

their hydrated alteration layers. Consequently, the solution/mineral equilibrium is closely attained soon after the contact of water with cementitious material, even though the composition of the solution and solid phases may be dynamically evolving. Some equilibrium models have been applied to obtain the composition of the pore water in cement/water systems ([2-154] and [2-156]).

Within 12 months, 95-98% of a typical modern Portland cement will have hydrated at ~15-25°C, assuming that the moisture content of the system is preserved. This may be taken as the reference state and almost no further changes occur at least for the next 100-200 years. After 12 months, a typical hydrated Portland cement comprises an aqueous phase, which is largely confined to filling pores <1 μ m in radius and a paste matrix, which is itself heterogeneous. The solid phase contains crystalline phases (as ettringite, Monosulphate, hydrogarnet, Portlandite), and an amorphous or a gel-like phase designated as C-S-H because it contains Ca, Si and water. This gel constitutes the principal binding phase. The aqueous phase concentrates much of the alkali present with OH⁻ as the counter ion. Hence the pH is high (normally >12.5). [2-153].

The pore fluids are in quasi-equilibrium with the solid hydrated phases of the matrix. The Ca solubility is principally controlled by $Ca(OH)_2$. Sulphate solubility is limited by ettringite. The Mg contents are controlled by $Mg(OH)_2$ and Al solubility by C_3AH_6 . Si concentrations are determined by the solubility of alkali-containing C-S-H gels.

The redox potential of Portland cement lies in the range +0 to +100 mV, but this value depends on the type of cement. Slag cements give a redox potential of -305 mV, due to the presence of reduced S species [2-153].

Extraction techniques of pore solution

The pore water of the cement pastes is usually obtained by the squeezing technique [2-166]. High pressures are applied to cylindrical samples, up to 483Mpa, to obtain 4 to 10mL of pore solution, which are chemically analyzed. Some typical pore water solutions as a function of the cement type are shown in <u>Table 25</u>

Thermo-Hydraulic-Mechanical Characteristics of concrete

Although cement has several unfavorable characteristics as a solidifying material, i.e. low volume reduction and relatively high leachability, it possesses many practical advantages: good mechanical characteristics and thermal stability.

International programs (e.g. ECOCLAY) are focused, among other studies, on the development of concrete mixtures with certain requirements related to chemical, strength, durability and plastic properties, and on the performance of tests on thermal, mechanical and creep properties to characterize the candidate concrete mixture. These properties are inherently controlled by the original formulations of concrete and its microscopic structure. A short review of the characteristics of concrete and their relation with thermo-hydraulic-mechanical properties is made in [2-166]. Reliable conceptual models to predict the combined hydro-mechanical behaviour of concrete seals with compacted bentonites however are not yet available [3-183].

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

27/106

Dissemination level: PU

Some laboratory studies have been made to assess the factors affecting the long-term properties of concrete ([2-136]).

The pore structure of hydrated cement systems influences significantly the physicomechanical and chemical behaviour of concrete. Several experimental techniques have been employed to evaluate the microstructure of the cement paste. The relationship between pore structure and strength/permeability is broadly included in Ramachandran and Beaudoin ([2-137], 2001).

Thermal properties

Thermal behaviour can have an impact on strength and mechanical properties.

During heating, concrete is subjected to many changes in its inner structure, mainly the porous structure, which result in strong alterations of the properties of the material. This degradation causes both mechanical damage and thermally induced deterioration of the material. This kind of damage has been called thermo-chemical damage ([2-130]).

Chemical degradation of the cement paste (eg. Dehydration) results in the introduction of free liquid water in concrete pores and modifies the microstructure geometry and transport properties. During the dehydration process, considerable amounts of heat are consumed. The sorption isotherms of concrete are strongly temperature dependent, influencing the hydrothermal behaviour of concrete. Permeability has a sharp increase when dehydration starts. Moreover, the physical properties of fluids saturating the medium (e.g. liquid water and air) are also strongly temperature dependent. As far as the solid phase is concerned, isotropic damage effects, together with thermo-chemical damage, are taken into account.

Mechanical properties

Strength and microstructure development of cementitious materials are crucial factors that control the various parameters defining the durability of concrete. The main mechanical properties of concrete are concerned with the effects of the constituent materials: water, cement and aggregates.

In general, the mechanical characteristics of concrete are based on:

Micropore structure of concrete expressed as pore size distribution

There is experimental evidence on the influence of concrete porosity (active and nonactive pores) and the amount of moisture within the permeable pore structure on the mechanical properties under saturated and dry conditions ([2-138]). In Yaman et al ([2-140], 2002) relationships between <u>porosity</u> and key mechanical indexes of concrete such as <u>strength</u> and <u>modulus of elasticity</u> are shown.

Degree of hydration of cement in concrete

Probably the most important property of concrete is the water/cement ratio. The concrete hardens by uptake of water through a process called hydration, described in the section on water absorption by concrete. A certain proportion of water (water/cement

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

28/106

Dissemination level: PU

ratio about 0.25 by weight) is required to achieve complete hydration. Additional water is necessary to make the concrete workable during placement, but too much additional water will weaken the concrete resulting in shrinkage when the moisture dries. The properties above (strength and durability) decrease with increasing water content. Lower water-cement ratios generally produce stronger and more durable concrete.

Pore water content

There is a strong dependence of shrinkage and swelling of cementitious systems with the presence of <u>water in the pores</u>. It should be pointed out that once the interlayer water is removed from the in-between gel layers, the gel layers collapse together, which results in the opening up of the capillary porosity. This collapse and opening of the pore structure have been demonstrated by permeability tests showing variations of orders of magnitude in flow through capillary channels depending on the state of the gel [2-140].

Mechanical properties are also affected by the <u>moisture content</u> of the pore structure. Dry concrete can be as much as 10-15% stronger than in a saturated state [2-140]. The decrease or increase of strength is due to the shrinkage and swelling of the microstructure as the water is removed or added from the pore structure. The strength decrease with increasing moisture content is related to the swelling pressure as given by the Kelvin equation:

$$\Delta P = A \ln(P/Ps)$$

where,A=constant; P=equilibrium water pressure; Ps=saturation water pressure

The moisture movement in and out of the cementitious system results in the redistribution of the gel/capillary porosity (active porosity), with the removal of the interlayer water. Consequently, a collapse of the gel layers and opening of the capillary porosity occur, while swelling of the gel upon the re-entry of water results in volume decrease of the large capillary pores. The shape factor of the pores is likely to change between dry and saturated states.

In contrast to the active porosity, entrained and entrapped air (non-active porosity) is not affected by the continuous hydration and presence or absence of water. Yaman et al. ([2-140], 2002) conclude that not all the pores are created equal. Even though the pore size of entrained air is ten times that of the largest capillary, capillary porosity has a much greater effect on the overall properties. Moreover, the changes in the capillary porosity under various moisture conditions are responsible for the changes in the mechanical properties. The influence of air pores on mechanical properties is invariant with moisture content.

Hydraulic properties

Permeability

Concrete is a very low permeable material ($K < 10^{-12}$ m/s, [2-143]), but mature cement-based materials have permeability of $K < 10^{-13}$ or lower if supplementary cementing materials are added ([2-142]). The maximum continuous pore radius is related to permeability, since it is representative of the size of pores in which water

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

29/106

Dissemination level: PU

flows. Christiansen et al. ([2-142], 1996) measured and calculated the <u>permeability as a function of time</u>.

The presence of capillary pores and air voids influences the permeability of concrete to a large extent. Various factors, such as water to cementitious material ratio, degree of hydration, air content, consolidation, mineral admixtures, aggregates, reaction between aggregates and cement paste, pozzolanic admixture, etc. affect the concrete porosity. Previous investigations relating concrete porosity to permeability, and other durabilityrelated properties are intensively investigated by several authors.

The permeability of a cement paste or concrete can be decreased by three primary methods ([2-142]): by decreasing the initial water/cement ratio of the mix, by increasing the degree of hydration, and by adding pozzolanic material, such as fly-ash, blastfurnace slag or silica fume.

2.3.4. EBS materials in salt formations

Crushed salt

Stress and creep-induced room closure (convergence) ultimately leads to consolidation of crushed-salt backfill and to the complete encapsulation of waste containers. The backfill material in drifts will consist of crushed salt as received by drift excavation. It is a coarsely grained material with a maximum grain size of 60 mm. The initial porosity of crushed salt backfill will be about 35 %. Due to the creep of the surrounding salt host rock, the initial permeability of the crushed salt backfill will be reduced continuously until it finally reaches permeability values of the undisturbed rock salt ($<10^{-21}$ m²). From a mineralogical and geochemical point of view, crushed salt is an ideal barrier material as it is in perfect equilibrium with the host formation and potentially occurring brines. The geochemical [3-180], [3-181], [3-182], [3-201] and thermo mechanical behaviour is well understood and can be predicted with accuracy [3-162], [3-205], [3-172], [3-200], [3-173], [3-208], [3-209], [3-210], [3-230].

Salt mixtures

Crushed salt minimizes and stabilizes the open voids and reduces the total permeability. This material however does not act as a barrier against intruding brines. The addition of self-sealing materials (dehydrated MgCl₂ and/or KCl, NaCl) to this backfill, can render it into a reactive mixture that, upon contact with brine, increases its volume, thus leading to a substantial reduction of the pore space. The water consumption due to the formation of new hydrated minerals leads to an over-saturation of the remaining solution and consequently to the precipitation of new solid phases. A tight seal free of pore water that prevents the intrusion of further <u>brine</u> is the result of the reaction. Laboratory experiments have been performed to study the reactions of different self-sealing mixtures. The investigated reactions were most effective. They led to the precipitation of large amounts of hydrated minerals. For certain initial compositions the volume increase of the solid phases upon completion of the reaction was almost two-fold. The reaction backfill-brine set in immediately after the first brine intrusion and resulted in a sharp reduction of permeability. The brine flow decreased continuously

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

30/106

Dissemination level: PU

and eventually ceased completely. After 12 days a maximum crystallisation pressure of 10 MPa was reached. The permeability had decreased to $<10^{-20}$ m². The Young'smodule determined on cylindrical samples of the reacted material was in the range of 1 to 2.2 GPa. In further experiments the behaviour of these mixtures were investigated on a larger scale. Tubes with a diameter of 20- and 40-cm and 200- and 400-cm length were filled loosely with mixtures of dehydrated magnesium and/or potassium chloride and sodium chloride and than flooded with brine. Brine tight seals were obtained which resisted a brine pressure of 3 MPa. However scale effects with respect to time and backfilled length needed for the expected sealing have been observed and need further investigation. While on lab-scale the sealing started within a few days, on larger scale it takes weeks and months until a remarkable increase of the injection pressure (which indicate the reduction of the intrinsic permeability) appeared. From the experiments performed so far, it is concluded that special salt mixtures added to crushed rock salt backfill open new possibilities to prevent brine intrusion into disposal sections of repositories in salt formations. Detailed description of these materials may be found in [3-211], [3-213], [3-214].

Salt cements

Salt cements are used as backfill and sealing materials in low and intermediate level radioactive waste repositories as well as in repositories for hazardous chemical wastes in former potash mines. These materials consist mainly of cement, crushed salt, fly ash and water. The additive crushed salt instead of sand is typical for salt cements, which are used only in a salt environment. In the closure concept of the repository at Morsleben, different salt cements are foreseen as backfill and sealing materials.Drifts and open voids will be filled with salt cement to prevent brine intrusion into the disposal areas. In the case of brine intrusion in the repository, the cement matrix of the cemented wastes, the seals of salt concrete and the salt concrete backfill will be affected by significant changes regarding the mineralogy, the chemical composition as well as the hydraulic and mechanical properties. The changes are due to dissolution and precipitation reactions, inducing variations in the solution composition and in the pH of the brines.

Mechanisms of salt cement degradation in salt formations

In contact with NaCl rich or Mg-rich solutions, the following degradation processes have to be taken into account. During **acid attack**, the CSH phases, which are responsible for the mechanical properties of concrete, will be dissolved by the slightly acid salt solutions. $Ca(OH)_2$ will be dissolved as well as CSH, [3-157], [3-178], [3-195], [3-179]. The reaction of salt solutions with high chloride contents with cementitious materials (**chloride attack**) lead to the formation of Friedel's salt (C₃A.CaCl₂.10H₂O). In case of salt cements or cements hydrated with a saturated NaCl solution, certain quantities of Friedel' salt have already been precipitated during the curing process [3-198]. The degradation of the cement structure in the **magnesium sulphate attack** is based on four single processes: precipitation of brucite on the cements surface [3-165], [3-166], sulphate diffusion into the cement body and conversion of calciumhydroxide in calciumsulphate (gypsum), conversion of calcium aluminates C_3A in monosulphates into ettringite [3-197] and dissolution of the CSH

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

31/106
network into MSH gel. More information on the degradation of cementitious materials in contact with $MgSO_4$ -rich solutions can be found in [3-163], [3-221].

In LLW repositories significant amounts of CO_2 can possibly arise from chemical or biological conversion of organic matter. In contact with CO_2 , the CSH phases will be degraded due to the drop of pH (CO_2 corrosion) [3-221].

3. NEAR-FIELD GEOCHEMICAL PROCESSES DURING THE HYDRATION/SATURATION STATES

The long term geochemical stability and the understanding of the chemical and thermomechanical interactions of the EBS and the rock is a precondition for safety assessments for deep geological repositories in any host formation.

This chapter tries to explain how the geochemical processes take place in a somewhat chronological order. In repositories in clays and salts, the first component of the EBS that the groundwater will be in contact with is the concrete plug. The concrete-groundwater interaction will generate modifications both in the concrete and in the groundwater (section 3.1). As the groundwater leaves the concrete and starts moving through the bentonite, a series of geochemical processes will take place in the bentonite (section 3.2). In the case of a repository in a granitic formation, the groundwater will interact directly with the bentonite (section 3.3.). Finally, the groundwater reaches the canister and given time, the container will undergo corrosion (section 3.4). After canister failure, the transport of radionuclides by diffusion in the clay barrier begins (section 3.5).

3.1. Hydration/saturation of the concrete support with saline and high saline water (clay and salt formation) or fresh water (granitic formation) under thermal gradient

During the hydration stage, leaching will be a dominant process in the system, and the pore solution of concrete equilibrates with the surrounding saline or fresh water. The result is the change of the chemistry of the pore solution with subsequent dissolution/precipitation of different mineral phases.

Different Projects such as ECOCLAY I and II have dealt with these subjects, mainly on how the concrete changes both its chemical and physical properties over time and how it interacts with groundwater. This project comprised batch leaching tests with bentonite mixed with four synthetic solutions of cement pore water and determination of chemical and microstructural changes at the cement/bentonite interface.

In the Underground Reasearch Laboratory at Manitoba, Canada, geochemical monitoring was made after injecting a sulphate resistant concrete in fractures in a granitic rock.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

32/106

Dissemination level: PU

3.1.1. Reaction of the solid phases of the concrete with saline and fresh water

As already mentioned., it is important to consider that the saturation of concrete with groundwater produces a hyperalkaline pore fluid with a pH in the range of 10-13.5 due to solubilization of sodium and potassium hydroxides ([3-8]). The resultant fluids react with the bentonite, likely affecting its physical and chemical properties. This fluid could also enter the host formation, and react with it. The main reactions described in the literature consist of ion exchange and mineral dissolution/precipitation, which affect the sorption and transport properties of the whole system.

In 1997, an experiment (Cement Water experiment - CW) started in Mt Terri with the objective of the detection of long-term interaction (1-3 years) of high-pH water (cement water) with Opalinus Clay under in situ conditions relevant for a repository scenario.

The initial results ([3-7]) showed that buffering to pH 10 took place after 6 months, but that subsequent buffering is less efficient. Mass loss to the rock is about 2g/day, and no significant decrease of the mass transfer rate was observed.

Baker et al. ([3-3], 2002) stated that groundwater that has reacted with cement within a cementitious repository will subsequently react with the surrounding rock and groundwater to form an 'alkaline disturbed zone' (ADZ). Hence, the main reactions that are expected to occur within the ADZ in a repository built in a silicate-rich host rock are dissolution of rock-forming silicates, and precipitation of hydrated calcium silicates (CSH phases), aluminium-substituted CSH phases, and possibly zeolites. It is likely that the hydrogeological and chemical retardation properties of the ADZ will be different to those of the unaltered rock. In this report, an overview is provided of the research work performed by Nirex Safety Assessment Research Programme (NSARP) on the ADZ. The results of this research are used to describe the evolution of the ADZ. Residual uncertainties and possible ways of resolving them are discussed.

3.1.2. Leachability of concrete and/or neoformation of solid phases

The rate of dissolution in leaching varies as a function of the phase chemistry and this dissolution exposes or enlarges pores; thus, the leaching behaviour must be related to the pore structure and to the composition of the pore solution.

The leachability of concrete depends on different flow regimes in the system and/or on variations in the composition of the concrete pore solution and the external water (saline or fresh water). Hence, different cases of leaching have been described in the literature ([3-4] and [3-5]). For example, after the repository is closed and the groundwater level restored, the water pressure will be adjusted and the leaching will be controlled by diffusion. Then, different cement hydrate phases will dissolve or change their composition according to the pH and contents of calcium in the local pore water.

Leaching is basically an acid/base reaction where the basic pore solution is neutralised by the more acid water. The hydroxide ions and specially the protons can move more easily than all the other ions. The major component of cement paste is calcium and loss of Ca is the main leaching process. As calcium ions move more slowly than protons, the former ions will govern the dissolution and the alteration rate. As a consequence, the pH of the groundwater is of minor importance as long as it does not dissolve silica or other

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

33/106

Dissemination level: PU

restite products. Decalcification leaves behind a shell of silica and metalhydroxides. This will result in a zonal pattern in the concrete with progressively more Ca-depleted paste towards the alteration front.

The outward movement of hydroxide anions will be counter-balanced by an inward movement of anions from the external water. These anions may be chloride, carbonate and sulphate. The carbonate or bicarbonate ions will precipitate as calcite, while the sulphate ions will react with aluminates and form ettringite. The chloride ions can sorb on the surfaces or form Friedel's salt, but most of it will remain in the pore solution and penetrate deeper into the concrete.

More detailed aspects of these processes and a <u>scheme</u> are presented in [3-5] (pags 35-36).

Calcium hydroxide (portlandite) is the most soluble compound in concrete, and controls the solubility of CSH. This will remain stable as long as the pore solution is controlled by the buffering effect of calcium hydroxide.

The leaching rate is highly dependent on the stability of restite products and precipitates at the surface.

Leaching experiments with salt cements

In salt formations, NaCl-rich and a $MgCl_2/MgSO_4$ -rich.type solutions may occur. At GRS, leaching cascade experiments (Batch experiments in several steps) were carried out with these typical fluids using a cemented fly ash, salt cement and an oxychloride cement [3-198].

The experimental and calculated development of the elements in solution for the leaching process of <u>cemented coal fly ash</u> (SFA) has been performed, resulting in a strong decrease of Mg^{2+} in solution due to the precipitation of brucite (Mg(OH)₂).

In relation to the dissolution of salt cement, the reaction with the Mg-rich IP21 solution leads to dramatic changes of the cement mineralogy and the solution chemistry, whereas the reaction of the same salt cement in contact with a NaCl-rich solution showed only slight changes in the solution chemistry. The results show that salt cement have a much higher resistivity against NaCl-rich solutions than against Mg-rich salt solutions. On the other hand, oxychloride cement is dissolved much faster in NaCl-rich solutions than in Mg-rich solutions. Mg-oxychloride phases, which are responsible for the mechanical strength of this type of cement, are easily dissolved in NaCl-solutions, as indicated by the sharp increase of Mg in solution during the experiments. A mineral phase transformation was observed into a thermodynamically more stable Mg-oxychloride phase.

The facts mentioned above were further confirmed by the experiments performed by the technical University of Freiberg using a blast furnace cement with 80% of slag and NaCl saturated solution with a water/cement ratio of 0.4. The contact with NaCl/CaSO₄ saturated solution, nevertheless, did not lead to any visible alteration. Under the same conditions, but in contact with Mg-rich solution, an alteration depth of 1.5 mm within 70 days could be determined.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

34/106

Dissemination level: PU

In the Asse salt mine, 200 liter barrels of cemented waste were leached with a Mg-rich IP21 solution over a period of more than 10 years [3-192]. The concentrations observed in the leaching solution after 10 years in the Asse experiment correspond to the concentrations found in the leaching experiments at laboratory scale. By the increase of Ca in solution, the time dependant degree of degradation of the material could be approximated for in-situ conditions.

Experiments at the WIPP Site were performed using a Class H Oilwell cement. The cement is mixed with distilled water and NaCl saturated solution ([3-203], [3-202]. Evidences of alteration (Gypsum, Friedel's salt, halite Mg-oxychloride, brucite) were found up to 45 mm in depth.. After 90 days, calcium had disappeared from the samples, resulting in a drop of the mechanical strength.

In the course of the WIPP SSSPT program ("Small-Scale seal performance tests"), 12 drill holes (4 m deep) were filled with special salt cement BCT 1 F ("saltwater grout", drilling diameter 2 inches) and Escs ("expansionist salt-saturated concrete", drilling diameter 2 inches). The investigations aimed at the long-term behaviour of cement based materials under disposal conditions. The experiments lasted for 8 years. Both on the surface and in cracks brucite and Mg-oxychloride were found. Furthermore, dolomite, calcite, quartz, ettringite, Friedel's salt, halite, gypsum and anhydrite could be identified [3-228].

At the Institut für Nukleare Entsorgung (INE) in Karlsruhe, Portland and blast furnace cements (CEM III, HOZ) served as cement matrix with and without addition of bentonite at 40 to 90 C [3-225], [3-222], [3-226], [3-227]. Micro probe examinations of the concentration profiles of several elements were measured in the cross-section area of the sample. The depth of the alteration front was derived from the chloride penetration depth. The penetration depth after 48 weeks at 40°C and at a pressure of 130 bar was approx. 9 mm.

3.2. Hydration/saturation of the clay barrier through the concrete support under thermal gradient (clay and salt formation)

The geochemical processes in relation to the degradation of cements, and in particular to the interaction of an alkaline plume with geological materials are highly complex. The work within the ECOCLAY II project simulates the results of experiments on such systems and gives confidence in current capabilities to identify the main processes contributing to the behaviour of the system and to predict the long-term behaviour of these systems.

3.2.1. Geochemical processes due to concrete/bentonite interaction

Formation of a hyperalkaline plume

Once the concrete plug is saturated, a hyperalkaline fluid starts moving towards the bentonite.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

Dissemination level: PU

Date of issue of this report: 31 March 2005

The evolution of the microstructure of cementitious materials in contact with groundwaters will vary depending on the type of cement used to produce concrete. CSH gel, together with Ca(OH)₂ and alkalies, dominate the observed chemical properties of the aqueous phase in Portland cement pastes, and account for its high pH and calcium solubility. The leaching of alkalies (NaOH and KOH) present in fresh cement originates a highly alkaline water with a hydroxide concentration of 0.3-0.4 mol/L which corresponds to a pH about 13-13.5. However, this leaching process is fast and after all the alkalis have been leached and transported away, the hydroxide concentration drops to approximately 0.03-0.04 mol/L (pH ~ 12-12.5) determined by the solubility of portlandite (Ca(OH)₂) ([2-155]). Finally, the pore water composition is governed by calcium silicate hydrate (CSH) phases (pH 9-10). This gradual degradation of cementitious materials can create a high pH plume in the adjacent groundwater, and thus, cause severe physicochemical transformations that can modify the confinement properties of the disposal components [2-161]. Consequently, in order to determine the water chemistry, it is, therefore, important to study the time scale for which portlandite is the key mineral controlling the system. Pore water evolution has been studied experimentally and/or by modelling by several authors ([2-156], [2-157], [2-158], [2-159]).

Reactions of montmorillonite-bearing clays with hyperalkaline fluids have been investigated from a very wide perspective, including radioactive waste disposal, cement aggregate reactions, leaching and modelling ([2-169], [2-170], [3-29]; [3-33]; [3-21]; [3-22]; [3-50]; [3-1]; [3-10]; [3-11]; [3-49]; [3-31]). Interactions of clays with hyperalkaline fluids have usually been investigated by batch experiments at laboratory scale. All these studies have in common that they have been performed in a relative short time, initially dominated in several cases by cation exchange processes. The rise of temperature and the increase of time, solution pH and the solution to solid ratio tend to favour mineral dissolution-precipitation reactions that become relatively more important in controlling mass transfer ([2-166], [2-167], [2-174], [2-176], [2-177], [2-178], [2-179], [3-50]).

Reported solid products of clay-alkaline pore fluid interactions in laboratory experiments or natural systems include Ca (Al) silicate hydrate gels and minerals ([3-16]; [3-32]; [3-31]), framework silicates or zeolites ([3-18]; [3-46]; [3-41]; [3-21]; [3-22]; [3-11]; [3-31]), brucite ([3-40]), and sheet silicates such as illite or mixed-layer clays ([3-21]; [3-22]; [3-55]; [3-24]; [3-11]).

In salt formations, despite the formation of a CSH-layer (tobermorite) at the interface, the precipitation of zeolites follows irregular patterns associated with the circulation of fluids. Diffusion of Ca^{2+} from the Portland cement produced progressively Caexchange [3-177]. The interaction with host clay formation will imply that CSH-gels are washed away into the surrounding water ([3-36]), and that formation of hydroxides ([3-52]) and carbonates ([3-33], [3-52]) will take place.

The nature of the products is strongly affected by the cation content of the reactant fluid, pH, temperature and the duration of the reaction both in clay and salt formations (e.g. [3-21]; [3-22]).

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

36/106

Dissemination level: PU

3.2.2. Geochemical processes due to the influence of salt solutions

The most often described process which may reduce in the long run the swelling and sealing capacity of smectites is illitisation [3-170], [3-156]. Thus, the transformation of smectite must be influenced by the composition of the reacting fluid. From over 140 reviewed papers dealing with experimental studies only a few address the influence of high saline solutions [3-176], [3-164], [3-206], [3-169], [3-194], [3-158], [3-167], [3-159], [3-175], [3-161], [3-186]. The transition from smectites to illites is also dependent on temperature [3-189], [3-174], [3-224], [3-159], [3-170], [3-207]. However, most experimental studies were conducted at temperatures > 120 °C or even > 250 °C, which is above the temperatures expected in a high level waste repository. Many papers also stress the influence of pH on the smectite alteration process [3-174], [3-188], [3-160].

Another important factor which may influence the illitisation process is the solid-liquid ratio. A high ratio may inhibit the illitisation [3-190], [3-229]. Lippman (1974, [3-196]) showed the influence of K and Si content as well as the influence of pH on the direction of the smectite transformation path.

The objective of the GRS experiments reported in [3-186] was to investigate the mineralogical and chemical changes of bentonites (MX-80) in a saline environment under the boundary conditions of a repository in salt formations (brines with a specific chemical composition, wide range of pH, high solid:liquid ratio, high temperature).

The fraction $< 2 \,\mu$ m of the MX-80 bentonite was reacted with two high saline solutions, a NaCl and a MgCl₂ rich brine at 25°, 90° and 150 °C, at three different pH, 1, 6.5 and 13. After 580 days, montmorillonite was the predominant phase regardless of the temperature and pH of the experiments, with full ethylene-glycol expandibility to 17 Å. However significant changes could be detected by looking at parameters like morphology, crystallinity, particle height, particle surface, interlayer charge and chemistry of octahedral layers. The experimental results suggest that under repository conditions the MX-80 montmorillonites will be transformed into kaolinites and pyrophyllites rather than into illites.

The existing knowledge of the long term behaviour of bentonites in saline environments is not yet sufficient for a reliable safety assessment.

3.2.3. Modification of bentonite due to the concrete/bentonite interaction

Different short-term laboratory scale experiments (batch experiments, percolation tests) have provided data on the transformations of the bentonite by the bentonite/concrete interaction. The outstanding compilation of results from these studies include the following reactions:

- Cation exchange processes with cement pore water ions. The cation exchange reactions are favoured by rising temperature ([3-39]) and increasing time.
- Minor or none modification in the cation exchange capacity ([3-36], [3-39]).

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

37/106

Dissemination level: PU

- Specific surface decrease, as well as pore-size increase due to agglomerate formation
- o Dissolution of smectite and montmorillonite [3-177]
- Dissolution of cristobalite and increase in quartz content ([3-36]).
- Formation of Ca/Mg (aluminium) silicate hydrates (C/M(A)SH) ([3-36], [3-52] [3-45]).
- Formation of zeolites. Several authors ([3-35]; [3-54]; [3-44]; [3-54]) describe the formation of phyllipsite as the main zeolite.
- Minor formation of sheet silicates such as illite or mixed-layer clays ([3-35]; [3-24]; [3-36]; [3-12]; [3-44]).
- Minor formation of chlorite ([3-36]).

3.2.4. Modification of hydro-mechanical properties of bentonite due to the concrete/bentonite interaction

Saturation of cementitious materials with groundwater from a clay formation produces a hyperalkaline pore fluid with a pH in the range 10-13.5 ([3-9]; [3-13]). The reaction of these pore fluids with bentonite may affect its physical and chemical properties. Potential reactions include the loss of swelling capacity, and changes in porosity, mineralogical composition or sorption capacity ([3-48]).

In salt formations, the presence of high saline brines tend to reduce the swelling capacity of the bentonite and no swelling pressure will develop if the swelling capacity is reduced to an extent where the void volume is not filled by the swollen clay. For very high salt contents, the existing models are not able to predict or reproduce the experimental results. For the use of cements in radioactive waste repositories in salt formations, a release of high alkaline and saline solutions has to be taken into account due to the cement degradation in time in contact with geological water. This will induce transformations that will modify the properties of the engineered barriers.

In experiments performed by Karnland ([3-36], 1997), a large decrease in swelling pressure was recorded for compacted MX-80 bentonite samples percolated for 16 months at 40°C with artificial cement water with a high content of potassium and a pH of 13.7. Experiments with a less alkaline solution (pH =12.8) did not show such decrease.

GRS performed swelling pressure measurements of MX-80 in contact with high saline and high alkaline solutions, simulating young cement pore solutions [3-184].

The performed experiments indicate that bentonites develop swelling pressures not only in contact with water, but also in contact with high saline brines and alkaline solutions. The swelling pressures in contact with brines or cement reaction solutions, however, are considerably lower than those with pure water. The brine composition influences the resulting swelling pressure. A lower swelling pressure was somewhat expected from earlier investigations that showed that the water uptake of MX-80 bentonite in contact with cement solutions was reduced.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

38/106

Dissemination level: PU

The few results obtained so far cannot be extrapolated to other boundary conditions. GRS experimentalists think that this is true not only for their own experiments. The knowledge on swelling pressures in contact with brines is neither complete nor consistent enough for a successful modelling. Factors like dry density, microstructure, flooding regime, sample dimensions seem to have a much bigger influence on the swelling pressure than brine composition [3-177], [3-199].

3.3. Hydration/saturation of the clay barrier with fresh water (granitic formation) under thermal gradient

3.3.1. Modification of bentonite due to the granite/bentonite interaction

The information on the modifications affecting the bentonite as a consequence of the interaction between thermal and hydraulic flows comes, apart from theoretical considerations ([3-70]), from the experience gained from laboratory and *in situ* tests. The laboratory tests basically consist in subjecting blocks of compacted clay, confined in hermetically sealed and non-deformable cells, to simultaneous heating and/or hydration on opposing fronts ([3-75], [3-68], [3-70], [3-78]). Among the *in situ* tests, several of them –performed according to different disposal concepts– have been dismantled and analysed: the Buffer Mass Test (BMT, [3-73]), the Buffer Container Experiment (BCE) and the Isothermal Test (ITT) ([3-69]), the "Long term tests of buffer material" (LOT, [3-72]) and the FEBEX *in situ* test at the Grimsel Test Site ([3-70] [3-67]). However, it must be also taken into account that the results available up to now refer only to periods of thermo-hydraulic treatment smaller than five years and that the effect of radiation has not been evaluated in these *in situ* tests.

Theoretical and experimental considerations

Hydration of the EBS: The bentonite will initially have a high degree of suction, which is a characteristic that fundamentally conditions the performance of the barrier. This high initial suction favours and conditions the saturation of the blocks.

However, the low permeability of the bentonite, which is even lower when not saturated, and the decrease of the <u>intrinsic permeability</u> as saturation progresses will make the saturation process very gradual.

The hydration of the clay barrier can be influenced by the effect of the EDZ and an inhomogeneous host rock permeability as was observed in Stripa underground laboratory and at the *in situ* test at the Grimsel underground laboratory for the FEBEX Project ([3-69], [3-73], [3-70], [3-77].).

The hydraulic pressure gradient established in the disposal facility is not important until the suction of the bentonite becomes small, that is, towards the end of the process. At this moment, if a <u>hydraulic threshold</u> exists, the full saturation of the barrier could be

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

39/106

Dissemination level: PU

significantly delayed, although this aspect has not been confirmed. On the other hand, the air initially contained in the bentonite pores will become compressed as hydration advances, and the studies performed suggest that this air will be completely dissolved in the ingressing water, thus allowing for the complete saturation of the barrier ([3-73]). However, it is still unclear whether the high temperatures around the canister would hinder the full saturation of the inner part of the barrier or just delay it.

Volume changes of the EBS: During the transient phase of the disposal facility, as the material in the clay barrier becomes hydrated, expansion occurs. The swelling of the bentonite will seal <u>gaps and joints</u>, which will locally reduce the dry density and will prevent the formation of preferential pathways.

Since the overall barrier is confined, radial stresses in the barrier tend to increase. These stresses cause the internal dry parts of the barrier to compress, thus increasing their density. In this way, a density gradient is established in the system, with <u>lower densities</u> in the outermost areas affected by water, where the bentonite will have expanded, and higher in the innermost dry areas which are "pushed" by neighbouring zones. Consequently, an <u>inverse relationship</u> is established in the barrier between dry density and water content ([3-69]). These density modifications affect increasingly larger areas as hydration progresses and are enhanced by the effect of heating.

Establishment of a thermal gradient: The thermal conductivity of the bentonite increases with the water content of the clay and, consequently, during the transient stage would be higher for the external part of the buffer and lower in the desiccated area near the canister. This has been verified in samples retrieved from the <u>FEBEX *in situ* test</u>. The evaporation of the water causes desiccation and shrinkage of the bentonite, which contributes to the decrease in porosity of the blocks in the <u>internal areas</u> of the barrier. However, the <u>swelling tests</u> performed with sealing materials retrieved from <u>in situ tests</u> have shown that the swelling capacity of the clay is not irreversibly affected after thermo-hydraulic treatment.

The vapour generated spreads towards more external and colder regions of the system, where it condenses. The water that condenses in the colder areas may move once more towards the canister. In this way, the process of evaporation/condensation is repeated and small "convection cells" are established, the most evident effect of which is an increase in salinity in the hotter areas ([3-76]). This movement of vapour is, therefore, an important mechanism for the transfer of water content and heat.

Processes in the final stages: Finally, once saturation is reached in the whole barrier, there could be a certain homogeneisation of the dry density and the water content The <u>hydraulic conductivity</u> measurements performed in <u>samples retrieved from *in situ* tests</u> have not shown any important variation after the bentonite has been subjected to repository conditions.

Long after the closure of the disposal facility, there might be an important generation of gases in the inner part of the barrier. These gases are most probably produced by corrosion of the steel of the canister, bacterial degradation of organic matter and radiolytic decomposition of water. Diffusion is the dominating gas transport mechanism during the initial stages of saturation of the barrier. If there are large volumes of gases, they could escape via instantaneous "fractures" in the barrier, a

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

40/106

Dissemination level: PU

process known as break-through that basically consists in transport via preferential paths ([3-79], [3-74]).

A summary scheme of the <u>sequence of processes</u> mentioned above is given in SR 97 [3-57]

3.3.2. Geochemical processes due to the granite/bentonite interaction

The chemical evolution of the buffer and backfill is determined by a number of transport and reaction processes. In the buffer, advection occurs almost exclusively during the water saturation process. After saturation, diffusion is the main transport mechanism. By means of ion exchange/sorption, the original ions on the surfaces of the clay particles in the buffer may be replaced by other ionic species. The chemical degradation of smectite may occur, for example in the form of illitization. On swelling, the buffer penetrates into the fractures in the surrounding rock, where it may form colloids which may be carried away by the groundwater, leading to gradual erosion of the buffer. The clay may be transformed by radiation effects and the pore water may be decomposed by radiolysis. Finally, microbial processes may occur in the buffer/backfill system.

Over time, the pore water chemistry will evolve reflecting interactions between the species present at the time of closure, and ions entering with the groundwater during saturation ([3-58]). Migration of salts and bentonite accessory minerals will result due to the thermohydraulic field ([3-59], [3-60], [3-61]). Thus, the main processes affecting the chemical evolution of the buffer will be the dissolution/precipitation of accessory minerals, mainly calcite, gypsum, quartz and pyrite, ion-exchange processes, surface complexation processes and the long-term dissolution and alteration of montmorillonite to illite ([3-62], [3-63], [3-64], [3-65], [3-66]).

3.4 Corrosion at the bentonite/canister interface under thermal gradient

3.4.1. Corrosion of canister

C-steel, stainless steel

A number of Community-supported Framework Programme and national projects ([3-121], [3-123], [3-122], [3-141], [3-142], [3-93], [3-117], [3-118], [3-154]) have been devoted to the experimental investigation of corrosion resistance of metals in relation to deep geological repository. The research was focussed both on corrosion allowance and corrosion resistance materials such as, carbon steels, stainless steels, the alloy of Ti99.8-Pd and nickel base alloy Hastelloy C4. It was found that both corrosion resistance and corrosion allowance materials can be utilized as spent fuel or high level waste canister materials. All of them can corrode under certain conditions by general (uniform) or localized corrosion. The tendency of metals to corrosion rate, is one of

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

41/106

Dissemination level: PU

the most important factors for selection of spent fuel canister materials. One of the advantages of corrosion allowance materials such as carbon steels is their low tendency to localized corrosion in a repository environment. The danger is that the passive state might occur under certain conditions depending on the pH, composition of groundwater, and the amount of oxygen diffusing to the surface of metal canisters ([3-122], [3-123], [3-121], [3-96])

Corrosion mechanisms of metals under repository conditions will depend primarily on the content of oxygen and the content of aggressive and/or passivating ions in a groundwater contacting the canisters. During the operation phase of a repository and some time after its closure, oxygen (~8 ppm of O_2) is trapped in the buffer and backfill materials allowing the overall aerobic corrosion reactions to occur. The mechanism of corrosion depends [3-97] in this phase mainly on the level of humidity around the canister. The time of aerobic/anaerobic^{*} phase will depend primarily on the value of the diffusion coefficient of oxygen in compacted bentonite [3-123], [3-120]. It is evident that under reducing conditions, all available oxygen will be consumed and iron will corrode with water in an anoxic environment under hydrogen generation. After canister failure, the groundwater will get in contact with spent fuel and inner parts of the canister. The properties of the groundwater and, consequently, of the corrosion products can be, from this moment, affected by the waste package inner materials including spent fuel matrix and by radiation. Results of some experiments showed that in the presence of radiation the corrosion of metals can be significantly increased [3-121], [3-125].

An important role in corrosion of metals can be played by salts dissolved in groundwater. Chloride is the most aggressive anion in the context of localized corrosion of stainless steels. Both pitting and protection potentials of stainless steels are a function of the chloride concentration [3-93]. The role of sulphates in corrosion of metals is not unambiguous. Sulphates are known as being aggressive ions enhancing localized corrosion [3-123], but it was also shown [3-93] that an increasing amount of sulphates in oxidised clay water is beneficial towards the corrosion protection of the stainless steels. Carbonates/bicarbonates can significantly contribute to passivation of steels [3-121], [3-122], [3-123].

Under certain conditions, corrosion of steels could be influenced by microbial corrosion. [3-114]. It is now widely recognized that the microbial activity is possible within a deep geological repository [3-114], [3-129]]. The presence of anaerobic bacteria, such as the sulphate reducing bacteria (SRB), can be explained in sites under aerobic conditions, because aerobic bacteria colonies form a film on the surface of the metal, which allows the SRB to thrive underneath, where little or no oxygen is present [3-111]. However, the results of the investigations of survival and of activity of

^{*} The anaerobic environment is here understood as the environment with limited flux of oxygen (0.03 - 8 ppm) and anoxic environment as the environment that does not contain measurable amounts of dissolved oxygen ($\leq 10^{-6}$ M or 0.03 ppm)

Date of issue of this report: **31 March 2005**

microbes in bentonite [3-129] suggest that the number of viable microbes will rapidly decrease during swelling of compacted bentonite.

A study of the corrosion that affected different components, after 7 years, of the in situ test of the FEBEX project was carried out by INASMET Foundation in Grimsel (Switzerland) [3-111]. The steel or C steel components consisted of the heater, liner, coupons within the bentonite and sensors, which were protected by an austenitic alloy tube or sheath to measure displacement of the heaters and temperature.

The heater (a C steel cylinder, wall thickness 100 mm) underwent a very slight generalised corrosion, due to the absence of humidity around it which prevented or slowed down the advance of generalised and/or localised corrosion. The liner (a steel perforated guide tube, 15 mm thick) presented a stronger generalised corrosion than the heater; its contact with the bentonite and the presence of a higher degree of humidity can account for the corrosion processes undergone by this component. The C steel coupons showed very slight generalised corrosion with corrosion rates of 0.10 μ m/year, probably because they were embedded in bentonite with very low humidity. Finally, the sensors were, by far, the components that underwent the greatest corrosion damage due to the presence sulphides generated by SRB. Transgranular cracking and localised pitting are the corrosion phenomena identified in the sensors [3-111].

Copper

Metallic copper is planned to be used as the outer canister material in some repository designs. Assessments of the long-term behaviour of copper canisters have been made in four countries; Sweden, Finland; Canada and Japan.

A comprehensive overview of the four assessments has recently been published by King et al (2001, [3-115]). Although the various assessments vary in detail, they provide a consistent picture of the copper canister and the chemical reactions that might damage it under repository conditions.

The Swedish and Finnish studies included general corrosion under oxic and anoxic conditions, localized corrosion pitting, microbially influenced corrosion, and stress corrosion cracking.

During the aerobic period (\approx first 1,000 yrs), the combined general corrosion was caused by trapped O₂ and radiolytic oxidants. According to steady-state mass transport modelling, the copper corrosion rate is determined by the diffusion of Cu(II) away from the canister surface [3-152].

During the long anaerobic period, corrosion is supported by HS⁻ from the groundwater, from the MX-80 bentonite itself and from microbial reduction of SO_4^{2-} in the deposition hole and tunnel and in the groundwater. The corrosion is also further assumed to be supported by reduction of Fe(III) or of H₂O/H⁺ in the presence of HS⁻.

The Canadian and Japanese assessments differed somewhat from the Swedish and Finnish ones, but all the results point in the same direction: the planned type of copper canisters will not be seriously corroded under the expected repository conditions. The Japanese assessment was similar to that used in Sweden and Finland, although

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

43/106

Dissemination level: PU

significant more conservative assumptions were used like the very high HS⁻ concentrations in groundwater used in the assessment. The overall extent of general corrosion and pitting after 1,000 yrs was predicted to be 27-39 from a pitting factor approach and 10-15 mm based on the extreme value pitting analysis. The Japanese study did not contain any estimate of the canister life time. In the Swedish, Finnish and Canadian cases, such estimates were made, which indicated that the copper canister life-time exceeds 10^6 yrs. Details concerning the referred assessments are found in King et al. (2001, [3-115]) and in references therein.

The Cu-ETP and the Cu-30Ni alloy coupons studied in Grimsel Test Site underwent similar generalised corrosion after 7 years. These types of coupons presented a generalised corrosion rate of 0.71 μ m/year, with a measured corrosion rate of 0.5 μ m/year [3-111].

Generated corrosion products

The generation of corrosion products in the repository is not clear enough to know exactly the corrosion products that will be formed at the canister/bentonite interface. The nature of the corrosion products will depend on the disposal concept, repository conditions and time after repository closure.

Iron corrosion products

In a system with low concentration of carbonate species and negligible concentration of sulphides, the major corrosion products under low Eh environment, pH > 8.5 and temperature below ~ 85 °C will be ferrous hydroxide. Otherwise, at low Eh values in the repository, environmental magnetite will be formed [3-86] . In sulphide-bearing groundwaters, all Fe²⁺ will be precipitated by sulphide anions until their depletion [3-83] . In carbonate-rich (~1 mol/l) and sulphide-poor groundwaters, siderite (FeCO₃) can be formed [3-83]]. At lower concentrations of carbonates, carbonate green rusts (GR(CO₃²⁻)) are formed ([3-92], [3-90], [3-91], [3-138]). The stability of these species is not, however, clear. Their abundance mainly depends on the ratios of Fe²⁺/OH or CO₃²⁻/SO₄²⁻ groups and the concentration of oxygen in the groundwater. At high concentration of sulphates or chlorides, sulphate or chloride green rusts could be also formed [3-134], [3-128]. In the long term, at the canister/bentonite interface, iron silicates will be formed. Due to the very slow kinetic of the reactions of iron with silicate species, it is difficult to experimentally determine their nature [3-80], [3-81], [3-82], [3-99], [3-99], [3-147], [3-154].

The microbiological corrosion of steel sensors at Grimsel produced black iron sulphides, and also a chrome enrichment was detected in the bentonite surrounding the sensors, thus the presence of green amorphous hydrated chrome oxides $(Cr_2O_3xH_2O)$ is not discarded. Likewise, chlorine and nickel-rich yellow corrosion products are also generated. Consequently, the corrosion of the sensors indicates that the damage was done by bacteria activity, as well as by the effect of chlorides in the environment [3-111].

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

44/106

Dissemination level: PU

Copper corrosion products

The types of products that will form during canister corrosion depend to a high degree on the chemical conditions under which the corrosion takes place. A summary of the ranges of groundwater and bentonite pore-water for the Olkiluoto case is found in Table 26 and Table 27.

The recent review by King et al. (2000, [3-115]) distinguishes between 1) corrosion prior to water saturation, 2) corrosion during water saturation, and 3) corrosion after water saturation. The division into different times is based on the different wetting stages of the bentonite.

The **corrosion of copper prior to water saturation** is due to the corroding effect of the atmosphere to which the copper canister is exposed before getting in contact with the groundwater.

The copper corrosion products are mainly copper oxides like cuprous oxide and above it copper hydroxides containing other anions. In the open atmosphere and sheltered from the rain, the sulphates like posnjakite, brochantite and antlerite, as well as the chlorides nantokite and atacamite have been found on the copper surface after an 8-year exposure period [3-148], [3-154].

There are only a few studies concerning atmospheric corrosion of copper at elevated temperatures, and some of them give quite different models for kinetics. Anyhow, the total oxide thickness predicted is 0,03-0,07 μ m at 100 °C after a few years of exposure. The atmospheric pollutants accelerate the oxidation rate by a factor of 3-8 [3-115].

In a granitic repository, after the disposal, when the canister has been installed into the bedrock and the free space filled with bentonite, the conditions are not controlled any more, but atmospheric corrosion is possible in these conditions.

During the period of the unsaturated phase, the corrosion will most probably be uniform and the corrosion product layer will consist of a compact layer of Cu_2O covered by basic Cu(II) salts. No pitting corrosion is expected to occur [3-115].

The **corrosion of copper during water saturation** includes the wetting of the compacted bentonite and of the backfill mixture of bentonite and crushed rock. Reactions between copper and bentonite pore water are expected only in fully saturated bentonite.

During the wetting process, the buffer will probably not swell homogeneously, and there will be local contact places between the canister and the bentonite, which can function as preferential points to start pitting corrosion, especially when there is oxygen available. During the swelling of the bentonite, the gaps will close so that the contact points will move and the corrosion shows an uneven nature with corrosion pits.

Depending on the groundwater composition, several corrosion products may form, for example Cu_2O and $Cu_2CO_3(OH)_2$ (malachite), and basic cupric chloride $(CuCl_2 \cdot 3Cu(OH)_2)$ [3-115]. The conditions have been interpreted to be oxidising during the formation of the products mentioned above. The corrosion products formed by the corrosion of the copper coupons studied at Grimsel after 7 years under repository

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

45/106

Dissemination level: PU

conditions, are cuprite and CuCl₂, chlorides being provided by the FEBEX bentonite itself [3-111], [3-154].

Survival conditions for the SRB at the canister surface are very difficult (low availability of water), but without a careful investigation, the microbiological influences cannot be excluded.

As a result of the **water saturation** and the evolution of the environment, the corrosion behaviour of copper will evolve from an initial period of relatively fast uniform corrosion accompanied by possible localized corrosion to a long-term steady-state condition of a low rate of uniform corrosion with little or no localized attack [3-154].

The canister surface will upon saturation be covered by a double layer consisting of an inner layer of Cu₂O and an outer layer of basic Cu(II) salts, such as Cu₂CO₃(OH)₂ (malachite) and CuCl₂ ·3 Cu(OH)₂ (atacamite), depending on the relative concentrations of CO₃²⁻ and Cl⁻ ions in the pore water. When the bicarbonate content of the groundwater exceeds 600 ppm, Cu₂CO₃(OH)₂ can be assumed to dominate over CuCl₂·3 Cu(OH)₂. Based on the review by King et al. (2001, [3-115]), no significant changes in the composition of the corrosion film take place even after the change of the conditions to anoxic. In the presence of sulphide ions, the formation of Cu₂O/Cu₂S films in reducing conditions is also possible.

3.4.2. Geochemical processes induced in the bentonite due to corrosion

The hydrogen generation, due to corrosion of a C steel canister, will lead to possible overpressure and aperture of preferential pathways [3-127]. A number of papers ([3-112], [3-101], [3-139], [3-104], [3-143], [3-149]) and reviews ([3-130], [3-153], [3-154]) have been therefore devoted to this issue.

The following facts can be drawn from the review of these papers: Hydrogen evolution rate is very high until a protective layer is formed on the surface of iron. It increases with ionic strength of the groundwater and temperature ([3-143], [3-86], [3-149]) until about 85 °C, above which ferrous hydroxides will decompose directly to magnetite and iron without hydrogen evolution. Hydrogen evolution is higher in the environment containing remnant oxygen, probably due to localized corrosion ([3-104], [3-95]).

Hydrogen may escape by diffusion through the backfill and if this transport is not sufficient, flow will eventually take place [3-127]. If the escape by these mechanisms is not sufficient to keep the pressure below the lithostatic pressure (325 atm –[3-126]), the rock will expand and the repository may be disrupted ([3-131], [3-132], [3-108], [3-105], [3-146], [3-135], [3-136], [3-137], [3-150]). No evidence was found that the development of pressure-induced gas pathways in any way compromises the sealing capacity of the bentonite barrier. Some of the researchers [3-105], however, admit that only small-scale experiments have been performed and will have to be verified at larger scale.

The corrosion of canisters and the near-field environment will be also affected by the rate of release of ferrous iron from metal surfaces [3-113]. This will be hindered by mass transport constraints due to the formation of secondary precipitates and compacted

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

46/106

Dissemination level: PU

bentonite. A number of papers addresses the measurements of diffusion coefficients of iron in bentonite ([3-119], [3-109], [3-110], [3-116]. The diffusion coefficients of iron in bentonite were in the range from 10^{-14} to 10^{-11} m²/s.

The presence of iron species and products of iron reactions with bentonite could change the properties of bentonite affecting transport of radionuclides to the geosphere. Swelling pressure could be influenced by the formation of chlorites and bentonite cementation. According to a number of papers ([3-133], [3-100], [3-99], [3-102], [3-154]), this effect will not be significant. Sorption capacity of bentonite could be also affected by a high content of ferrous ions released from the canisters [3-84]. Corrosion products can also have a direct effect on the transport of radionuclides through bentonite to flowing water by facilitating their transport in gas bubbles [3-126] and/or in the form of pseudocolloids formed by ironhydroxides [3-140].

Corrosion products tend to be greater in volume than the original metal. Molar volumes for iron corrosion products are increased more than 2 times [3-151]. Corrosion layers can thus act on the canister and the bentonite and could contribute to the premature failure of the canisters [3-87]. A program of experimental work was undertaken to investigate the effect of corrosion product expansion on the generation of stress in a canister [3-145]. No expansion was observed in two years exposure, suggesting that the corrosion product is too soft and deformable to cause jacking of the canister walls. Bentonite will also act as an efficient buffer for the stresses induced by corrosion of the canister [3-87].

3.5. Migration

3.5.1. Diffusion in bentonite

The retention properties of the bentonite backfill play a very important role in the safety analyses of high-level radioactive waste repository facilities ([3-252]). In this respect the key parameter in the transport calculations is the apparent diffusion coefficient, D_a . Even in moderately compacted bentonite, for moderately sorbing species, diffusion rates are very low, $< 10^{-12}$ m² s⁻¹. D_a values can be either directly determined from diffusion measurements, or they can be calculated from separately determined parameters, usually K_d and the effective diffusion coefficient for HTO. According to the literature ([3-242], [3-248], [3-244]) these two approaches often result in different values: the directly measured D_a values are generally (significantly) higher than the corresponding calculated ones.

This apparent lack of compatibility may lead to a high degree of uncertainty in the PA calculations since predominantly batch sorption data, whether simple K_d values or mechanistic model calculations, are used in conjunction with an effective diffusion coefficient, usually that of HTO, to calculate D_a values. The question of compatibility between measured and calculated D_a values is a key issue, which requires urgent clarification.

This uncertainty is a symptom of a much larger problem, which is that the transport processes through highly compacted bentonite are not very well understood. In

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) - State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

47/106

Dissemination level: PU

particular, there are at least three broad types of porosity in compacted bentonite and it is critical to know which porosity types are associated with the diffusion of which radionuclides and the corresponding diffusion mechanism. Attempts to clarify the diffusion mechanism (or diffusion pathway for different ionic species) have already started ([3-243], [3-240], [3-233], [3-241], [3-249], [3-239]). Although for some elements the observed phenomena can be qualitatively explained, no real models exist. As an example, it has been observed that the diffusion of anions in bentonite depends on the ionic strength of the porewater which can be explained by the so called Donnan effect. A mechanistic model, however, does not so far exist.

One of the major factors contributing to the uncertainties is the porewater chemistry in highly compacted bentonite ([3-237]). In some recent work focused on the reference Japanese bentonite Kunigel V1, it was shown that the porewater chemistry is a critical component in assessing the correspondence between measured and calculated D_a values. In fact, in this study for Cs(I), Ni(II), Sm(III), Am(III), Zr(IV) and Np(V), Bradbury & Baeyens ([3-238], 2003) found good agreement over a wide range of initial dry densities when the porewater chemistry was calculated with their model ([3-237]). Because the porewater chemistry plays such a vital role in understanding the retardation processes of elements diffusing through compacted bentonite, key parameters and assumptions in the porewater chemistry model have to be checked as a function of initial dry density. One of these is the chloride accessible porosity ([3-237]). This is essentially the pore volume occupied by the porewater and is equivalent to the porosity determined in through diffusion experiments using chloride. Other approaches have also been proposed ([3-245], [3-247], [3-246]). The discussion on the "right" model is still ongoing and there is an urgent need to agree on a common approach for estimating the composition of a bentonite porewater.

3.5.2. Retention in bentonite

The uptake of radionuclides by mineral surfaces is one of the main pillars upon which the safety of radioactive waste repositories rests. Sorption processes mainly consist in ion exchange and surface complexation. The former has long been known as a control of the chemistry of water in clay formations and as a means to retard the transport of radionuclides, and it provides support and justification for the sorption data bases used in PA.

Sorption in most natural bentonite systems is inherently too complex and multi-faceted to be directly understood in terms of mechanisms and their associated parameters. One of the approaches chosen has been to investigate a simplified system first, and then, using this understanding as a basis, increase the complexity in a stepwise systematic manner until the natural system is reached, the "bottom up" approach. Since MX-80 consists of more that 75% montmorillonite, its properties, in particular sorption, are essentially determined by this clay mineral.

A 2 site protolysis non electrostatic surface complexation model was developed, and, together with cation exchange, was incorporated into the chemical equilibrium code MINEQL ([3-250]). The resulting code, MINSORB, has been used successfully to model titration measurements for Na-montmorillonite and sorption edge / isotherm data

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

48/106

Dissemination level: PU

for Ni, Zn, Eu and U(VI) in simple 1:1 and 2:1 background electrolytes in the absence of carbonate, ([3-231], [3-234], [3-235], [3-236], [3-238], unpublished U data, EU 5th Framework Programme, Febex II).

Carbonate is omnipresent in almost all geochemical systems and the influence of radionuclide speciation with carbonate on sorption needs to be investigated and modelled before predictions for real systems can be made. The same is true for organic ligands. Depending on the type of host rock, organic molecules such as humic acids (HA) can effect the sorption and the migration of nuclides through the near-field. A prerequisite for this is that such molecules can migrate from the host rock into the bentonite. The first results available indicate that the sorption of Eu(III) on bentonite is decreased by the presence of HA leading to an enhanced diffusion ([3-251]).

There still remains the important open question as to whether sorption values measured in dispersed systems (batch sorption measurements) are similar to sorption measurements in compacted systems (diffusion measurements). Some attempts to clarify this problem have led to diverging results. Because all sorption databases for PA are based on batch sorption data obtained in dilute systems, there is an urgent need to obtain clarification here.

4. THERMODYNAMIC OF THE NEAR-FIELD PROCESSES INVOLVED IN THE GEOCHEMICAL EVOLUTION OF A DEEP GEOLOGICAL REPOSITORY. DATA BASES

4.1. Data bases

The eventual migration of radionuclides into the environment should be predicted in order to assess the safety of a radioactive waste repository. Numerical simulation and/or modelling of processes affecting the behaviour of radionuclides in natural and man-made systems is an integral part of a radiological assessment methodology. Some of the basic information is provided by speciation calculations using general, non-site-specific, chemical thermodynamic data. The value of the results of geochemical modelling as a predictive tool is strongly dependent on the quality of the thermodynamic data used to calculate the chemical speciation [4-1].

To be useful in performance assessment work, a data base must:

- contain data for all the elements of interest in radioactive waste disposal systems
- document why and how the data were selected
- document the sources of experimental data used
- be internally consistent
- treat all solids and aqueous species of the elements of interest

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

49/106

Dissemination level: PU

It is difficult that a data base can fulfill all of these criteria. It is frequent that the how and why of a certain datum is omitted, or specialized thermochemical databases intended for quite different purposes are common. For this reason, PA groups often use their own databases for modelling purposes. However, these individual data bases often lack internal consistency and differ significantly from each other, specifically in the data of the actinides [4-1].

These shortcomings were taken into account by some countries that undertook the task of developing a comprehensive, internally consistent and internationally recognized thermodynamic database for the inorganic, aqueous and solid chemistry of U, Am, Tc, Np and Pu (NEA TDB project).

Selection of parameters

The selection of the parameters to include in the NEA data base was based on the needs of existing chemical models, the generality of applications and the availability of data. The data set collected in the TDB project includes standard molar Gibbs energy ($1fG_m$) and enthalpy ($1fH_m$) of formation, standard molar entropy (S_m) and heat capacity at constant pressure (C_p ;m). The equilibrium constants needed can then be derived from these parameters for the aqueous species and solid phases of interest. This approach also makes it easier to check the internal consistency of the selected thermodynamic parameters.

As the parameters in this data set vary as a function of temperature, the compilation of the coefficients of empirical temperature functions for these thermodynamic data was included, as well as the temperature ranges over which they are valid. Only temperature dependencies for $C_{p,m}$ have been selected in the TDB data base so far. As a rule, selected data are presented for a temperature of 298.15 K and a pressure of 1 bar (1_105 Pa).

The TDB project does not cover non-thermodynamic data such as diffusion and kinetic data and only takes into account primary experimental data.

Kinetics is one of the critical points in the database. The lack of kinetic constraints in the geochemical equilibrium calculations was considered to be an important source of uncertainty. One of the major problems associated with developing a kinetics database is the dependence of the reaction kinetics on the environmental conditions. It is, therefore, difficult to apply a standard and then extrapolate from this. Also for complex systems, the number of possible interdependent reactions increases as a power series and therefore obtaining experimental rate data or estimating rate constants for a multicomponent multiphase problem can be very onerous. To overcome this lack of kinetic data, a commonly used approach in assessment studies is to perform thermodynamic calculations with chemical reactions, which are unlikely to form due to kinetic constraints. For example, in geochemical modelling, most codes consider local equilibria only. Few kinetic data are available for geochemical systems and, in most cases, meta-stable phases are hardly considered, even when they are stable for relatively long periods of time.

As revealed in the survey conducted by NEA, there are very few kinetic databases which are readily available for widespread applications. However, NIST has two

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

50/106

Dissemination level: PU

chemical kinetics databases (NIST Chemical Kinetics Database, NDRL/NIST Solution Kinetics database). The HARKIN database is currently being developed by AEA Technology from critically assessed or calculated rate constants for thousands of chemical reaction steps [4-2].

The geochemical calculations used in the ECOCLAY II project depend on thermodynamic databases as well as in some cases on reaction rate data (including reactive surface area values). However, it appears to be the case that it is possible to generate a thermodynamic data base for most studies that includes sufficient representative phases (and solution species) that allow the overall behaviour of the system to be reasonably represented. An important conclusion, from the studies so far, is that the distance the plume will penetrate into the clay is very small and no severe impact of the geological clay barrier has to be feared. But technical barriers can still be affected in contact with alkaline and/or saline solutions. In case of alkaline high saline solutions the modelling attempts indicate that the processes are manifold and more complex than in case of solution with low salinity. More work has to be invested in the reaction path prediction of clay material in contact with high saline and alkaline solutions.

4.2. Extrapolation to zero ionic strength

The standard state in the NEA database for dissolved species is the hypothetical ideal solution at unit activity. Thus the data which are evaluated from experimental measurements need to be corrected for activity coefficients. The specific ion interaction method (SIT) is used in the NEA database [4-1].

The SIT method has several advantages that make it more suitable for the TDB project:

- it is simpler (fewer parameters are needed)
- missing parameters can easily be estimated from values for ions of similar charge and size
- the extraction of relevant parameters requires fewer experimental data,
- changing from the SIT would require a large amount of recalculation work for already selected data, and
- although there are cases (e. g. brines) where the SIT method is clearly not applicable, its accuracy and range of usefulness is adequate for geochemical modelling of a majority of the environments encountered in radioactive waste disposal sites.

4.3. Computer programs

Different computer programmes are being applied in the scientific literature in order to model the near-field geochemical evolution. The programs can be classified as: a) thermodinamic equilibrium programs and b) reactive transport programs:

The following are among the most usual programs :

```
- PHREEQC2 (Parkhurst & Appelo, 1999[4-3])
```

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) - State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

Dissemination level: PU

- EQ3/6 (Wolery, 1992 [4-5])

- CORE^{2D} (Samper et al., 2000[4-4])

In the ECOCLAY II project, namely PHREEQC, CRUNCH, EQ3/6, PRECIP, Hydrogeochem, MINTEQ and Medusa have been used to predict the chemical reaction processes of alkaline solutions in contact with clay. Also CHESS/Hytec has been developed for these kinds of reactions. The variety of programs used to obtain rather similar conclusions gives confidence in the performance (verification) of these tools, although the facilities offered by them may suggest that one is more appropriate than other for a particular application [3-171], [3-215], [3-177].

The main processes and reactions taken into account in the geochemical modelling are shown in <u>Table 2</u>8.

4.4. Thermodynamics of the main reactions in the near field

Thermodynamic data are available from various studies, in order to assess the long term chemical behaviour of the different materials in the context of radioactive waste repository. Discrepancies are generally noticed and it is then difficult to perform calculations with "well known uncertainties" on data.

The selected reactions and minerals described in Table 29 ($\underline{a}, \underline{b}, \underline{c}, \underline{d}$) take into account the main processes that will take place in the near field. The aim of this review is to give a list of major minerals and secondary phases formed under various geological chemical conditions.

The thermodynamical data set for cement-based materials has been studied by many authors [4-6], [4-7], [4-8], [4-9], [4-10], [4-11], [4-12], [4-13], [4-14], [4-15] and [4-16]. In the case of cement-based materials, the portlandite, CSH and sulpho-aluminates are sufficient to describe the majority of the hydrated cements. To complete the species, alkali oxides (Na₂O and K₂O) are also considered [4-7].

The redox control in a cement-based environment is focussed on the identification of compounds likely to control this parameter. Traditionally, this parameter is associated with the iron or sulphur present in cement-based materials. Iron is found in variable quantities in the clinker, whereas sulphur is generally introduced (at least in the form of sulphide) by compounds like blast furnace slag. In some cases, aggregates can be a source of pyrites whose dissolution can make a significant contribution to control the potential redox in solution. Its oxidation play an important role on the modification of these conditions, in particular with the oxygen consumption all the more rapid since the pH is high and a lowering of pH together with a production of sulphate. The aluminates (type C₄AH₁₃ or C₃AH₆ hydrates or sulpho-aluminates) can be responsible for the control of iron in solution. The portlandite phase controls the pH and calcium content in solution. CSH gels (according to temperature) control the silica content in solution and pH in absence of portlandite. Calcium sulpho-aluminates (or ettringite) control the sulphate and aluminium contents in absence of other aluminates in the system. C₄AH₁₃ and/or C₃AH₆ control the content of aluminium in solution (in the absence of these compounds, the aluminium in solution will come from the sulpho-aluminates).

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

52/106

The main geochemical processes of the bentonite-water system to be considered in the modelling are determined from experimental results obtained in experiments performed at high (squeezing tests) and low (aqueous extracts solutions) solid to liquid ratios ([4-18],[4-19],[4-20],[4-21],[4-22],[4-23],[4-24]):

- Equilibrium with respect to calcite
- Equilibrium with respect to gypsum and celestite
- Equilibrium with respect to chalcedony
- Dilution of chlorides
- Ionic exchange reactions
- Surface complexation reactions
- Thermodynamic stability of the clay fraction (smectite) at the expected pH conditions (7<pH<11).

5. NEAR-FIELD SYSTEM BEHAVIOUR MODELLING

The chemical buffer capacity of the bentonite is a direct consequence of the bentonite/groundwater chemical interactions. This buffer capacity mainly resides in the montmorillonite clay component and the bentonite accessory minerals. However, the presence of other components of the EBS, as concrete and the canister material could also affect the chemical buffer capacity of the bentonite.

As different EBS concepts are considered in different countries (see section 1.2), the geochemical behaviour of the EBS could differ substantially among these different designs. This is related to compositional differences of a specific material, the consideration of additional components in the EBS or the type of host rock.

In the following sections, the main chemical processes in each of the considered components of the EBS (conceptual model) will be described, as well as a review of the existing numerical models.

5.1. Conceptual model (relevant processes for the NF component behaviour and for PA)

In this section, the main processes involved in the geochemical evolution of the nearfield of a nuclear waste underground repository will be described. These processes will be divided according to the EBS component where they take place (host rock, concrete, bentonite, and canister) according to the different designs as described in section 1.2.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

Dissemination level: PU

Date of issue of this report: 31 March 2005

5.1.1. Bentonite

The main geochemical processes occurring in the bentonite barrier are almost the same than in the case of the clay host rock. However, the relative importance of the different reactions could differ from the clay rock. In addition, there are different bentonite types considered by different agencies (see section 1.2).

The main geochemical processes affecting the evolution of the bentonite component of the near-field are the following:

Dissolution-precipitation of carbonates. Although the carbonate content in bentonite tends to be relatively small, the dissolution-precipitation reactions are of paramount importance to buffer the alkalinity of bentonite pore waters.

Cation exchange reactions. The control exerted by this process on the calcium and magnesium concentrations in pore water directly affects the dissolution-precipitation of carbonate accessory minerals in the bentonite.

Protonation-deprotonation surface reactions. This process could contribute to the pH buffering due to the surface related reactions on smectite.

Sulphate dissolution-precipitation. Precipitation or dissolution of gypsum (and/or anhydrite) is another process which can control the calcium availability in the system, leading to an indirect buffering, due to its effect on the carbonate dissolution-precipitation reactions.

Equilibrium with pCO_2 in an open system. In the construction of blocks with compacted bentonite, the presence of atmospheric CO_2 can exert a significant control on the alkalinity. This process is especially relevant in the pre-operational stage of the repository, as in this stage the system will behave as an open system (constant pCO_2). However, during the operational stage, pCO_2 will varye depending on carbonate-involved reactions and CO_2 diffusion from or to the surrounding barriers.

Oxidation-reduction processes in the bentonite. In the bentonite, the redox capacity is an essential parameter for the repository stability. The redox in the bentonite barrier will be controlled by:

<u>Pyrite oxidation.</u> This process depends on the presence or absence of pyrite in the bentonite (depending on the type of bentonite selected in each near-field design). If pyrite is present, the oxidation will take place through the following reaction:

$$FeS_2(s) + 3.75O_2(g) + 3.5H_2O$$
? $Fe(OH)_3(s) + 2SO_4^{2-} + 4H^+$

If there is no pyrite in the bentonite, then the oxidation of sulphide to sulphate will not occur and the redox of the system will be buffered by the redox pair Fe(II)/Fe(III).

<u>Siderite dissolution / amorphous Fe(III) oxy-hydroxide precipitation</u>. This is likely the most relevant redox process in the bentonite (if pyrite is not present as accessory mineral). If a significant fraction of carbonates in bentonite contains Fe(II), the equilibrium between Fe(II) carbonates and Fe(III) oxy-hydroxides can readily buffer the redox capacity of the bentonite.

Other processes. Finally, other processes that can be considered to play a role in the barrier are the dissolution-precipitation of silica phases (quartz, cristobalite and

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

54/106

Dissemination level: PU

amorphous SiO_2) and chlorides, especially in the presence a thermal gradient ([5-1]], [5-1]).

Also the aluminosilicate dissolution is a process which can be potentially considered. This process is related to the dissolution of smectite or its replacement by other clay minerals (saponite) resulting in a decrease of the swelling capacity of bentonite. However, the evaluation of the relevance of this process is difficult. There are some kinetic expressions for the dissolution of smectite, but there is no reliable thermodynamic data. As a consequence, it is not possible to calculate the saturation dependence of the dissolution rate.

5.1.2. Host rock

The host rock (clay rock or granite) will influence the hydraulic behaviour and consequently the chemical buffering. The difference is mainly related to the relative importance of the water transport mechanism (diffusion or channelled advective flow). The chemical processes expected to occur in the host rock of a repository are basically the same, for both granite and clay rock, although differences are related to their relative importance and the solute transport mechanism.

The host rock should contribute to buffer the alkalinity of the near-field and supply the necessary reduced conditions to maintain the stability of the EBS. The main processes buffering the alkalinity and redox capacity in the host rock are the following:

Carbonate dissolution-precipitation. It is clear that carbonate dissolution-precipitation reactions, specially those reactions involving calcite, will be important to maintain the alkalinity at optimum levels.

Cation exchange reactions. The control exerted by this process on the calcium and magnesium concentrations in groundwater directly affects carbonate dissolution-precipitation reactions, especially in clay formations, where clay minerals with exchangeable cations are the dominant minerals. However, clay minerals could also be important fracture-filling minerals in granitic rocks.

Protonation-deprotonation surface reactions. This process could contribute to the pH buffering due to the surface related reactions on clay minerals. It is clear that the relevance of these reactions will be more important in clayey host rocks, where higher clay mineral content is expected. However, their relevance in granitic rocks should not be discarded as in some cases the clay fraction in fracture-fillings could be significant.

Dissolution-precipitation of sulphates. As in the case of the bentonite barrier, this is another process that can affect the availability of calcium in the system, exerting an indirect control on the precipitation-dissolution of carbonates.

Aluminosilicate dissolution. This is a process related to the dissolution of the host rock-forming minerals, such as plagioclase or K-feldspar. This is a kinetically driven process. However, this process is of secondary importance due to the very slow dissolution rates.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04] Dissemination level: PU

Date of issue of this report: 31 March 2005

Equilibrium with pCO_2 in an open system. It is expected that during the repository construction and the pre-operational stage, atmospheric CO_2 can exert a significant control on the alkalinity.

Before repository closure, there could be a CO_2 gradient from the walls of the deposition hole (atmospheric p CO_2) into the host rock formation (host rock formation p CO_2). However, this process should not be discarded in the operational stage of the repository, as degradation of organic matter through bacterial activity (especially in fracture open spaces from granitic host rocks) could produce significant amounts of $CO_2(g)$.

Main redox processes in the host rock formation. Redox reactions in the host rock can affect the properties of the near-field. The redox capacity of the host rock formation will be controlled by the processes described below following the energetic yield as described in natural systems ([5-17]).

Oxidation of the host rock formation organic matter. This process is represented by the following reaction:

$$CH_2O + O_2(aq)$$
? $CO_2(g) + H_2O$

The CO_2 generated in this process is involved in the carbonate (calcite) dissolutionprecipitation reactions and thus, affecting the pH buffering capacity of the system.

In addition, groundwaters from host rock formations with a high concentration of sulphate can gather the activity of sulphate-reducing bacteria (SRB) oxidising organic matter. This process can lead to the formation of sulphide minerals (mainly pyrite) and will contribute to the acidity and alkalinity of the system.

<u>Pyrite oxidation.</u> The next electron donor in the host rock formation is the sulphide content, mainly pyrite. Most clay rocks and fracture-fillings in granitic rocks have certain amounts of pyrite. This oxidative process has some limitations from the kinetic point of view and, consequently, it is necessary to discuss which are the main factors affecting the oxidation rate in order to assess whether it could be treated as an equilibrium process at the repository conditions.

Dissolution-precipitation of siderite and amorphous Fe(III) oxy-hydroxide. The third reducing process is the oxidation of Fe(II) from carbonates. The oxidation of Fe(II) carbonates to form Fe(III) oxy-hydroxides can exert a certain control on the redox of the system.

It is also possible, especially in the case of granite fracture-fillings, that hematite or other iron oxides with different Fe(II)/Fe(III) ratios (e.g. magnetite) could be present. Then the redox buffering could be exerted by the equilibrium between these phases.

5.1.3. Concrete

The most relevant process associated with the presence of a concrete lining is related to the microstructural changes due to its interaction with groundwaters. These alteration processes exert a relevant control on the alkalinity of the system, whose extent is a

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

Dissemination level: PU

Date of issue of this report: **31 March 2005**

function of the transport parameters associated with the concrete microstructure and with the alkalinity neutralising processes.

In the groundwater-concrete interaction, some dissolution-precipitation processes take place, resulting in the concrete alteration. In the alteration of a Portland-based concrete, the following processes can be identified.

Alteration due to leaching of dissolved phases in the pore space. In the leaching process of concrete, some phases initially present in the concrete will be dissolved. This process will exert an effect on the pH of the pore water. The first phases to dissolve will be Na and K hydroxides, leading to an increase in the alkalinity of pore waters (pH > 13).

Dissolution of portlandite (and brucite). Once the Na and K hydroxides have been dissolved, the dissolution of portlandite will begin. This process also produces an effect on the pH, which can reach values around 12.5.

Precipitation-dissolution of CSH gels. After the complete dissolution of portlandite, the alteration of CSH phases will start. These gels, with initially high Ca/Si ratios (= 1.8) will be altered to other phases with lower Ca/Si ratios (< 1). There are some experimental evidences ([5-18]) pointing to a mean Ca/Si ratio equivalent to that of tobermorite (Ca/Si = 0.8) and or jennite (Ca/Si = 1.5).

Precipitation of new solid phases. Together with all these concrete degradation reactions, other parallel reactions can occur, as precipitation of carbonates and sulphates. The precipitation of some silica phases is also possible because of the increase of SiO_2 in solution due to the dissolution of CSH gels.

In addition, since some pyrite exists in the concrete matrix, the pyrite oxidation cannot be discarded. This would be the main process responsible for the redox control in the concrete barrier.

Finally, the precipitation of other minerals, such as zeolites (analcite and/or phillipsite), CASH gels (together with the CSH gels) or magnesian silicates (talc and hydrotalcite) has also been described during concrete degradation experiments. The formation of these phases could modify the porosity, leading to substantial changes in the transport parameters of the system (e.g. changes in diffusion coefficient).

5.1.4. Steel canister/cast iron insert

Much has been written on the corrosion of iron and the overall process is quite well understood, particularly that which refers to iron corrosion in the presence of oxygen. The anaerobic corrosion of iron has been less studied, although in recent years SKB has undergone some research works on the anoxic long term corrosion of carbon steel ([5-12], [5-5]; [5-3], [5-4]) and the comparative effects with iron ([5-16]). According to the present state of the art, the main chemical processes that will take place under the anoxic (anaerobic) corrosion of the iron insert are the following.

1. Oxidation of metallic iron by water, precipitation of solid Fe(II) hydroxide and the subsequent generation of hydrogen gas.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

Dissemination level: PU

Date of issue of this report: 31 March 2005

2. The oxidative alteration of $Fe(OH)_2(s)/FeCO_3(s)$ to build a $Fe_{3-x}O_4$ passive layer with the spinel structure.

However, the groundwater presents other species thermodynamically able to oxidise iron, mainly $SO_4^{2^-}$ and $CO_3^{2^-}$. This is thermodynamically favoured under all chemical conditions expected in natural groundwaters. Sulphate and/or carbonate reduction has not been observed in the absence of organic matter and bacteria. However, the reduction of sulphate and the production of methane is common in sediments because of the existence of organic matter and sulphate reducing and methanogenic bacteria. These microorganisms can use organic matter and H₂ as electron donor and either sulphate and/or CO_2 as electron acceptor. However, according to Pedersen and Karlsson (1995, [5-11]), the bentonite buffer constitutes a hostile environment for most microbes.

5.1.5. Copper canister

The use of copper canisters is envisaged in the SKB and POSIVA designs for the near field of a HLRW underground repository. The copper canister is expected to provide protection against corrosion in the repository. However, the presence of oxygen near the canister can lead to general corrosion or pitting of copper ([5-15]). The copper corrosion will be enhanced by the presence of sulphide, oxygen, or high concentrations of chloride in waters ([5-13]). However, these processes will lead to the formation of a protective layer, so the corrosion rate of the copper canister will decrease with time, despite the high temperature expected on the copper surface. In addition, it is expected that the extent of the corrosion attack will have a negligible effect on the canister lifetime ([5-10]). In any case, it is important to take into account that an increase in both temperature and chloride concentration will increase the corrosion potential of copper.

Once the oxygen initially present in the near field has been exhausted, anaerobic corrosion is the dominant process affecting the stability of the copper canister. The presence of aqueous sulphide in pore waters will form copper sulphides and generation of hydrogen gas. The source of this aqueous sulphide could be the dissolution of sulphide minerals initially present in the bentonite or, even, sulphide produced by sulphate reducing bacteria; provided they were active in the near field. Then, the rate of copper sulphide generation will be limited by the diffusion of sulphide to the canister surface, which will be very slow ([5-15]).

5.2. Existing numerical models

A small number of references can be found in the scientific literature dealing with numerical models of the geochemical evolution of the near field. Two different approaches are considered among the published models: a) mixing-tank models ([5-19]; [5-21]; [5-6]), and b) reactive transport models ([5-1], [5-1]; [5-14]; [5-20]; [5-8]). Mixing tank models consist in successive pore water replacements in the modelled domain, where this pore water is allowed to react with the phases defined in the system

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

58/106

Dissemination level: PU

(precipitation-dissolution of minerals, either in thermodynamic equilibrium or according to a kinetic rate law; cation exchange, protonation-deprotonation surface reactions, etc.). On the other hand, reactive transport models simulate a more realistic domain, where advection and/or diffusion (depending on the properties of the simulated medium) are the processes considered for water and solute transport. In addition, in reactive transport models, chemical reactions are calculated once the transport equations are solved. A more detailed description of these models dealing with near-field geochemical evolution can be found in Arcos et al. (2004, [5-2]).

5.3. Predictive model

The use of models is essential for the assessment of the geochemical evolution of the near field of a repository. However, although most of the processes considered are based on experimental data (mainly laboratory experiments), there is a need to validate these models through data obtained from long-term experiments under repository conditions and/or natural analogues. Unfortunately, long-term experiments devoted to geochemical behaviour of the near field have not been specifically conducted. There are only two experiments, initially considered for the study of thermo-hydro-mechanical behaviour of bentonite, which have been later adapted to obtain some geochemical information on the near field behaviour, the FEBEX project ([5-7]) and the LOT experiment ([5-9]).

In any case, the results from the geochemical models dealing with the near field show that a few processes will buffer relevant parameters of the system, such as pH, Eh and alkalinity, independently of the near field design, with the only exception of the specific effects of adding a concrete liner. In the following sections, these processes will be discussed, as well as the main gaps related to their knowledge.

6. KNOWN AND UNKNOWN FACTS AND UNCERTAINTIES

This chapter will deal with the geochemical processes that take place in each of the EBS component. It will also point out which are the aspects less studied highlighting the key parameters

6.1. Near-field geochemical processes

For safety purposes, it is necessary to identify the magnitude of the water-rock reaction processes and physical changes in the host rock (granite, clay or salt), bentonite and in

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) - State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

Dissemination level: PU

Date of issue of this report: 31 March 2005

the concrete. The present section tries to summarize the most relevant known geochemical processes, and poses a series of uncertainties as well as the key parameters to be studied to be able to clarify the least understood or studied fields.

6.1.1. Known facts

In concrete

The saturation of concrete with fresh, saline and high saline groundwaters produces a hyperalkaline pore solution that reacts with the bentonite and the host rock affecting the sorption and transport properties of the whole system.

Reactions of bentonite in hyperalkaline conditions: The leaching of concrete causes:

- Dissolution of Na, K hydroxides and portlandite
- Precipitation-dissolution of CSH gels
- Precipitation of carbonates, sulphates, quartz, CASH gels, zeolites (analcime, phillipsite), talc and hydrotalcite
- Oxidation of pyrite present in the concrete matrix

The main leaching process is loss of Ca. Decalcification leaves behind a shell of silica and metalhydroxides. In the CW-Experiment at Mont Terri (Opalinus Clay) the initial results showed that buffering to pH 10 took more than 6 months and that mass loss to the rock is ~ 2g/day. Concrete-Boom Clay interactions studied by in situ experiments indicated that the alteration zone both in the clay and in the concrete was about 100 to 150 µm [3-155].

Leaching experiments in salt formations show that salt cements have a higher resistivity against NaCl-rich solutions than against Mg-rich solutions. No visible alteration was observed with NaCl saturated solutions, while an alteration depth of 1.5 mm occurred with Mg-rich solutions.

In compacted bentonite

Modifications of bentonite due to concrete/bentonite interaction

Previous studies dealing with cement/clay interactions are very few and focused mainly on the subjects of composition of cement pore solutions, degradation products of cement (silicate) degradation and interactions between granite and cement. During the last decade the ECOCLAY project (part one and two) financed by the European Commission had been conducted with the main objective to characterise the comprehension of the physicochemical behaviour of the release of a hyperalkaline plume by cement degradation for different host rocks. A series of laboratory and in-situ tests had been performed to build a knowledge base on the hyperalkaline plume, and to analyse the geochemical processes.

The main reactions of the hyperalkaline pore fluid (pH 10-13.5) and the bentonite are:

• Cation exchange processes with cement pore water ions. The cation exchange reactions are favoured by rising temperature and increasing time. Short-term interactions are dominated by ion exchange processes.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

Dissemination level: PU

- Minor or none modification in the cation exchange capacity.
- Specific surface decrease, as well as pore-size increase due to agglomerate formation.
- Experimentally calculated thickness of bentonite affected by alkaline solutions: in the order of microns/mm (reaction time: 1 year, ECOCLAY Project)

and for longer-term interactions and/or at higher temperatures, the following mineral dissolution-precipitation processes become relatively more important in controlling mass transfer.

- Dissolution of smectite and montmorillonite.
- Dissolution of cristobalite and increase in quartz content.
- Formation of Ca/Mg (aluminium) silicate hydrates. In salt formations:tobermorite.
- Formation of zeolites, mainly phillipsite.
- Minor formation of sheet silicates such as illite or mixed-layer clays Minor formation of chlorite.

Modifications of THM properties of bentonite due to concrete/bentonite interaction

- Loss of swelling capacity, changes in porosity and sorption capacity
- In salt formations, experiments have confirmed the reduction of swelling pressure in the presence of brines and/or hyperalkaline solutions. The few results obtained so far cannot be extrapolated to other boundary conditions.

Geochemical/physico-chemical modifications of bentonite due to granite/bentonite interaction

- Main geochemical/physico-chemical processes: Dissolution-precipitation of carbonates, sulphates, quartz, chlorides; cation exchange reactions; oxidation-reduction processes; alteration of montmorillonite to illite)
- Modelling of the chemical composition of pore water under different assumptions (equilibrium with atmospheric pCO_2 , and carbonates/ \equiv SOH groups) at initial and saturated conditions for different dry densities.
- A first approach to know the distribution of water in the bentonite (structural, interlamellar, external) in a steady state.
- After a 5-year period, the FEBEX bentonite has not undergone significant mineralogical and physico-chemical changes (FEBEX project).
- Colloids are generated in favourable geochemical conditions (low ionic strength, alkaline groundwaters)

THM modifications of bentonite due to granite / bentonite interaction

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

Dissemination level: PU

Date of issue of this report: 31 March 2005

The results available up to now refer only to periods of thermo-hydraulic treatment smaller than five years and that the effect of radiation has not been evaluated in the *in situ* tests (BMT, BCE, ITT, LOT and FEBEX).

- High initial suction which favours the saturation of the blocks. The hydraulic pressure gradient established is not important until the suction of the bentonite becomes small, towards the end of the process.
- Complete dissolution of air, initially contained in the bentonite pores, allows for the complete saturation of the barrier.
- Swelling of the bentonite. Establishment of a density gradient (lower at the outermost part and higher at the innermost part of the bentonite). These density modifications affect increasingly larger areas as hydration progresses and are enhanced by the heating effect.
- Establishment of a thermal gradient. The thermal conductivity increases with water content, thus it is higher in the external part of the buffer and lower in the desiccated area near the canister. Desiccation and shrinkage of the bentonite contributes to the decrease in porosity of the blocks in the internal zones of the barrier.
- Increase in salinity in the hotter areas due to evaporation/condensation processes.
- The <u>hydraulic conductivity</u> measurements performed in <u>samples retrieved from</u> <u>in situ tests</u> have not shown any important variation after the bentonite has been subjected to repository conditions.

Corrosion at the bentonite/canister interface

- Processes and types of corrosion. Chloride, sulphide, sulphates and oxygen ions are very aggressive enhancing pitting and localized corrosion, respectively, but also increase the corrosion protection of the metals, resulting in the decrease of the corrosion rate.
- Types of products produced by corrosion (hematites, magnetite, oxyhydroxides, siderite pyrrhotite
- Corrosion rates. Experimental corrosion results within the FEBEX project estimated a corrosion rate of $0.10 \,\mu$ m/year of C steel coupons after 7 years.
- Corrosion is a function of time and temperature. Experimental results showed that in the presence of radiation the corrosion of metals can be significantly increased.
- Corrosion products tend to be greater in volume than the original metal and stress can develop causing premature failure of the canisters.
- Microbial corrosion can be present. Clear evidences of this process are frequently found in spite of the adverse conditions in a repository for the survival of bacteria.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

62/106

Dissemination level: PU

• Hydrogen generation as a result of corrosion. No evidence was found that the development of pressure-induced gas pathways compromises in any way the sealing capacity of the bentonite barrier.

Modification of transport properties due to corrosion:

- Swelling pressure can be affected by the formation of chlorites and bentonite cementation, though not in a significant way.
- Sorption capacity could be affected by the presence of ferrous ions. Corrosion products can favour sorption. For example, magnetite can reduce the redox sensible elements resulting in their immobilization.
- Transport of radionuclides can be easier as pseudocolloids formed by iron hydroxides.

Migration of radionuclides

- Ion exchange and surface complexation are the main mechanisms of sorption. Ion exchange provides support and justification for the sorption data bases in PA. The processes involved in surface complexation are well understood and can be adequately modelled for the non-clay mineral phases.
- Ion exclusion is well known in principle. The extent to which ions are excluded increases with compaction and decreases with salinity. Ion exclusion results in differences in the porosity accessible for transport of solutes (geochemical or free water porosity) of various charges and sizes.
- Colloidal transport of radionuclides has been measured and it is negligible.

6.1.2. Uncertainties:

This section tries to compile all the uncertainties that have arisen in the different chapters of this paper and is focussed on those processes known to be the most relevant in the near field evolution, though they need a more detailed knowledge, especially under repository conditions.

Bentonite related processes.

- As outlined by experimental data and geochemical models, cation exchange is one of the main processes controlling the geochemical evolution of the system. However, the different initial cation occupancy in the exchanger will lead to very different buffering capacity. In addition, most of the experiments have been performed at density conditions far from those expected in the repository (e.g. low density and relatively high water/bentonite ratios). For this reason, one may expect to have a good knowledge on the density dependency of cation exchange coefficients, as well as temperature effects on these reactions.
- It has been demonstrated that the pH buffering capacity of bentonite is controlled by calcite dissolution-precipitation. Moreover, this process is linked to cation exchange reactions as they will control the calcium availability in solution. On the other hand, the redox buffering capacity of bentonite is somewhat controversial, as some authors argue that this buffering will be

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

63/106

Dissemination level: PU

exerted by pyrite oxidation, whereas others think that the control is made by siderite/Fe(III) oxy-hydroxides. Obviously, this will depend on the initial inventory of accessory minerals in the selected bentonite. A detailed experimental work is needed to determine which of these processes is responsible for the redox buffering in the bentonite barrier.

- The stability of clay minerals is another issue that needs a better understanding. There is a large amount of data concerning the kinetic dissolution of smectite. Although it has been demonstrated that, under repository conditions, montmorillonite dissolution will occur at a very low rate, the partial transformation of smectite to other clay minerals (illite, kaolinite) could affect the isolating properties of the bentonite. In addition, during the high temperature transformed into other non-swelling sheet silicates as chlorite, especially in the case of high iron concentrations in pore water due to canister corrosion. How relevant is the illitization process of montmorillonite?
- How do the Eh, pH and electric conductivity of the bentonite change during the hydration/heating process?

Bentonite saturation

- The influence of the thermal gradient on saturation specially for high temperatures needs to be better understood. Will full saturation be hindered until dissipation of the thermal gradient? Will the high temperatures around the canister hinder the full saturation of the inner part of the barrier or just delay it?
- Will the possible existence of a threshold hydraulic gradient prevent the movement of water in the final stages of the repository, when suction is low and the only driving force is the hydraulic pressure?
- It has not been possible to experimentally check if the density gradients observed in the EBS are recovered when the final water content of the barrier is homogeneous and if the volume changes induced during saturation are irreversible.
- There are not enough experimental evidences regarding the modification of HM properties of bentonite by the effect of temperature. Are the modifications induced by temperature reversible or not?

Migration of radionuclides

Diffusion mechanisms

• The problems of deriving sorption parameters (D_a) from laboratory Kd measurements that are consistent with those from diffusion measurements have been studied for compacted bentonite but have not yet been solved. The question of compatibility between measured and calculated D_a values requires urgent clarification.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

- The diffusion process for retarded solutes is not well understood. Knowledge provided by laboratory experiments and field tests is only enough for an extrapolation in space and time related to the experimental constraints.
- There are three broad types of porosities in compacted bentonite and it is critical to know which porosity is associated with the diffusion of a certain radionuclide and its corresponding diffusion mechanism. In spite of the attempts to clarify the diffusion mechanisms, no mechanistic model exists so far.
- The pore water chemistry plays a vital role in understanding the retardation processes of elements diffusing through compacted bentonite. For this reason, key parameters and assumptions in the pore water chemistry model have to be checked as a function of the initial dry density. The discussion on the right model is still ongoing.
- The mechanistic understanding of cation and anion diffusion is very important to explain certain phenomena, such as ionic exclusion and surface diffusion, but it is still not well known. For example, salinity affects the diffusion of anions, but this effect has not been quantified yet. On the other hand, surface diffusion is controversial, and there are doubts about the existence of interlayer diffusion.

Retention mechanisms

- For a reliable interpretation of the sorption results, the identity of the sorbing aqueous species and sorbed species must be known. However, the aqueous speciation of the actinides is not well known, which can lead to uncertainties in the extension of laboratory measurements to field conditions..
- The processes involved in surface complexation are not so well understood for clay minerals and complex media containing carbonates or organics.
- Also, the role of protonation-deprotonation of surface reactions must be clarified. Some authors indicate that these processes control the pH besides the calcite equilibrium (something which is against the Gibbs phase rule). Anyway, it is clear that these reactions will have a clear control on the sorption capacity of bentonite for some of the radionuclides of interest. Thus, a good characterisation of these reactions and the associated constants must be carried out.

Brine-bentonite processes

• In salt formations, the knowledge on swelling pressure in contact with brines is incomplete. What is the influence of the brine composition in the swelling pressure of the bentonite? What other factors can be involved (dry density, microstructure, flooding regime, sample size)?

Concrete related processes

• Concrete degradation will produce a hyperalkaline plume into the components surrounding the concrete (e.g. bentonite and host rock). Although the degradation sequence is relatively well-known, CASH gels, zeolites and other alumino-silicates are usually difficult to include in the geochemical models due

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

65/106

Dissemination level: PU

to the lack of thermodynamic data. Data bases on highly alkaline groundwaters are needed.

- The porosity variation during concrete degradation seems to be one of the most relevant processes in this component as it could retard or speed up groundwater flow velocity to the bentonite barrier.
- The physico-chemical retention capacity of concrete must be clearly established and the chemical perturbations induced by the concrete on the clay should be quantified, since the current studies only state that the mineralogical transformations originated are very limited.
- What is the effect of concrete degradation on the evolution of the pore water composition and the hydration dynamics of the bentonite (both in clay and salt formations)?
- The chemistry of cementitious materials in the clay barrier is not well known.
- Although the distance of penetration of the high alkaline plume in the bentonite is very small (in the order of mm at the most), there are still some doubts on how technical barriers can be affected when alkaline and/or high saline solutions are in contact with them. More work is required concerning the reaction path prediction of clay material in contact with these solutions.

Influence of brines on the cement processes

• How can the brine-cement interactions affect the pH, stability of cement phases and cement leaching?

Canister corrosion related processes

- Although the corrosion of the copper canister has been demonstrated, it is not an important process for the long-term evolution of a repository, it will be interesting to implement the overall process in a near field model, in order to check the consequences of the copper corrosion on the bentonite, especially for the redox of the system.
- The iron corrosion is a more complicated process. One of the main problems is the difficulty to implement it in a near field model by adding a kinetic rate which can decrease with time, as the passivation layer grows on the canister surface. Moreover, the hydrogen evolution (maximum pressure, out-diffusion from the near field) is one of the problems not really understood, so there is a need for further investigation.
- There is uncertainty on the volume of gas and corrosion products generated. Some available data suggest that the volume of corrosion products could be huge, and its implications on the stress state of the barrier (break-through process) is of major importance. The same could be said if the gas generation rate were large.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04] Dissemination level: PU

Host rock related processes

• The groundwater composition in the host rock is essential for any near field model. Although this could be part of the far field characterisation, some reactions will take place in the host rock portion of the near field (including the EDZ). One of the key points is related to the presence of atmospheric oxygen and CO₂(g) in the EDZ, which can lead to substantial modifications of the alkalinity, pH and Eh. The interaction of the modified groundwater with the host rock minerals (or the fracture filling minerals in the case of a granitic host rock) will result in reactions like sulphide oxidation (mainly pyrite), precipitation of Fe(III) oxy-hydroxides, and dissolution-precipitation of carbonate minerals. However, the understanding of these processes in the EDZ of the host rock must be evaluated by experimental studies. In addition, the effect of bacterial activity on these processes must also be assessed and characterised.

6.1.3. Critical concepts to be developed

There are several concepts related to the near field evolution that require further conceptual and numerical development. The following is a list of the most relevant issues:

- Implementation of the thermal gradient in near field models
- Water saturation of bentonite
- Implementation of bentonite swelling in near field models
- Porosity evolution in bentonite, concrete and host rock
- Atmospheric gases
- Bacterial activity in the near field
- Implementation of processes related to canister corrosion

6.1.4. Missing parameters to be determined

One of the main uncertainties in geochemical models is the composition of the bentonite pore water. Due to the difficulties in obtaining reliable pore water samples from compacted bentonite, the most suitable way to obtain the chemical composition of this pore water is by means of geochemical calculations. For this reason, a good characterisation of the mineralogical composition, as well as the cation occupancies in the exchanger and their associated exchange coefficients must be carefully determined for bentonite densities relevant to repository conditions. In addition, there is a need to clarify the volume fraction of pore water which is involved in chemical reactions.

Quantitative information related to iron and copper corrosion kinetics under repository conditions is also needed, as well as the characterisation of the corrosion products and the maximum depth of corrosion penetration.

6.1.5. Key parameters to be studied:

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

Dissemination level: PU

Date of issue of this report: 31 March 2005
- Short and long-term chemical behaviour of the EBS materials
- Rate of volume expansion or reduction of the EBS materials in contact with brines and hyperalkaline fluids.
- Volume rate of room closure.
- Modifications of the EBS properties as a function of brine chemistry, temperature, rock stress and time.
- Density dependence of cation exchange coefficients and temperature effects on these reactions.
- Good characterization of protonation-deprotonation of surface reactions and the associated constants.
- A better understanding of the stability of the clay minerals. There are some kinetic expressions for the dissolution of smectite, but there is no reliable thermodynamic data. As a consequence, it is not possible to calculate the saturation dependence of the dissolution rate.
- Evolution of the pH, Eh and electric conductivity of the bentonite during the hydration/heating process.
- Further investigation on the chemical and mineralogical irreversible reactions (mobilization/precipitation of SiO₂).
- Characterization of the porosity variation during the concrete degradation.
- Study of the advance of the hyperalkaline plume and the magnitude of the transformations during hydration/saturation of the bentonite.
- Implementation of the overall corrosion process in a near field model
- Understanding the hydrogen evolution (maximum pressure, out-diffusion from the near field).
- Swelling pressures in contact with brines. Determination of the effect of dry density, microstructure, flooding regime, sample dimensions on swelling.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

ANNEX

REFERENCES

CHAPTER 1

[1-1] Nuclear Energy Agency (2002) Report of the Task Group reviewing activities in the area of ageing of concrete structures used to construct nuclear power plant fuel-cycle activities. NEA/CSNI/R(2002)14. <u>http://www.nea.fr/html/nsd/docs/2002/csni-r2002-14.pdf</u>

[1-2] Waste Nuclear Association. Waste Management, Deep Geological Disposal (2004)..Internet <u>http://213.130.58.247/wna-waste/index3.htm</u>.

[1-3] Andersson, J. Ström, A., Svemar, C., Almén, K-E, Ericsson, L. (2000): What requirements does the KBS-3 repository make on the host rock? Geoscientific suitability indicators and criteria for siting and site evaluation. SKB Technical report TR-00-12 http://www.skb.se/templates/skbiframe 9413.aspx

[1-4] SR 97: Processes in the repository evolution (1999). SKB TR-99-07. November 1999.

[1-5] RD&D-Programme 2001 (2001): Programme for research, development and demonstration of methods for the management and disposal of nuclear waste. SKB TR-01-30. September 2001. http://www.skb.se/upload/publications/pdf/TR-01-30.pdf

[1 6] Thegerström, Claes (2000): SKB studies on deep disposal and safety. Lectures and Publications. In: Eurosafe forum 2002, Berlin, 4-5 November, 2002. Seminar 3 - Waste management. Gesellschaft für Anlagen- und Reaktorsicherheit (GRS) mbH, Köln, Germany; Institut de Radioprotection et de Sûreté Nucléaire (IRSN), Fontenay-aux-Roses Cedex, France; 2002

[1-7] Jonsson, Eric (1997): Final storage of MTR fuel in deep rock repository. IAEA/USA interregional training course. Argonne National Laboratory, 13-24 January 1997, L.13.11

[1-8] Hökmark, H and Fälth, B. (2003): Thermal dimensioning of the deep repository: Influence of canister spacing, canister power, rock thermal properties and near-field design on the maximum canister surface temperature. <u>SKB TR-03-09</u>, December 2003.

[1-9] Baltes, B. & Brewitz, W. (2001): Development of site selection criteria for radioactive waste disposal in view of favourable geological settings in Germany. www. eurosafe-forum.org/down2001/semb3_2.doc

[1-10] Posiva Oy (2003): Nuclear Waste Management of the Olkiluoto and Loviisa Power Plants: Programme for Research, Development and Technical Design for 2004-2006. TKS-2003. http://www.posiva.fi/esitteet/TKS-2003.pdf

[1-11] Disposition of high-level radioactive waste through geological isolation: development, current status and technical and policy challenges (2000). The National Academy Press. www.nap.edu/openbook/0309067782/html/1.html.

[1-12] Verstricht, J, Demarche, M., Gatabin, C. (2001): Development of a backfill material within the Belgian concept for geological disposal of high-level radioactive waste: an example of successful international co-operation. WM'01 Conference, February 25-March 1, 2001, Tucson, AZ.

[1-13] NAGRA. Nukleare Entsorgung_Lagerlayout HAA, 2004. http://www.nagra.ch/english/lager/lager.htm

[1-14] The French R&D Programme on Deep Geological Disposal of Radioactive Waste. An international peer review of the "Dossier 2001 Argile". Nuclear Energy Agency, OECD 2003. ISBN 92-64-18260-8. <u>http://www.nea.fr/html/rwm/reports/2003/nea4432-andraeng.pdf</u>

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

69/106

Dissemination level: PU

[1-15] Dossier 2001 Argile. Rapport de synthèse. ANDRA, Decembre 2001, 164 pags. http://www.andra.fr/IMG/pdf/DOSSIER 2001.pdf

[1-16] SURAO. Deep Geological Repository Project. http://www.vidivici.cz/surao2/index.php?c=300

[1-17] Dodd, D.H, Heijdra, J.J., Prij, J. (1997): A repository design for the retrievable disposal of radioactive waste in rock salt. Paper presented at the "4th International workshop on the design and construction of final repositories" 6-8 October 1997, Lucerne, Switzerland. www.ecn.nl/library/reports/1997e/rx97054.html

[1-18] House of Lords. Science and Technology-Third Report, March 1999. Publications on the
internet, session 1998-1999. http://www.parliament.the-stationery-
office.co.uk/pa/ld199899/ldselect/ldsctech/41/4102.htm

[1-19] Beckmerhagen, A. And Brennecke, P.W. (2001): Recent waste disposal related developments in Germany. WM'01 Conference, February 25-March 1, 2001, Tucson, AZ, 12 pages. http://www.wmsym.org/Abstracts/2001/15/15-2.pdf

[1-20] Volkaert, G and Bernier, F. (1996): Functional requirements for the seal and the material for shaft sealing. Final report for the contract CCHO-95-097, task 4.5 with NIRAS/ONDRAF. R-3125.

[1-21] Almacenamiento geológico profundo de residuos radiactivos de alta actividad (AGP): Conceptos preliminares de referencia. ENRESA, publicación técnica 07/94. (in Spanish).

[1-22] Turmero, M.J. and Peña, J. (2003): Geoquímica de formaciones arcillosas: Estudio de la arcilla española de referencia. Informe final CIEMAT/DIAE/54460/11/03. Proyecto TRAMA. (in Spanish).

[1-23] Evaluación del comportamiento y de la seguridad de un almacenamiento profundo en arcilla. ENRESA, publicación técnica 03/99. (in Spanish).

[1-24] Rivas, P., de la Cruz, B., Recreo, F. (2001): Almacenamiento de residuos radiactivos: un problema con solución. Capítulo 5 de Tecnologías Energéticas e Impacto Ambiental, pag 77-93, ISBN: 84-481-3360-9. (in Spanish).

[1-25] Yucca Mountain Project. Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management. http://www.ocrwm.doe.gov/ymp

[1-26] Joint NEA-IAEA International Peer Review of the Yucca Mountain Site CharacterisationProject's Total System Performance Assessment Supporting the Site Recommendation Process,FinalReport,December2001.CopyrightOECD,2001.http://www.ymp.gov/documents/ymipr_a/index2.htm

[1-27] CRWMS (2000a). Civilian Radioactive Waste Management System Management & Operating Contractor: Total System Performance Assessment for the Site Recommendation: TDR-WIS-PA-000001 REV 00 ICN 01, December 2000. In: Joint NEA-IAEA International Peer Review of the Yucca Mountain Site Characterisation Project's Total System Performance Assessment Supporting the Site Recommendation Process, Final Report, December 2001 http://www.ymp.gov/documents/ymipr_a/toc.htm

[1-28] Yucca Mountain Science and Engineering Report Rev 1 DOE/RW-0539-1, February 2002. <u>http://ocrwm.doe.gov/documents/ser_b/index.htm</u>

[1-29] Rawra plans geological works at 6 sites. Press release issued by the Radioactive Waste Repository Authority. Prague, 25.4.2003. <u>http://www.vidivici.cz/surao2/index.php?c=surao 190 2</u>

[1-30] Aerial geophysical measurements of 6 sites completed in 2003. Press release issued by the
Radioactive Waste Repository Authority. Prague, 2003.
http://www.vidivici.cz/surao2/index.php?c=surao_190_4

[1-31] Government approved the concept of radioactive waste management. Press release issuedbytheRadioactiveWasteRepositoryAuthority.Prague,2003.http://www.vidivici.cz/surao2/index.php?c=349

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

70/106

Dissemination level: PU

[1-32] Laciok, A., Nachmilner, L., Woller, F (1991): Geological disposal of radioactive waste in the Czech Republic, chapter 8. In: Geological problems in radioactive waste isolation: the second world wide review. Nuclear Waste program: International projects. Edited by P.A. Witherspoon, LBNL. <u>http://www-esd.lbl.gov/NW/international/wwr/wwr8.pdf</u>

[1-33] ENRESA. Seminario de diseño: Conceptos de almacenamiento. Interim report. 11-12 Mayo 2004. (in Spanish).

[1-34] Sandstedt, H., Pers, K., Birgersson, L., Ageskog, L., Munier, R. (2001): Project JADE. Comparison of repository systems. Executive summary results. SKB Technical report TR-01-17. http://www.skb.se/upload/publications/pdf/TR-01-17webb.pdf

[1-35] The Nuclear Waste Management Organization. Fact Sheet http://www.nwmo.ca/adx/asp/adxGetMedia.asp?DocID=177,20,1,Documents&MediaID=456&Filen ame=Fact_Sheet_1_NWMO.pdf

[1-36] ENRESA. Seminario de diseño: Diseño termo-hidro-mecánico. Interim report. 11-12 Mayo 2004. (in Spanish).

[1-37] NAGRA. Opalinus Clay Project. Demonstration of feasibility of disposal (Entsorgungsnachweis) for spent fuel, vitrified high-level waste and long-lived intermediate-level waste. Summary overview, 2002 http://www.nagra.ch/english/aktuell/presse/ProjektOpa.pdf

[1-38] ENRESA. Seminario de diseño: Repaso general a criterios y factores de diseño, interim report, 11-12 Mayo 2004. (in Spanish).

[1-39] Jorda, M. Geologic Storage of high-level lon-lived radioactive waste- the situation in France. Abstract. <u>http://www.atomwirtschaft.de/e/abstract.cfm?fTDUR=94</u>

[1-40] Davis, M. B. (2002): Nuclear France: materials and sites. http://www.francenuc.org/en_sites/lorr_bure_e.htm

[1-41] Keto, P. (2004): Natural cáliz as backfilling materials in different backfilling conepts. Posiva Working report 2003-79, March 2004. <u>http://www.posiva.fi/tyoraportit/WR_2003-79Natural_c...pdf</u>

[1-42] Sneyers, A., Volckaert, G., Neerdael, B. (2001): The Belgian research, development and demonstration program on the geological disposal of long-lived and high-level radioactive waste and spent fuel in clay formation: status and trends. WM'01 Conference, February 25-March 1, 2001, Tucson, Arizona. http://www.wmsym.org/Abstracts/2001/15/15-5.pdf

[1-43] ONDRAF/NIRAS: SAFIR 2: Safety Assessment and Feasibility Interim Report, NIROND 2001-06E, December 2001. <u>http://www.nirond.be/engels/Safir2_eng.asp#peer-review</u>

[1-44] Herbert, H.J, Meyer, Th.: Corrosion of cementitious materials under geological disposal conditions with resulting effects on the geochemical stability of clay minerals. <u>http://www.eurosafeforum.org/down2001/semb3_5.doc</u>

[1-45] Birgersson, L., Pers, K., Wiborgh, M. (2001): Project JADE. Long-term function and safety. Comparison of repository systems. SKB TR-01-18. December 2001. http://www.skb.se/upload/publications/pdf/TR-01-18webb.pdf

[1-46] NAGRA (2002). Opalinus Clay Project. Safety Report. NTB 02-05. http://www.nagra.ch/english/publi/publi.htm

CHAPTER 2

Role and requirements of the different components of the EBS

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

Dissemination level: PU

Date of issue of this report: 31 March 2005

71/106

[2-1] European Commission. Engineered Barrier System and the safety of deep geological repositories. State-of-the-art report. EUR 19964 EN. OECD 2003. http://www.nea.fr/html/rwm/reports/2003/nea3615-ebs.pdf

[2-2] Andersson, J., Ström, A., Svemar, C., Almén, K-E., Ericsson, L.O. (2000): What requirements does the KBS-3 repository make on the host rock?. <u>SKB TR-00-12</u>.

[2-3] RD&D-Programme 2001 (2001): Programme for research, development and demonstration of methods for the management and disposal of nuclear waste. SKB TR-01-30. September 2001. http://www.skb.se/upload/publications/pdf/TR-01-30.pdf

[2-4] Alonso, J., Becker, D.A., Storck, R., Besnus, F., Pellegrini, D., Serres, C., Johnson, L., Hart, J., Marivoet, <j., Sillen, X., Vieno, T., Nordman, H., Petkovsek, B. (2004): Bentonite barriers in integrated performance assessment (BENIPA). Final Report, EUR 21023 EN.

[2-5] Borgermans, P. (2004). NF-PRO Overview. In NF-PRO portal. <u>http://nf-pro.sckcen.be/home/nf_pro_overview</u>

[2-6] Astudillo, J. (2001): El almacenamiento geológico profundo de los residuos radiactivos de alta actividad: Principios básico y tecnología. ENRESA ISBN: 84-931224-4-0, 200 pages (in Spanish).

[2-7] Verstricht, J, Demarche, M., Gatabin, C. (2001): Development of a backfill material within the Belgian concept for geological disposal of high-level radioactive waste: an example of successful international co-operation. WM'01 Conference, February 25-March 1, 2001, Tucson, AZ.

[2-8] Keto, P. (2004): Natural cáliz as backfilling materials in different backfilling conepts. Posiva Working report 2003-79, March 2004. <u>http://www.posiva.fi/tyoraportit/WR 2003-79Natural_c...pdf</u>

[2-9] Material specification. Shaft sealing system. Compliance submittal design report. Attachment 12 Appendix A. Waste isolation Pilot Plant Hazardous Waste Permit. August 2001.

[2-10] CIVL1101 Properties of concrete. History of concrete building construction. http://www.ce.memphis.edu/1101/notes/concrete/section_3_properties.html

Characteristics of the initial materials:container

[2-11] Werme, L. Innovations, Nuclear Sweden 1999: Copper applications in Health and Environment, The Swedish program for long term isolation of high level nuclear waste in copper canisters. http://www.copper.org/innovations/1999/07/nuclear_sweden.html

[2-12] SKB: Deep repository for spent nuclear fuel. http://www.skb.se/upload/publications/pdf/Djupfor_eng.pdf

[2-13] Kundig, K. (1998): Innovations, Nuclear Sweden 1998: Copper applications in Health and Environment, Copper's role in the safe disposal of radioactive waste: Copper's relevant properties-Part I. <u>http://www.copper.org/innovations/1998/12/nuclear.html</u>

[2-14] Stainless steel technical details. http://www.dline.com/PAGE0502.htm

[2-15]	Outokumpu	stainless.	About	stainless.
http://www.	outokumpu.com/template/Page_	<u>5758.asp</u>		
[2-16]	Efunda,	Enginee	ring	fundamentals.
http://www.efunda.com/materials/alloys/alloy_home/steels_properties.cfm				

Characteristics of the initial materials: bentonitic clay

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

Dissemination level: PU

Date of issue of this report: 31 March 2005

72/106

[2-17] Bolt, G.H., 1982. Thermodynamics of cation exchange. In: G.H. Bolt (Editor), Soil chemistry B. Physico-chemical models. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 27-46.

[2-18] Bradbury, M.H., Baeyens, B., 1997. A mechanistic description of Ni and Zn sorption on Namontmorillonite. Part II: Modelling. J. Contaminant Hydrology 27, pp. 223-248.

[2-19] Bradbury, M.H., Baeyens, B., 2002. Pore water chemistry in compacted re-saturated MX-80 bentonite: Physico-chemical characterisation and geochemical modelling. PSI Bericht Nr. 02-10 Paul Scherrer Institut, Villigen, Switzerland and Nagra Technical Report NTB 01-08, Nagra, Wettingen, Switzerland (http://les.web.psi.ch/publications/abstracts/PSI_Bericht02-10.pdf).

[2- 20] Bradbury, M., Baeyens, B., 2003b. Near Field Sorption Data Bases for Compacted MX-80 Bentonite for Performance assessment of a High-Level Radioactive Waste Repository in Opalinus Clay Host Rock. PSI Bericht 03-07.

[2-21] Delgado, A., Reyes, E., 1996. Oxigen and hydrogen isotope compositions in clay minerals: a potential single-mineral geothermometer. Geochim. et. Cosmochim. Acta, Vol 60, No. 21, pp. 4285-4289.

[2- 22] Fernández, A.M^a, Cuevas, J., Rivas, P., 2001. Pore water chemistry of the FEBEX bentonite. Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Pro. 663, pp. 573-588.

[2-23] Fernández, A.M., Arcos, D., Pelayo, M., Tsige, M, Fernández-Soler, J.M., Pérez del Villar, L., Rivas, P. 2004 a. Natural analogues in the performance assessment of a nuclear waste disposal: The Cortijo de Archidona deposit and the Salinity effect. BARRA II Project. CIEMAT Report CIEMAT/DIAE/54450/6/03.

[2- 24] Fernández, A.M^a, 2004. Caracterización y modelización del agua intersticial en materiales arcillosos: Estudio de la bentonita de Cortijo de Archidona. Ph. D. Thesis. Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, 505 pp (in Spanish).

[2-25] Fernández, A.M^a., Baeyens, B., Bradbury, M., Rivas, P., 2004 b. Analysis of the pore water chemical composition of a Spanish compacted bentonite used in an engineered barrier. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Vol. 29/1, pp. 105-118.

[2-26] Gaines, H.C., Thomas, H.C., 1953. Adsorption studies on clay minerals. II. A formulation of the thermodynamics of exchange adsorption. Chem. Phys., 21, pp. 714-718.

[2- 27] Gast, R.G., 1972. Alkali metal cation exchange on Chambers montmorillonite. Soil. Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 36, pp. 14-25.

[2- 28] Gilbert, M., Laudelout, H., 1965. Exchange properties of hydrogen ions in clays. Soil Sci. 100, pp. 157-162.

[2-29] Grim, R. E., 1972. International Clay Conference. Madrid. Spain. Introduction of <u>http://www.google.es/search?q=cache:E1sNgLKTupMJ:www.ucm.es/info/crismine/Pagina%2520w</u>eb/BENTONIT.htm+Grim+International+Clay+Conference+Madrid+1972&hl=es

[2- 30] Huertas, F., Fuentes-Cantillana, J.L., Jullien, F., Rivas, P., Linares, J., Fariña, P., Ghoreychi, M., Jockwer, N., Kickmaier, W., Martínez, M.A., Samper, J., Alonso, E., Elorza, F.J., 2000. Full-scale engineered barriers experiment for a deep geological repository for high-level radioactive waste in crystalline host rock (FEBEX project). European Commission Report EUR 19147 EN.

[2-31] Kozaki, T., Sato, H., Fujishima, A., Sato, S., Ohashi, H., 1998. Self-diffusion of sodium ions in compacted sodium montmorillonite. Nuclear. Technology, 121, pp. 63-69.

[2-32] Kraehenbuehl, F., Stoeckli, H.F., Brunner, F., Kahr, G., Mueller-Vonmoos, M., 1987. Study of the water-bentonite system by vapour adsorption, immersion calorimetry and X-ray diffraction techniques: I. Micropore volumes and internal surface areas, following Dubinin's theory. Clay Minerals 22, pp. 1-9.

[2-33] Missana, T., Turrero, M.J., Adell, A., 1999. Surface charge and electrophoretic properties of colloids obtained from homoionic and natural bentonite. Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Pro. XXIII, 608.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

73/106

Dissemination level: PU

[2-34] Müller-Vonmoos, M., Karh, G., 1983. Mineralogische Untersuchungen von Wyoming Bentonite MX-80 und Montigel. NTB 83-13, Nagra, Wettingen, Switzerland (in German).

[2-35] Pusch, R., 1983. Stability of deep-sited smectite minerals in crystalline rock-chemical aspects. SKFG/KBS TR 83-16.

[2-36] Pusch, R. 2001. The buffer and backfill handbook. Part 2: Materials and techniques. SKB Technical Report TR-02-12

[2-37] Roskill Information Services Ltd, 2001. The economics of bentonite. 9th ed. Roskill Inform. Services, Clpham Road, Londo SW9 0JA, UK. <u>http://www.roskill.com/reports/bentonite</u>.

[2-38] Sposito, G., Holtzclaw, K.M., Charlet, L., Jouny, C., Page, A.L., 1983. Sodium-calcium and sodium-magnesium exchange on Wyoming bentonite in perchlorate and chloride background media. Soil. Sci. Am. J. 47, pp. 51-56.

[2-39] Villar, M.V., 2002. Thermo-hydro-mechanical characterisation of a bentonite from Cabo de Gata. ENRESA Publicación Técnica 04/2002.

Characteristics of the initial materials: Portland cement

[2-40] Hidalgo, A., Alonso, C., Andrade, C., Fernández, L. (2003): Review of concrete formulations defined for nuclear waste repositories. ECOCLAY II, WP 2, IETCC (CSIC).

[2-41] Huertas, F. Farias, J., Griffault, L., Leguey, S., Cuevas, J., Ramírez, S., Vigil de la Villa, R., Cobeña, J., Andrade, C., Alonso, M.C., Hidalgo, A., Parneix, J.C., Rassineux, F., Bouchet., Meunier, A., Decarreau, A., Petit, S., Vieillard, P. (2000): Effects of cement on clay barrier performance ECOCLAY I project. EUR 19609, final report.

Physico-chemical characteristics and types of water in compacted bentonite

[2-42] Bradbury, M.H., Baeyens, B., 1998. A physico-chemical characterisation and geochemical modelling approach for determining pore water chemistries in argillaceous rocks. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 62, pp. 783-795.

[2-43] Bradbury, M.H., Baeyens, B., 2002. Pore water chemistry in compacted re-saturated MX-80 bentonite: Physico-chemical characterisation and geochemical modelling. PSI Bericht Nr. 02-10 Paul Scherrer Institut, Villigen, Switzerland and Nagra Technical Report NTB 01-08, Nagra, Wettingen, Switzerland (http://les.web.psi.ch/publications/abstracts/PSI_Bericht02-10.pdf).

[2-44] Bradbury, M.H., Baeyens, B., 2002b. Sorption of Eu on Na- and Ca-montmorillonites: experimental investigations and modelling with cation exchange and surface complexation. Geochim. et Cosmochim. Acta, vol 66, n° 15.

[2-45] Bruno, J., Arcos, D., Duro, L., 1999. Processes and features affecting the near field hydrochemistry. Groundwater-bentonite interaction. SKB Tech. Rep. 99-29.

[2-46] Cases, J.M., Bérend, I., Besson, G., Francois, M., Uriot, J.P., Thomas, F., Poirier, J.E., 1992. Mechanism of adsorption and desorption of water vapor by homoionic montmorillonite. 1. The sodium-exchanged form. Langmuir, 8, pp. 2730-2739.

[2-47] Curti E., 1993. Modelling bentonite pore waters for the Swiss High-level Radioactive Waste Repository. Nagra Technical Report NTB 93-45. 85 pp.

[2-48] Fernández, A.M^a, Cuevas, J., Rivas, P., 2001. Pore water chemistry of the FEBEX bentonite. Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Pro. 663, pp. 573-588.

[2-49] Fernández, A.M^a., Rivas, P., 2003a. Analysis of the types and distribution of waters in the FEBEX bentonite used as an engineered barrier. Proceedings of the International Conference of

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

74/106

Dissemination level: PU

the European Clay Group Association. EUROCLAY 2003. June 22-26th, Modena, Italy. Submitted to Aplied Clay Science.

[2-50] Fernández A.M^a; Rivas P., 2003b. Analysis and distribution of waters in the compacted FEBEX bentonite: Pore water chemistry and adsorbed water properties. International Congress Large Scale Field Tests in Granite. Field emplacement and instrumentation techniques. Sitges, 12-14th 2003.

[2-51] Fernández A.M^a; Rivas P., 2003c. Pore water chemistry of saturated FEBEX bentonite compacted at different densities. International Congress Large Scale Field Test in Granite. Chemical effects. HC and THMC modelling. Sitges, 12-14th 2003.

[2-52] Fernández, A.M., Arcos, D., Pelayo, M., Tsige, M, Fernández-Soler, J.M., Pérez del Villar, L., Rivas, P. 2004. Natural analogues in the performance assessment of a nuclear waste disposal: The Cortijo de Archidona deposit and the Salinity effect. BARRA II Project. CIEMAT Report CIEMAT/DIAE/54450/6/03.

[2-53] Fernández, A.M^a, 2004. Caracterización y modelización del agua intersticial en materiales arcillosos: Estudio de la bentonita de Cortijo de Archidona. Ph. D. Thesis. Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, 505 pp.

[2-54] Fernández, A.M^a., Baeyens, B., Bradbury, M., Rivas, P., 2004. Analysis of the pore water chemical composition of a Spanish compacted bentonite used in an engineered barrier. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Vol. 29/1, pp. 105-118.

[2-55] Forslind, E., 1948a. Crystal structure and water adsorption of clay minerals. Svenska Forskningsinstitut fur cement och Betong. Meddelande n. 11, 20 pp.

[2-56] Grim, R.E., 1968. Clay Mineralogy, 2nd edition. McGraw-Hill. New York. 596 pp.

[2-57] Grim, R. E., 1972. International Clay Conference. Madrid. Spain.

[2-58] Güven, N., Low, P.F., Mitchell, J.K., Sposito, G., van Olphen, H., 1992. Clay-Water interface and its rheological implications. CMS Workshop Lectures. Volume 4. R.E., Ferrel Editor. The Clay Minerals Society. Colorado. USA.

[2-59] Hendricks, S.B., Jefferson, M. W., 1938. Structures of kaolin and talc-pyrophyllite hydrates and their bearing on water sorption of the clays. Amer. Min., v. 23, pp. 863-875.

[2-60] Huertas, F., Fuentes-Cantillana, J.L., Jullien, F., Rivas, P., Linares, J., Fariña, P., Ghoreychi, M., Jockwer, N., Kickmaier, W., Martínez, M.A., Samper, J., Alonso, E., Elorza, F.J., 2000. Full-scale engineered barriers experiment for a deep geological repository for high-level radioactive waste in crystalline host rock (FEBEX project). European Commission Report EUR 19147 EN.

[2-61] Karnland, O., 1997. Bentonite swelling pressure in strong NaCl solutions. Correlation between model calculations and experimentally determined data. SKB technical report 97-31, 30 pp.

[2-62] Karland, O., Muurinen, A., Karlsson, F., 2003. Bentonite swelling pressure in NaCl solutions. Experimentally determined data and model calculations. International symposium Large Scale Field tests in Granite. 12-14 November 2003, Sitges.

[2-63] Kozaki, T., Sato, H., Fujishima, A., Sato, S., Ohashi, H., 1998. Self-diffusion of sodium ions in compacted sodium montmorillonite. Nuclear Technology, 121, pp. 63-69.

[2-64] Kraehenbuehl, F., Stoeckli, H.F., Brunner, F., Kahr, G., Mueller-Vonmoos, M., 1987. Study of the water-bentonite system by vapour adsorption, immersion calorimetry and X-ray diffraction techniques: I. Micropore volumes and internal surface areas, following Dubinin's theory. Clay Minerals 22, pp. 1-9.

[2-65] Laird, D.A., 1999. Layer charge influences on the hydration of expandable 2:1 phyllosilicates. Clays and Clay Minerals, vol. 47, 5, pp. 630-636.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

75/106

Dissemination level: PU

[2-66] MacEwan, D.M.C., Wilson, M., 1980. Interlayer and intercalation complexes of clay minerals. In: Crystal Structures of Clay minerals and their X-ray identification. F.W. Brindley and G. Brown eds. Mineral Soc. Monogr. 5, London, pp. 197-248.

[2-67] Muurinen, A., Penttila-Hiltunen, P., Rantanen, J., Uusheimo, K., 1987. Diffusion of uranium and chloride in compacted Na-bentonite. Report YJT-87-14. Nuclear waste Commission of Finnish Power Companies, Helsinki, Finland.

[2-68] Muurinen, A., 1994. Diffusion of anions and cations in compacted sodium bentonite. Technical research centre of Finland. VTT publications 168, 75 pp.

[2-69] Muurinen, A., Lehikoinen, J., 1998. Evolution of the pore water chemistry in compacted bentonite. Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc. Vol. 506, pp. 415-422.

[2-70] Muurinen, A., Panttila-Hiltunen, P., Rantanen, J., Uusheimo, K., 1998. Model for diffusion and pore water chemistry in compacted bentonite. POSIVA report 97-02. Posiva Oy, Helsinki, Finland.

[2-71] Muurinen, A., Lehikoinen, J., 1999. Pore water chemistry in compacted bentonite. Engineering Geology, 54, pp. 207-214.

[2-72] Muurinen, A., Karland, O., Leihikoinen, J., 2004. Ion concentration caused by an external solution into pore water of compacted bentonite. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, 29, pp. 119-127.

[2-73] Newman, A.C.D., 1987. Chemistry of Clays and Clay Minerals. Mineral Society. Monograph N° 6. Longman Scientific & Technical, 480 pp.

[2-74] Norrish, K., 1954. The swelling of montmorillonite. Discuss. Faraday Soc. 18, 120-133.

[2-75] Pearson, F.J., Arcos, D., Bath, A., Boisson, J. Y., Fernández, A.M^a, Gäbler, H-E, Gaucher, E., Gautschi, A., Griffault, L., Hernán, P., Waber, H.N., 2003. Geochemistry of water in the Opalinus Clay Formation at the Mont Terri Rock Laboratory. Swiss Federal Office for Water and Geology Series, N^o 5, 319 pp.

[2-76] Pusch, R., Karnland, O., Hökmark, H., 1990. GMM. A microstructural model for qualitative and quantitative studies of smectite clays. SKB technical report 90-43, 94 pp.

[2-77] Pusch, R., Muurinen, A., Lehikoinen, J., Bors, J., Eriksen, T. 1999. Microstructural and chemical parameters of bentonite as determinants of waste isolation efficiency. European Commission. Nuclear Science and Technology. Project Report EUR 18950 EN.

[2-78] Sposito, G., 1983. The surface chemistry of soils. Oxford University Press, N.Y., 234 pp.

[2-79] Touret, O., Pons, C.H., Tessier, D. et Tardy, Y., 1990. Etude de la reparticion de Léau dans des argiles saturees Mg²⁺ aux fortes teneurs en eau. Clay Minerals 25, pp. 217-233.

[2-80] van Olphen, 1977. An introduction to Clay Colloid Chemistry for clay technologies, geologists and soil scientists. John Wiley, N.Y., 318 pp.

[2-81] Wanner, H., Wersin, P., Sierro, N., 1992. Thermodynamic modelling of bentonitegroundwater interaction and implications for near field chemistry in a repository for spent fuel. SKB 92-37, 28 pp.

[2-82] Wieland, E., Wanner, H., Albinsson, Y., Wersin, P., Karland, O., 1994. A surface chemical model of the bentonite-water interface and its implications for modelling the near field chemistry in a repository for spent fuel. SKB Technical Report 94-26. 64 pp.

EBS components: container

[2-83] Demonstration of disposal feasibility for spent fuel, vitrified high-level waste and long-lived intermediate-level waste (Entsorgungsnachweis) Project Opalinus Clay Safety. Nagra Technical Report NTB 02-05. <u>http://www.nagra.ch/english/publi/publi.htm</u>

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

76/106

Dissemination level: PU

Thermal-hydraulic-mechanical characteristics of compacted bentonite

[2-84] Beziat, A.; Dardaine, M. & Gabis, V.(1988): Effect of compaction pressure and water content on the thermal conductivity of some natural clays. *Clays and Clay Minerals* 36(5): 462-466.

[2-85] Börgesson, L.; Johannensson, L.E.; Sandén, T. & Hernelind, J.(1995): Modelling of the physical behaviour of water saturated clay barriers. Laboratory tests, material models and finite element application. *SKB Technical Report* TR-95-20. 105 pp. Stockholm.

[2-86] Burghignoli, A.; Desideri, A. & Miliziano, S. (2000): A laboratory study on the thermomechanical behaviour of clayey soils. *Can. Geotech. J.* 37: 764-780.

[2-87] Cuisinier, O. & Masrouri, F. (2001): Study of the hydromechanical behaviour of a swelling soil from low to very high suctions. Proc. 6th Int. Workshop on Key Issues on Waste Isolation Research. Paris, 28-30 November, pp 61-70.

[2-88] ENRESA (2000): FEBEX Project. Full-scale engineered barriers experiment for a deep geological repository for high level radioactive waste in crystalline host rock. Final Report. *Publicación Técnica ENRESA* 1/2000. 354 pp. Madrid.

[2-89] Engelhardt, I.(2003): Inverse modeling of gas, water and heat flow in bentonite/crushed rock backfill. *Proc. TOUGH Sypm.* 2003. LBNL, Berkeley, USA, May 12-14.

[2-90] Karnland, O.; Pusch, R. & Sandén, T.(1992): The importance of electrolyte on the physical properties of MX-80 bentonite. *SKB Report* AR 92-35. (In Swedish).

[2-91] Karnland, O.; Pusch, R. & Sandén, T. (1994): Buffer material characterisation. *SKB Report* AR 94-60. (In Swedish).

[2-92] Karnland, O.; Muurinen, A. & Karlsson, F.(2003): Bentonite swelling pressure in NaCl solutions – experimentally determined data and model calculations. *Proc. Int. Workshop Large scale field tests in granite. Advances in understanding and research needs.* Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya-ENRESA. Sitges, November 12-14th 2003.

[2-93] Lingnau, B.E.; Graham, J.; Yarechewski, D.; Tanaka, N. & Gray, M.N. (1996): Effects of temperature on strength and compressibility of sand-bentonite buffer. *Eng. Geol.* 41 (1-4): 103-115.

[2-94] Lloret, A.; Villar M.V. & Pintado X.(2002): Ensayos THM: Informe de síntesis. Internal Report CIEMAT/DIAE/54520/1/02. *FEBEX Report* 70-UPC-M-0-04. 98 pp. Barcelona. (In Spanish).

[2-95] Lloret, A.; Villar, M.V.; Sánchez, M.; Gens, A.; Pintado, X. & Alonso, E.E. (2003): Mechanical behaviour of heavily compacted bentonite under high suction changes. Géotechnique 53(1): 27-40.

[2-96] Lloret, A.; Villar, M.V. & Romero, E.(2004): Final report on thermo-hydro-mechanical laboratory tests. Deliverable D17/3. *FEBEX report*. Barcelona.

[2-97] Mata, C. & Ledesma, A. (2003): Hydro-mechanical behaviour of bentonite-based mixtures in engineered barriers. *Proc. Int. Workshop Large scale field tests in granite. Advances in understanding and research needs.* Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya-ENRESA. Sitges, November 12-14th 2003.

[2-98] Nakano, M.; Ameniya, Y. & Fujii, K.(1986): Saturated and unsaturated hydraulic conductivity of swelling clays. *Soil Science* 141(1): 1-6.

[2-99] Olsen, H.W.(1962): Hydraulic flow through saturated clays. 9th Nat. Conf. On Clays and Clay Minerals. *Pergamon*. Oxford. 170-182.

[2-100] Pintado, X. (2002): Caracterización del comportamiento termo-hidro-mecánico de arcillas expansivas. *Ph.D. Thesis*. Universitat Politécnica de Catalunya. Barcelona. (In Spanish).

[2-101] Pintado X.; Ledesma, A. & Lloret, A. (2002): Backanalysis of thermohydraulic bentonite properties from laboratory tests. *Eng. Geol.* 64: 91-115.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

77/106

Dissemination level: PU

[2-102] Pusch, R.(1994): Waste disposal in rock. Developments in Geotechnical Engineering 76. *Elsevier*. Amsterdam. 490 pp.

[2-103] Pusch, R.(1995): Selection of buffer materials with special respect to their performance in a long-term perspective. *SKB Report* AR 95-21. Stockholm.

[2-104] Pusch, R.; Karnland, O. & Hökmark, H. (1990): GMM -A general microstructural model for qualitative and quantitative studies on smectite clays. *SKB Technical Report* TR 90-43, Stockholm. 94 pp.

[2-105] Romero, E. & Vaunat, J.(2000): Retention curves of deformable clays. In: A. Tarantino, & C. Mancuso (Eds.), Experimental evidences and theoretical approaches in unsaturated soils. *Balkema*, Rotterdam, 91-106.

[2-106] Romero, E.; Villar, M.V. & Lloret, A. (2001a): Thermo-hydro-mechanical behaviour of two heavily overconsolidated clays. *Proc.* 6th Int. Workshop Key Issues in Waste Isolation Research. ENPC, Paris, 28-30 November 2001.

[2-107] Romero, E.; Gens, A. & Lloret, A. (2001b): Temperature effects on the hydraulic behaviour of an unsaturated clay. *Geotechnical and Geological Engineering* 19: 311-332.

[2-108] Romero, E.; Gens, A. & Lloret, A. (2003): Suction effects on a compacted clay under nonisothermal conditions. *Géotechnique* 53 (1): 65-81.

[2-109] SKB (1999): Processes in the repository evolution. *SKB Technical Report* TR-99-07. 271 pp. Stockholm.

[2-110] Sugita, Y.; Chijimatsu, M. & Suzuki, H. (2003): Fundamental properties of bentonite pellet for prototype repository project. *Proc. Int. Workshop Large scale field tests in granite. Advances in understanding and research needs*. Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya-ENRESA. Sitges, November 12-14th 2003.

[2-111] Sultan, N.; Delage, P. & Cui, Y.J. (2002): Temperature effects on the volume change behaviour of Boom clay. *Eng. Geol.* 64: 135-145.

[2-112] Thomas, H.R.; Cleall, P.J.; Chandler, N.; Dixon, D. & Mitchell, H.P. (2003): Water infiltration into a large-scale in-situ experiment in an underground research laboratory. *Géotechnique* 53(2): 207-224.

[2-113] Towhata, I.; Kuntiwattanakul, P.; Seko, I. & Ohishi, K. (1993): Volume change of clays induced by heating as observed in consolidation tests. *Soils and Foundations* 33(4): 170-183.

[2-114] Van Geet, M.; Maes, N.; Bastiens, W.; Moors, H.; Volckaert, G.; Plas, F.; Imbert, Ch.; Caron-Charles, M.; Maugis, P.; Villar, M.V.; Mingarro, M.; García-Gutiérrez, M.; Gens, A. & Valleján, B. (2003): A large scale in situ demonstration test for repository sealing in an argillaceous host rock – phase II. 3rd Scientific Report EC Contract FIKW-CT-2000-00010. 50 pp. Mol.

[2-115] Villar, M.V. (2002): Thermo-hydro-mechanical characterisation of a bentonite from Cabo de Gata. A study applied to the use of bentonite as sealing material in high level radioactive waste repositories. *Publicación Técnica* ENRESA 01/2002. 258 pp. Madrid.

[2-116] Villar, M.V. & Lloret, A. (2001): Variation of the intrinsic permeability of expansive clays upon saturation. In: Adachi, K & Fukue, M (eds.) Clay Science for Engineering. *Balkema*, Rotterdam. pp. 259-266.

[2-117] Villar, M.V. & Lloret, A. (2003): Temperature influence on the mechanical behaviour of a compacted bentonite. *Proc. Int. Conf. Coupled THMC Processes in Geo-systems: Fundamentals, Modelling, Experiments & Applications.* GeoProc 2003. (Part 1): 297-302. Stockholm, October 13-15th.

[2-118] Villar, M.V. & Lloret, A. (in press): Influence of temperature on the hydro-mechanical behaviour of a compacted bentonite. *Applied Clay Science*.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

78/106

Dissemination level: PU

[2-119] Villar, M.V.; Lloret, A. & Romero, E. (2003): Thermo-mechanical and geochemical effects on the permeability of high-density clays. *Proc. Int. Workshop Large scale field tests in granite. Advances in understanding and research needs.* Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya-ENRESA. Sitges, November 12-14th 2003.

[2-120] Volckaert, G.; Dereeper, B.; Put, M.; Ortiz, L.; Gens, A.; Vaunat, J.; Villar, M.V.; Martín, P.L.; Imbert, C.; Lassabatère, T.; Mouche, E. & Cany, F. (2000) : A large-scale in situ demonstration test for repository sealing in an argillaceous host rock. Reseal project – Phase I. Commission of the European Communities. EUR 19612. 273 pp. Luxembourg.

[2-121] Wiebe, B.; Graham, J.; Tang, G. X. & Dixon, D. (1998): Influence of pressure, saturation and temperature on the behaviour of unsaturated sand-bentonite. *Can. Geotech. J.* 35: 194-205.

[2-122] Yahia-Aissa, M. (1999) : Comportement hydromécanique d'une argile gonflante fortement compactée. *Ph. D. Thesis*, École Nationale des Ponts et Chaussées, CERMES, Paris. (In French).

[2-123] Yong, R.N.; Boonsinsuk, P. & Wong, G. (1986): Formulation of backfill material for a nuclear fuel waste disposal vault. *Can. Geotech. J.* 23: 216-228.

Concrete:

[2-124] Berner U.R. (1992): Evolution of pore water chemistry during degradation of cement in a radiactive waste repository environment. *Waste Management*, 12, 201-219.

[2-125] Bentz D.P. Garboczi E.J. Largergren E.S. (1998): Multi-Scale microstructural modeling of concrete diffusivity: identification of significant variables. *Cement, Concrete, and Aggregates*, CCAGDP, Vol. 20, No. 1, June 1998, pp. 129-139

[2-126] Bourbon X. (2003): Chemical conceptual model for cement based materials: mineral phases and thermodynamic data. ANDRA, Technical Report C.NT.ASCM.03.026, 15pp.

[2-127] Bye G.C. (1983): Portland Cement: Composition, Production and Properties. Pergamon Press, NY, 111 pp.

[2-128] Clifton J.R., Knab L.I. (1989): Service life of concrete. NISTIR 89-4086 U.S. Department of commerce.

[2-129] Erdogdu S. Kondratova I.L. Bremner T.W. (2004): Determination of chloride diffusion coefficient of concrete using open-circuit potential measurements. *Cement and Concrete Research* Vol. 34, Isuue 4, April 2004, pp 603-609.

[2-130] Gawin D., Pesavento F. (2003): Modelling of hygro-thermal behaviour of concrete at high temperature with thermo-chemical and mechanical material degradation. Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Eng., 192, 1731-1771.

[2-131] Hirsch P., Birchall J.D., Double D.D., Kelly A., Moir G.K., Pomeroy C.D. (1983): Developments in the science and technology of hydraulic cements. *Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. Lond.*, 310, 1-207.

[2-132] Jiang W., Roy D.M. (1994): Ancient analogues concerning stability and durability of cementitious waste forms. Material Resources Soc. Symp. Proc., vol. 333.

[2-133] Johnston H.M. Wilmot D.J. (1992): Sorption and diffusion studies in cemetitious grouts. *Waste Management*, Vol. 12, pp. 289-297.

[2-134] Kjellsen K.O., Jennings H.M., Lagerblad B. (1996): Evidence of hollow shells in the microstructure of cement paste. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 26(4), 593-599.

[2-135] Lagerblad B. (2001): Leaching performance of concrete based on studies of samples from old concrete constructions. SKB TR 01-27. 85pp.

[2-136] Onofrei M., Gray M.N., Coons W.E., Alcorn S.R. (1992): High performance cement-based grouts for use in a nuclear waste disposal facility. *Waste Management*, 12, 133-154.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

79/106

Dissemination level: PU

[2-137] Ramachandran V.S., Beaudoin J.J. (eds.) (2001): Handbook of Analytical Techniques in Concrete Science and Technology. Noyes Publications. 985pp.

[2-138] Rossi P. (1991): Influence of cracking in the presence of free water on the mechanical behaviour of concrete. Magazine of Concrete Research, 43(154), 53-57.

http://www.civil.northwestern.edu/people/jennings/PDF/publications%201.html

[2-139] Tang L. Nilsson L.O. (1992): Chloride diffusivity in high strength concrete at different ages. *Nordic Concrete Research* 11(1) pp. 162-171

[2-140] Yaman I.O., Hearn N., Aktan H.M. (2002): Active and non-active porosity in concrete. Part I: Experimental evidence. *Materials and Structures*, 35(246), 450-457.

[2-141] Vigil de la Villa, R., Ramírez, S., Cuevas, J. y Leguey, S.(1999). Formación de filipsita en la alteración hidrotermal de la bentonita de La Serrata de Nijar (Almería)a pH básico. Geotemas 1(1), 2000, 295-297.

[2-142] Christensen B.J., Mason T.O., Jennings H.M. (1996): Comparison of measured and calculated permeabilities for hardened cement pastes. Cement and Concrete Research, 26(9), 1325-1334.

[2-143] Walton J.C., Seitz R.R. (1992): Fluid flow trough fractures in below ground concrete vaults. Waste Management, 12, 179-187.

[2-144] Taylor, H.F.W. (1987): Bound water in cement pastes and its significance for pore solution compositions. In proceedings from Scientific Basis for Waste Management. Materials Research Society, Vol. 85, pp. 47-53.

[2-145] Taylor, H.F.W. (1987): A method for predicting alkali ion concentrations in cement pore solutions. Advances in Cement Research, 1 pp. 5-16. Adler M.(2001): Interaction of Claystone and Hyperalkaline Solutions at 30°C: A Combined Experimental and Modeling Study. Tesis Doctoral, Universidad de Berna.

[2-146] Leguey, S., Cuevas, J., Ramírez, S., Vigil, R. y Martín, M. (2002): Alteración alcalina hidrotermal de la barrera de bentonita por aguas intersticiales de cementos. Publicación Técnica de Enresa, 03/2002, 172 pp (in Spanish).

[2-147] Jennings H.M. (2004): Colloid model of C-S-H and implications to the problem of creep and shrinkage. Materials and Structures / Concrete Science and Engineering, Vol. 37, January-February 2004, pp 59-70.

[2-148] Thomas J.J. and Jennings H.M.(in press): A colloidal interpretation pf chemical aging of the C-S-H and its effects on the properties of cement paste. Cem. Concr. Res. (in press).

[2-149] S. Dal Pont, B.A. Schrefler, A. Ehrlacher (2004): http://fluid.ippt.gov.pl/ictam04/text/sessions/docs/SM15/12114/SM15_12114.pdf

[2-150] Andersson, K., Allard B., Bentsson, M., Mangnusson, B. 1989. Chemical composition of cement pore solutions. Cem. Concr. Res., Vol 19, pp 327-332.

[2-151] Lea M.F. (1979). The chemistry of cement and concrete. Edward Arnold Ltd.

[2-152] Onofrei, M., 1987. Leaching studies of concrete materials for nuclear fuel waste immobilizations containers. In: The geological disposal of high level radioactive wastes. D.G. Brookins (Editor) Theopharastus publications, pp. 351-395.

[2-153] Atkins, M., Glasser, F.P., 1992. Application of Portland cement-based materials to radiactive waste immobilization. Waste Management, Vol. 12, pp. 105-131.

[2-154] Reardon, E.J., 1992. Problems and approaches to the prediction of the chemical composition in cement/water system. Waste Management, Vol. 12, pp. 221-239.

[2-155] Baes, C.F., Mesmer, R.E., 1976. The hydrolysis of cations. John Wiley and Sons, Inc.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

80/106

Dissemination level: PU

[2-156] Berner, U.R., 1992. Evolution of pore water chemistry during degradation of cement in a radioactive waste repository environment. Waste Management, Vol. 12, pp. 201-219.

[2-157] Neall F.B. (1996) Modelling the long term chemical evolution of cement ground water systems. MRS Symp. Proc., 412, 483-490.

[2-158] Atkins M., Glasser F., Kindness A., Bennett D., Dawes A. & Read D. (1991) A thermodynamic model for blended cement. DoE HMIP/RR/92/005.

[2-159] Savage D., Rochelle C.A. (1993). Modelling reactions between cement pore fluids and rock: implications for porosity change. J. of Cont. Hydr., 13.

[2-160] Brodersen, K., 1992. Leaching due to hydroscopic water uptake in cemented waste cointaining soluble salts. Waste Management, Vol. 12, pp. 261-269.

[2-161] Vieno, T., Lehikoinen, J., Föfman, J., Nordman, H., Mészáros, F., (2003). Assessment of Disturbances caused by construction and operation of ONKALO. POSIVA 2003-06 (http://www.posiva.fi/raportit/Posiva_2003-06.pdf).

[2-162] ONDRAF/NIRAS, 2001. Technical overview of the SAFIR 2 report. Belgian agency for radioactive waste and enriched fissile material (<u>http://www.nirond.be/engels/Safir2 eng.asp</u>).

[2-163] Johnson, L.H., LeNeveu, D.M., King, F., Shoesmith, D.W., Kolar, M., Oscarson, D.W., Sunder, S., Onofrei, C., Crosthwaite, J.L., 1996. The disposal of Canada's nuclear waste: A study of postclosure safety of in-room emplacement of used CANDU fuel in copper containers in permeable plutonic rock. Volume 2: Vault Model. Atomic Energy Canada Limited, Report AECL-11494-2, COG-95-552-2.

[2-164] JNC, 2000. H12: Project to establish the scientific and technical basis for HLW disposal in Japan. Supporting Report 3. Safety assessment of the geological disposal system. Japan Nuclear Cycle Development Institute. Report JNC TN1410 2000-04.

[2-165] Engkvist, I., Albinsson, Y., 1996. The long-term stability of cement – Leaching tests. SKB Technical Report 96-09. 47 pp.

[2-166] Huertas, F., Farias, J., Griffault, L., Leguey, S., Cuevas, J., Ramírez, S., Vigil de la Villa, R., Cobeña, J., Andrade, C., Alonso, M.C., Hidalgo, A., Parneix, J.C., Çrassineux, F., Bouchet, Meunier, A., Decarreau, A., Petit, S., Vieillard, P., 2000. Effects of cement on clay barrier performance ECOCLAY I project. EUR 19609, final report.

[2-167] Lagerblad, B., 2001. Leaching performance of concrete based on studies of samples from old concrete constructions. SKB Technical Report TR-01-27. http://www.skb.se/upload/publications/pdf/TR-01-27webb.pdf

[2-168] Kjellsen K-O, Lagerblad, B., Jennings, H., 1997. Hollow-shell formation. An important mode in the hydration of Porland cement. Journ. of Matr. Sci., 32, 2921-2927.

[2-169] Savage, D., Noy, D., Mihara, M., 2002. Modelling the interaction of bentonite with hyperalkaline fluids. Applied Geochemistry, 17, pp. 207-223.

[2-170] Gaucher, E., Blanc, P., Matray, J.M., Michau, N., 2004. Modeling diffusion of an alkaline plume in a clay barrier. Appl. Geochemistry, Vol. 19, Issue 10, pp. 1505-1653.

[2-171] Haworth, A., Sharland, S.M., Tasker, P.W., Tweed, C.J., 1988. Evolution of the groundwater chemistry around a nuclear waste repository. In: Scientific basis for nuclear waste management XI, Mat. Res. Soc., pp. 425-434.

[2-172] Jeffries, N.L., Tweed, C.J., Wisbey, S.J., 1988. The effects of changes in pH within a clay surrounding a cementitious repository. In: Scientific Basis for Nuclear Waste Management XI, Mat. Res. Soc., pp. 43-52.

[2-173] Read, D., Glasser, F.P., Ayora, C., Guardiola, M.T., Sneyers, A., 2001. Mineralogical and microstructural changes accompanying the interaction of Boom Clay with ordinary Porland cement. Adv. Cement Res., 13, pp. 175-183.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

81/106

Dissemination level: PU

[2-174] Robinet, J.C., Michau, N., Plas, F., 2002. Hydro-mechanical behaviour of bentonite MX-80 with hyper-alkaline fluids (ECOCLAY II project): experimental data and modelling. Presented at the International Meeting for Clays in Natural and Engineered Barriers for Radioactive Waste Confinement. December 9-12, 2002. Reims, France.

[2-175] Ramírez, S., Cuevas, J., Vigil, R., Martín, M., Hidalgo, A., Compère, F., Petit, S., Leguey, S. 2002. Retention properties of a compacted Spanish bentonite in contact with a cement mortar. Presented at the International Meeting for Clays in Natural and Engineered Barriers for Radioactive Waste Confinement. December 9-12, 2002. Reims, France.

[2-176] Ramírez, S., Cuevas, J., Vigil, R., Leguey, S., 2002. Hydrothermal alteration of "La Serrata" bentonite (Almeria, Spain) by alkaline solutions. Appl. Clay Sci., 21, pp. 257-269.

[2-177] Karland, O., 1997. Cement/bentonite interaction. Results from 16 month laboratory tests. Swedish Nuclear Fuel and Waste Managemen Co (SKB), Technical Report TR-97-32.

[2-178] De Cannière, P., Moors, H., Wang, L., Jacques, D., Put, M., Gens, R., 2002. Effect of cement water on the chemistry of Boom clay. Presented at the International Meeting for Clays in Natural and Engineered Barriers for Radioactive Waste Confinement. December 9-12, 2002. Reims, France.

[2-179] Pusch, R., Zwahr, H., Gerber, R., Schomburg, J., 2003. Interaction of cement and smectitic clay. Theory and practice. Applied Clay Science, 23, pp. 203-210.

[2-180] Jakob A., Sarott, F.-A., Spieler, P. (1999). Diffusion and sorption on hardened cement pastes – experiments and modeling results. PSI Bericht 99-05, Paul Scherrer Institut, Villigen PSI, Switzerland. Also published as Nagra NTB 99-06, Nagra, Wettingen, Switzerland.

[2-181] Tits, J., Jakob, A., Wieland, E., Spieler, P. (2003). Diffusion of tritiated water and ²²Na⁺ through non-degraded hardened cement pastes. J. Contam. Hydrol. 61, 45-62.

CHAPTER 3

Hydration/saturation of the concrete support with saline water or fresh water under thermal gradient

[3-1] Adler M. Mäder U. Waber N. (1998): Experiment vs modelling: diffusive and advective interaction of high pH solution in argillaceous rock at 30 °C. V.M. Goldschmidt Abstracts, Toulouse, 1998, Min. Mag. 62A, 15-16.

[3-2]] Adler M.(2001): Interaction of Claystone and Hyperalkaline Solutions at 30°C: A Combined Experimental and Modeling Study. PhD, Bern University.

[3-3] Baker A.J., Bateman K., Hyslop E.K., Ilett D.J., Linklater C.M., Milodowski A.E., Noy D.J., Rochelle C.A., Tweed C.J. (2002): Research on the alkaline disturbed zone resulting from cement-water-rock reactions around a cementitious repository. Nirex Report N/054.

[3-4] Lagerblad B. (1996): Conceptual model for deterioration of Portland cement concrete in water. SKB AR 96-01.

[3-5] Lagerblad B. (2001): Leaching performance of concrete based on studies of samples from old concrete constructions. SKB TR 01-27. 85pp. <u>http://www.skb.se/upload/publications/pdf/TR-01-27webb.pdf</u>

[3-6] Lagerblad B., Trägardh J. (1995): Conceptual model for concrete long time degradation in adeep nuclear waste repository. SKB TR 95-21.-

[3-7] Mader U., Adler M., Bossart P. (2000): CW-Experiment: Progress Report on Hydrogeochemistry and Hydraulic Properties.Mt Terri Project, Technical Note 99-56, 41pp.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

82/106

Dissemination level: PU

[3-8] Taylor, H.F.W. (1987): Bound water in cement pastes and its significance for pore solution compositions. In proceedings from Scientific Basis for Waste Management. Materials Research Society, Vol. 85, pp. 47-53

Hydration/saturation of the clay barrier through the concrete support under thermal gradient (clay formation)

[3-9] Atkinson A. (1985): The time dependence of pH within a repository for radioactive waste disposal. United Kingdom Atomic Energy Research Establishment Report AERE-R11777.

[3-10] Bauer A. Berger G. (1998): Kaolinite and smectite dissolution rate in high molar KOH solutions at 35 and 80 °C. *Appl. Geochem.* 13, 905-916.

[3-11] Bauer A. Velde B. Berger G. (1998) : Kaolinite transformation in high molar KOH solutions. *Appl. Geochem.* 13, 619-629.

[3-12] Bauer A., Velde B. (1993): Smectite transformation in high molar KOH solutions. *Clay Miner.*, 34, 259-273.

[3-13] Berner U.R. (1992): Evolution of pore water chemistry during degradation of cement in a radiactive waste repository environment. *Waste Management*, 12, 201-219.

[3-14] Bentz D.P., Garboczi E.J. (1992): Modelling the leaching of calcium hydroxide from cement paste: effects on the pore space and diffusivity. *Materials and Structures*, 1992, 523-533.

[3-15] Bentz D.P. Garboczi E.J. Largergren E.S. (1998): Multi-Scale microstructural modeling of concrete diffusivity: identification of significant variables. *Cement, Concrete, and Aggregates,* CCAGDP, Vol. 20, No. 1, June 1998, pp. 129-139

[3-16] Bérubé M.A. Choquette M. Locat J. (1990): Effects of lime on common soil and rock forming minerals. *Appl. Clay Sci.* 5, 145-163.

[3-17] Bourbon X. (2003): Chemical conceptual model for cement based materials: mineral phases and thermodynamic data. ANDRA, Technical Report C.NT.ASCM.03.026, 15pp.

[3-18] Bunge A.L. Radke C.J. (1982): Migration of alkaline pulses in reservoir sands. *Soc. Pet. Eng. J.* 1982, 998-1012.

[3-19] Bye G.C. (1983): Portland Cement: Composition, Production and Properties. Pergamon Press, NY, 111 pp.

[3-20] Carde C., François R. (1999): Modeling the loss of strength and porosity increase due to leaching of cement pastes. Cement and Concrete Comp., 21, 181-188.

[3-21] Chermak J.A. (1992): Low temperatures experimental investigation on the effect of high pH NaOH solutions on the Opalinus Shale, Switzerland. *Clays Clay Mins* 40, 650-658.

[3-22] Chermak J.A. (1993): Low temperatures experimental investigation on the effect of high pH KOH solutions on the Opalinus Shale, Switzerland. *Clays Clay Mins* 41, 365-372.

[3-23] Clifton J.R., Knab L.I. (1989): Service life of concrete. NISTIR 89-4086 U.S. Department of commerce.

[3-24] Eberl D.D., Velde V., McCormick T. (1993): Synthesis of illite-smectite from smectite at earth surface temperatures and high pH. *Clay Miner.*, 28, 49-60.

[3-25] Engkvist I, Albisson Y., Johansson W. (1996): The long term stability of cement - Leaching tests. SKB TR 96-09.

[3-26] Erdogdu S. Kondratova I.L. Bremner T.W. (2004): Determination of chloride diffusion coefficient of concrete using open-circuit potential measurements. *Cement and Concrete Research* Vol. 34, Isuue 4, April 2004, pp 603-609.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

83/106

Dissemination level: PU

[3-27] Faucon P., Adenot F., Jaquinot J.F., Petit J.C., Cabrillac R., Jorda M. (1998): Long-term behaviour of cement pastes used for nuclear waste disposal: Review of physico-chemical mechanisms of water degradation. Cement and Concrete Research, 28(6), 847-857.

[3-28] Gawin D., Pesavento F. (2003): Modelling of hygro-thermal behaviour of concrete at high temperature with thermo-chemical and mechanical material degradation. Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Eng., 192, 1731-1771.

[3-29] Haworth A. Sharland S.M. Tasker P.W. Tweed C.J. (1988): Evolution of the groundwater chemistry around a nuclear waste repository. In: Scientific Basis for Nuclear Waste Management XI, Mat. Res. Soc., pp. 425-434.

[3-30] Hirsch P., Birchall J.D., Double D.D., Kelly A., Moir G.K., Pomeroy C.D. (1983): Developments in the science and technology of hydraulic cements. *Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. Lond.*, 310, 1-207.

[3-31] Hodgkinson E.S. Hughes C.R. (1999): The mineralogy and geochemistry of cement/rock reactions: high-resolution studies of experimental and analogue materials. In: Metcalfe R. and Rochelle C.A. (Eds.), Chemical Containment of Waste in the Geosphere, Geol. Soc. Lond. Spec. Pub. 157, pp. 195-211.

[3-32] Hughes C.R. Hill P.I. Isaac K.P. (1995): An experimental evaluation of the formation damage potential of cement filtrates and leachates. Soc. Pet. Eng. SPE 30087, 87-99.

[3-33] Jefferies N.L. Tweed C.J. Wisbey S.J. (1988): The effects of change in pH within a clay surrounding a cementitious repository. In: Scientific Basis for Nuclear Waste Management XI, Mat. Res. Soc., pp. 43-52.

[3-34] Jiang W., Roy D.M. (1994): Ancient analogues concerning stability and durability of cementitious waste forms. Material Resources Soc. Symp. Proc., vol. 333.

[3-35] Johnston R.M., Miller H.G. (1984): The effect of pH on the stability of smectite. Atomic Energy Canada Limited, Report AECL-8366.

[3-36] Karnland O. (1997): Cement/bentonite interaction. Results from 16 month laboratory tests. Swedish Nuclear Fuel and Waste Management Co (SKB). Technical Report TR-97-32.

[3-37] Kjellsen K.O., Jennings H.M., Lagerblad B. (1996): Evidence of hollow shells in the microstructure of cement paste. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 26(4), 593-599.

[3-38] Lagerblad B. (1996): Conceptual model for deterioration of Portland cement concrete in water. SKB AR 96-01.

[3-39] Leguey, S., Cuevas, J., Ramírez, S., Vigil, R. y Martín, M. (2002): Alteración alcalina hidrotermal de la barrera de bentonita por aguas intersticiales de cementos. Publicación Técnica de Enresa, 03/2002, 172 pp (in Spanish).

[3-40] Lentz R.W. Horst W.D. Upport J.O. (1985): The permeability of clay to acidic and caustic permeants. In: Johnson A.I. Froebel R.K. Cavalli N.J. Petterson C.B. (Eds.), Hydraulic Barriers in soil and Rock, Am. Soc. Testing Mat., pp. 127-139

[3-41] Mohnot S.M. Bae J.H. Foley W.L. (1987): A study of mineral/alkali reactions. Soc. Pet. Eng. Reserv. 1987, 653-663.

[3-42] Onofrei M., Gray M.N., Coons W.E., Alcorn S.R. (1992): High performance cement-based grouts for use in a nuclear waste disposal facility. *Waste Management*, 12, 133-154.

[3-43] Ramachandran V.S., Beaudoin J.J. (eds.) (2001): Handbook of Analytical Techniques in Concrete Science and Technology. Noyes Publications. 985pp.

[3-44] Ramírez S., Cuevas J., Vigil R., Leguey S. (2002): Hidrotermal alteration of La Serrata bentonite (Almería, Spain) by alkaline solutions. *Appl. Clay Sci.*, 21, 257-269.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

84/106

Dissemination level: PU

[3-45] Read D., Glasser F.P., Ayora C., Guardiola M.T., Sneyers A. (2001): Mineralogical and microstructural changes accompanying the interaction of Boom Clay with ordinary Portland cement. *Adv. Cement Res.*, 13, 175-183.

[3-46] Richardson C.K. Markuszewski R. Burham K.S. Bluhm D.D. (1986): Effect of caustic and microwaves treatment of clay minerals associated with coal. Mineral Matter and Ash in Coal, Amer. Chem. Soc., pp. 513-423.

[3-47] Rossi P. (1991): Influence of cracking in the presence of free water on the mechanical behaviour of concrete. Magazine of Concrete Research, 43(154), 53-57.

http://www.civil.northwestern.edu/people/jennings/PDF/publications%201.html

[3-48] Savage D. (1997): Review of the potential effects of alkaline plume migration from a cementitious repository for radioactive waste. Implications for performance assessment. UK Environment Agency Technical Report P60.

[3-49] Soler J.M. (1998): Reactive transport modeling of the interaction between a high pH plume and a fractured marl. V.M. Goldschmidt Abstracts, Toulouse, 1998, Min. Mag. 62A, 1427-1428.

[3-50] Steefel C.I. Lichtner P.C. (1994): Diffusion and reaction in rock matrix bordering a hyperalkaline fluid-filled fracture. *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 58, 3593-3612.

[3-51] Tang L. Nilsson L.O. (1992) : Chloride diffusivity in high strength concrete at different ages. *Nordic Concrete Research* 11(1) pp. 162-171

[3-52] Taubald H., Bauer A., Scha T., Geckeis H., Satir M. (2000): Experimental investigation of the effect of high-pH solutions on the Opalinus Shale and the Hammerschmiede Smectite. *Clay Miner.*, 35, 515-524.

[3-53] Vieillard, P., Ramírez, S., Bouchet, A., Cassagnabère, A., Meunier, A., Jacquot, E. (2004) : Alteration of the Callovo-Oxfordian clay from Meuse-Haute Marne underground laboratory (France) by alkaline solution: II. Modelling of mineral reactions. Applied Geochemistry, Vol 19, issue 11, p:1699-1709.

[3-54] Vigil de la Villa R., Cuevas J., Ramírez S., Leguey S. (2001): Zeolite formation during the alkaline reaction of bentonite. *Eur. J. Miner.*, 13, 635-644.

[3-55] West J.M. Cave M. Higgo J.J.W. Milodowski A.E. Rochelle C.A. Ross C.A.M. (1992): The effect of microbial activity on the near and far fields of a Swiss Type B repository. In: Scientific Basis for Nuclear Waste Management XV, Mat. Res. Soc., pp. 729-736.

[3-56] Yaman I.O., Hearn N., Aktan H.M. (2002): Active and non-active porosity in concrete. Part I: Experimental evidence. *Materials and Structures*, 35(246), 450-457.

Hydration/saturation of the clay barrier with fresh water under thermal gradient

[3-57] SKB, 1999. SR 97. Processes in the repository evolution. SKB Technical Report TR-99-07.

[3-58] Muurinen, A., Lehikoinen, J., 1999. Pore water chemistry in compacted bentonite. Engineering Geology, 54, pp. 207-214.

[3-59] Huertas, F., Fuentes-Cantillana, J.L., Jullien, F., Rivas, P., Linares, J., Fariña, P., Ghoreychi, M., Jockwer, N., Kickmaier, W., Martínez, M.A., Samper, J., Alonso, E., Elorza, F.J., 2000. Full-scale engineered barriers experiment for a deep geological repository for high-level radioactive waste in crystalline host rock (FEBEX project). European Commission Report EUR 19147 EN.

[3-60] Cuevas, J., Villar, M.V., Fernández, A.M^a, Gómez, P., Martín, P.L., 1997. Pore waters extracted from compacted bentonite subjected to simultaneous heating and hydration. Applied Geochemistry, 12, pp. 473-481.

[3-61] Martín, M., Cuevas, J., Leguey, S., 2000. Diffusion of soluble salts under a temperature gradient after the hydration of compacted bentonite. Applied Clay Science, 17, pp. 55-70.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

85/106

Dissemination level: PU

[3-62] Fernández, A.M^a, Cuevas, J., Rivas, P., 2001. Pore water chemistry of the FEBEX bentonite. Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Pro. 663, pp. 573-588.

[3-63] Fernández, A.M^a., Baeyens, B., Bradbury, M., Rivas, P., 2004. Analysis of the pore water chemical composition of a Spanish compacted bentonite used in an engineered barrier. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Vol. 29/1, pp. 105-118.

[3-64] Wanner, H., Wersin, P., Sierro, N., 1992. Thermodynamic modelling of bentonitegroundwater interaction and implications for near field chemistry in a repository for spent fuel. SKB 92-37, 28 pp.

[3-65] Wieland, E., Wanner, H., Albinsson, Y., Wersin, P., Karland, O., 1994. A surface chemical model of the bentonite-water interface and its implications for modelling the near field chemistry in a repository for spent fuel. SKB Technical Report 94-26. 64 pp.

[3-66] Bruno, J., Arcos, D., Duro, L., 1999. Processes and features affecting the near field hydrochemistry. Groundwater-bentonite interaction. SKB Tech. Rep. 99-29.

[3-67] Bárcena, I.; Fuentes-Cantillana, J.L. & García-Siñeriz, J.L. (2003): Dismantling of the heater 1 at the FEBEX "in situ" test. Description of operations. *Publicación Técnica ENRESA* 09/2003. 134 pp. Madrid.

[3-68] Cuevas, J.; Villar, M.V.; Martín, M.; Cobeña, J.C. & Leguey, S.(2002): Thermo-hydraulic gradients on bentonite: distribution of soluble salts, microstructure and modification of the hydraulic and mechanical behaviour. *Applied Clay Science* 22(1-2): 25-38.

[3-69] Dixon, D.; Chandler, N.; Graham, J. & Gray M.N. (2002): Two large-scale sealing tests conducted at Atomic Energy of Canada's underground research laboratory: the buffer-container experiment and the isothermal test. *Can. Geotech. J.* 39: 503-518.

[3-70] ENRESA (2000): FEBEX Project. Full-scale engineered barriers experiment for a deep geological repository for high level radioactive waste in crystalline host rock. Final Report. *Publicación Técnica ENRESA* 1/2000. 354 pp. Madrid.

[3-71] ENRESA, GRS, IPSN, NRG, SCK·CEN, VTT, ZAG & NAGRA (2002): Treatment of bentonite barrier related FEPs in integrated performance assessment. BENIPA Project. EC Programme FP5 – EAECTP. Deliverable D-3 rev.0 – only for clay. 138 pp. Madrid.

[3-72] Karnland, O.; Sandén, T.; Johannesson, L.-E.; Eriksen, T.E.; Jansson, M.; Wold, S.; Pedersen, K.; Motamedi, M. & Rosborg, B. (2000): Long term test of buffer material. Final report on the pilot parcels. *SKB Technical Report* TR-00-22. 34 pp. Stockholm.

[3-73] Pusch, R.; Börgesson, L. & Ramqvist, G. (1985): Final Report of the Buffer Mass Test - Volume II: Test results. *Stripa Project* 85/12. SKB. Stockholm. 195 pp.

[3-74] Rodwell, W.R.; Harris, A.W.; Horseman, S.T.; Lalieux, P.; Müller, M.; Ortiz Amaya, L. & Pruess, K.(1999): Gas migration and two-phase flow through engineered and geological barriers for a deep repository for radioactive waste. EC/NEA Status Report *EUR* 19122 EN, European Commission. Luxemburg.

[3-75] Villar, M.V.; Cuevas, J. & Martin, P.L. (1996): Effects of heat/water flow interaction on compacted bentonite. Preliminary results. *Eng. Geol.* 41: 257-267.

[3-76] Villar, M.V.; Fernández, A.M. & Cuevas, J. (1997): Caracterización geoquímica de bentonita compactada: Efectos producidos por flujo termohidraúlico. Versión 1. CIEMAT/IMA/54A15/6/97 report. *FEBEX report* 70-IMA-M-0-2. Madrid. (in Spanish).

[3-77] Villar, M.V.; Fernández, A.M.; Rivas, P.; Lloret, A.; Daucausse, D.; Montarges-Pelletier, E.; Devineau, K.; Villieras, F.; Hynková, E.; Cechova, Z.; Montenegro, L.; Samper, J.; Zheng, L.; Robinet, J.-C.; Muurinen, A.; Weber, H.P.; Börgesson, L. & Sandén, T. (2004): Task 141: Postmortem bentonite analysis. EC Contract FIKW-CT-2000-00016, Deliverable D11. *FEBEX Technical Report* 70-IMA-M-6-7 v0. CIEMAT. 159 pp. Madrid.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

86/106

Dissemination level: PU

[3-78] Villar, M.V., Martín, P.L. & Barcala, J.M. (in press): Modification of physical, mechanical and hydraulic properties of bentonite by thermo-hydraulic gradients. *Eng. Geol.*

[3-79] Volckaert, G.; Ortiz, L.; De Cannière, P.; Put, M.; Horseman, S.T.; Harrington, J.F.; Fioravante, V. & Impey, D. (1995): MEGAS – Modelling and experiments on gas migration in repository host rocks. Final Report Phase I. *EUR* 16235.Luxembourg.

Corrosion at the bentonite/canister interface

[3-80] Anantamula R.P., Delegard C.H., Fish R.L., (1984), Corrosion behaviour of low-carbon steels in Grande Ronde Basalt groundwater in the presence of basalt-bentonite packing, Sci Basis for Nuclear Waste Management VII, Mat. Res. Soc. Sym Proc. Vol. 26, p.113

[3-81] Anantamula R.P., Fish R.L., (1987a), Corrosion behaviour of container materials in Grande Ronde Basalt groundwater, Sci Basis for Nuclear Waste Management X, Mat. Res. Soc. Sym Proc. Vol. 84, p. 295

[3-82] Anantatmula R.P., Delegard C.H., Duncan D.R., (1987b) Corrosion behaviour of low-carbon steel in groundwater-basalt-bentonite mixtures at 250 oC, Nuclear and Chemical Waste Management, Vol. 7, str. 167-173, 1987

[3-83] Appello C.G.J., Postma D., (1999) Geochemistry, Groundwater and Pollution, A.A. Balkema, Rotterdam/Brookfield

[3-84] Appelo C.A.J., Van der Weiden M.J.J., Tournassat C., Charlet L., (2002) Surface Complexation of ferrous iron and carbonate on ferrihydrite and the mobilization of arsenic, Environ. Sci Technol., 36, 3096-3103

[3-85] Arthur R.C., Apted M.J., Conca J.L, (1993) Dealing with uncertainty in the chemical environment in bentonite backfill, Scientific Basis for Nuclear Waste Management XVI, MRS Symp. Proc. vol. 294, 1993, p. 389

[3-86] Beverskog B., Puigdomenech I., (1996) Revised Pourbaix diagrams for iron at 25-300 oC, Corrosion Science, Vol. 38, No.12, pp. 2121-2135,

[3-87] Bond A.E., Hoch A.R., Jones G.D., Tomczyk A.J., Wiggin R.M., Worraker W.J., (1997) Assessment of a spent fuel disposal canister, Assessment studies for a copper canister with cast steel inner component, SKB Technical report 97-19, May

[3-88] Bradbury, M.H., Baeyens B., (2002) Pore water chemistry in compacted re-saturated MX-80 bentonite: Physico-chemical characterisation and geochemical modeling, Nagra Technical report 01 - 08, June

[3-89] Bruno J., Arcos D., Duro L., (1999) Processes and features affecting the near field hydrochemistry: groundwater-bentonite interaction, zpráva SKB, TR-99-29

[3-90] Cui D., Spahiu K., (2002) The reduction of U(VI) on corroded iron under anoxic conditions, Radiochimica Acta 9-11, p. 623-628

[3-91] Dong J., Nishimura T., Kodama T., (2002), Corrosion behaviour of carbon steel in bicarbonate (HCO3-) solutions, Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc Vol. 713, MRS

[3-92] Drissi S.H., Refait Ph., Abdelmoula M., Génin J.M.R., (2003), The preparation and thermodynamic properties of Fe (II)-Fe(III) hydroxide carbonate (green rust 1);Pourbaix diagram of iron in carbonate.containing, Corrosion Science, Vol. 45,, pp. 659-676,

[3-93] Druyts F., Kursten B., Van Iseghem P., (2001) Corrosion Evaluation of Metallic Materials for Long-Lived HLW/Spent Fuel Disposal Containers, Final report to EDF for the period 1996-1998, SCK.CEN, R-3533, May

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

87/106

Dissemination level: PU

[3-94] Efferz P.H. (1987) 5th Interantional Congress on Metallic Corrosion, 920, 1972 in Corrosion behaviour of low-carbon steel in groundwater-basalt-bentonite mixtures at 250 oC, Nuclear and Chemical Waste Management, Vol. 7, pp. 167-173,

[3-95] Fujiwara A., Yasutomi I., Fukudome K., Tateishi T., Fujiwara K., (2000) Influence of Oxygen Concentration and Alkalinity on the Hydrogen Gas Generation by Corrosion of Carbon Steel, Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Vol. 663, MRS 2001, p. 497, Sci Basis XXIV, Sydney

[3-96] Fukaya Y., Akashi M., (1998) Passivation behaviour of mild steel used for nuclear waste disposal package, MRS, Symp. Proc. Vol. 556, Eds: Wroknkiewicz D.J., Lee J.H., Scientific Basis for Nuclear Waste Management XXII,

[3-97] Gdowski G.E., Estill J.C., (1996) The effect of water vapor on the corrosion of carbon steel at 65 °C, Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc. Vol. 412, MRS. pp. 533 – 538

[3-98] Grauer R., (1984) Behältermaterialien für die Endalagerrung hochradioaktiver Abäfile: Korrosionchemische Aspekte, MAGRA Technischer Bericht 84-19, August . (in German).

[3-99] Grauer R., (1986) Bentonite als Verfullmaterial om Endlager fur hochaktiven Abfall: Chemische Aspekte, NAGRA Technischer Bericht 86-12

[3-100] Grauer R., (1985) Bentonite als Verfullmaterial om Endlager fur hochaktiven Abfall: Chemische Aspekte, NAGRA Technischer Bericht 86-12, Januar. (in German).

[3-101] Grauer R., Knecht B., Kreis P., Simpson J.P., (1991) Hydrogen evolution from corrosion of iron and steel in intermediate level waste repositories, Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc. Vol.212, MRS, , Sci. Basis XIV, Boston, str.295

[3-102] Grauer R., (1988) Zum chemischen Verhalten von Montmorillonit in einer Endlagerverfullung, NAGRA Technischer Bericht 88-24, July. (in German).

[3-103] Grygar T., Marken F., Schroder V., Scholz F., (2002) Electrochemical analysis of solids. A review, Collection Czech Chem. Commun., Vol. 67,

[3-104] Hara K., Ishikawa H., Honda A., Sasaki N., (1992) Influence of Dissolved Oxygen on the Generation Rate of Hydrogen Gas with Corrosion of Carbon Steel, Proceeding of Workshop Gas Generation and Release, OECD Paris, p. 120

[3-105] Harrington J.F., Horseman S.T., (2003) Gas migration in KBS-3 buffer bentonite, Technical Report SKB TR-03-02, January

[3-106] Herbert H.J., Moog H.C., (2001) Experimental results and modeling of the swelling of compacted bentonites under different saline conditions, Radioactive Waste Management and Environmental Remediation - ASME, p. 1

[3-107] Honda A., Teshima T., Tsurudome K., Ishikawa H., Yusa Y., Sasaki N., (1991), Effect of compacted bentonite on the corrosion behaviour of carbon steel as geological isolation overpack, Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc. Vol.212, MRS, Sci. Basis XIV, Boston, str. 287

[3-108] Horseman S.T., Harrington J.F., Sellin P., (1997), Gas migration in MX80 buffer bentonite, Scientific Basis for Nuclear Waste Management XX, Mat. Res. Soc Symp. Proc., vol 465, , p. 990

[3-109] Idemitsu K., Furuya H., Inagaki Y., (1993), Diffusion of corrosion products of iron in compacted bentonite, Scientific Basis for Nuclear Waste Management XVI, MRS Symp. Proc. vol. 294, p. 467

[3-110] Idemitsu K., Yano S., Xiaobin X., Inagaki Y., Arima T., (2002), Diffusion Behaviour of iron Corrosion Products in Buffer Materials, Mat. Res. Symp. Proc. Vol. 713, MRS, Sci Basis XXV, Boston, 113

[3-111] Madina, V. (2003): FEBEX Project components: Corrosion study. Final report, ref 36.0045.0, pags.: 75, June 2003.

[3-112] Jelinek J., Neufeld P., (1982), Kinetics of Hydrogen Formation from Mild Steel in Water under Anaerobic Conditions, Corrosion, Vol. 38, No.2, February,

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

88/106

Dissemination level: PU

[3-113] Johnson L.H., Smith P.A., (2000), The interaction of radiolysis products and canister corrosion products and the implications for spent fuel dissolution and radionuclide transport in a repository for spent fuel, Nagra technical report NTB 00-04, February

[3-114] King F., Kolar M., Stroes-Gascoyne S., Bellingham P., Chu J., Dawe P.V., (1998), Modelling the activity of sulphate-reducing baceria and the effects on container corrosion in an underground nuclear waste disposal vault, MRS, Symp. Proc. Vol. 556, Eds: Wroknkiewicz D.J., Lee J.H., Scientific Basis for Nuclear Waste Management XXII, , 1167

[3-115] King F., Ahonen, L., Taxén, C., Vuorinen, U., Werme, L. (2001): Copper corrosion under expected conditions in a deep geologic repository, SKB TR-01-23. Also published by Posiva, Posiva Report 2002-01.

[3-116] Kozaki T., Imamura Y., Takada J., Sato S., Ohashi H., (1994), Corrosion of iron and migration of corrosion products in compacted bentonite, Material Research Society Symposium Proc. 353, Scientific Basis for Nuclear Waste Manegement, Kyoto, p. 329

[3-117] Kursten B., Druyts F., Van Iseghem P., (2001), Methodology in corrosion testing of container materials for radioactive waste disposal in a geological clay repository, ICEM 01, 30/09 - 04/10/2001, Breuges, Belgium

[3-118] Kursten B., Smailos E., Azkarate I., Werme L., Smart N.R., Marx G., Cunado M.A., Santarini G., (2004), Corrosion Evaluation of Metallic Materials for Long-Lived HLW/Spent Fuel Disposal Containers: Review of 15-20 Years of Research, Euradwaste 2004, Radioactive waste management Community policy and research initiatives, 29 March - 1 April 2004, Luxembourg

[3-119] Madsen F.T., Kahr G., (1991) Diffusion of iron and iodide ions in highly densified bentonite, NAGRA-NTB--91-28

[3-120] Manaka, Mitsuo Kawasaki, Manabu Honda, Akira, (2000), Measurements of the effective diffusion coefficient of dissolved oxygen and oxidation rate of pyrite by dissolved oxygen in comacted sodium bentonite, Nuclear Technology, May, v. 130(2), p. 206-217

[3-121] Marsh G.P., Taylor K.J., (1988), An assessment of carbon steel containers for radioactive waste disposal, Corrosion Science Vol. 28, pp. 289-320

[3-122] Marsh G.P., Taylor K.J., Bland I.D., Westcott C., Tasker P.W., Sharland S.M., (1985), Evaluation of the localised corrosion of carbon steel overpacks for nuclear waste disposal in granite environments, ci Basis for Nuclear Waste Management X, Mat. Res. Soc. Sym Proc. Vol. 50, , Ed-L.O.Werme, p. 421

[3-123] Marsh G.P., Taylor K.J., Sharland S.M., Tasker P.W., (1987), An approach for evaluation the general and localised corrosion of carbon-steel containers for nuclear waste disposal, in Sci Basis for Nuclear Waste Management X, Mat. Res. Soc. Sym Proc. Vol. 84, p. 227

[3-124] Matsuda F., Wada R., Fujiwara K., Fujiwara A., (1995), An evaluation of hydrogen evolution from corrosion of carbon steel in low/intermediate level waste repositories, MRS, Symp-Proc. Vol. 353, Eds. Murakami T, Ewing R.C.Scientific Basis for Nuclear Waste Management XVIII, , Kyoto, str.719

[3-125] Nelson J.L., Westerman R.E., Gerber F.S., (1987), Irradiation-corrosion evaluation of metals for nuclear waste package applications in Grande Ronde basalt groundwater, n Sci Basis for Nuclear Waste Management X, Mat. Res. Soc. Sym Proc. Vol. 84, p. 121

[3-126] Neretnieks I., M. L. Erntson, (1997), A note on radionuclide transport by gas bubbles, Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc. Vol. 465, MRS.

[3-127] Neretnieks I., (1985), Some aspects of the use of iron canisters in deep lying repositories for nuclear waste, Nagra, Technical report 85-35, February

[3-128] Olowe A.A., Génin J.M.R., (1991), The mechanisms of oxidation of ferrous hydroxide in sulphated aqueous media: Importance of the initial ratio of the reactants, Corrosion Science Vol. 32, No. 9, 965-984,

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

89/106

Dissemination level: PU

[3-129] Pedersen K., (2000), Microbial processes in radioactive waste disposal, Technical report SKB, TR-00-04

[3-130] Platts N., Blackwood D.J., Naish C.C., (1994), Anaerobic oxidation of carbon steel in granitic groundwaters: A review of the relevant literature, SKB Technical Report 94-01, February

[3-131] Pusch R., (1983), Gas migration through bentonite claym KBS Tech. Rep. 83-71, May

[3-132] Pusch R., Hokmark H., Borgesson L., (1987), Outline of models of water and gas flow through smectite clay buffers, SKB Tech. Rep. 87-10

[3-133] Pusch R., (1993), Evolution of models for conversion of smectite to non-expandable minerals, SKB Technical report 93-33, December

[3-134] Refait Ph., Géhin A., Abdemoula M., Génin J.-M.R., (2003), Coprecipitation thermodynamics of iron (II-III) hydroxysulphate green rust from Fe(II) and Fe(III) salts, Corrosion Science, Vol. 45,, pp. 659-676,

[3-135] Rodwell W.R., Nash P.J., (1992) Modelling of far-field gas migration from a deep radioactive waste repository, Proceeding of Workshop Gas Generation and Release, OECD Paris, p. 391

[3-136] Rodwell W.R., Haijtink B., Lalieu P., (1999) The impact of gas on the safety of underground waste repositories, NEA Newsletter, No. 2

[3-137] Rodwell W., Norris G., Cool W., Cunado M., Johnson L., Maentymen M., Sellin P., Snellman M., Talandier J., Vieno T., Vines S., (2003), Final report on the treatment in safety assessment of issues arising from gas generation, August, Contract FIKW-CT-2001-20165

[3-138] Savoye S., Legrand L., Sagon G., Lecomte S., Chausse A., Messina R., Toulhoat P. (2001), Experimental investigations on iron corrosion products formed in bicarbonate/carbonate-containing solutions at 90 oC, Corrosion Science 43 2049-2064

[3-139] Schenk R., (1988), Untersuchungen uber die wasserstoffbildung durg eisencorrosion unter endlagerbedingungen, NAGRA Technisher bericht 86-24, (in German).

[3-140] Sevougian S.D., (2003), Mechanistic Model for Reactive Transport of Radionuclides on Iron-(Oxy)Hydroxide Colloids at the Yucca Mountain Repository, 2nd Annual GoldSim User Conference, Seattle, WA, June 19

[3-141] Smailos E., Azkarate I., Gago J.A.(ENRESA), Van Iseghem P., Kursten B., McMenamin T, (EC), (1997), Corrosion studies on metallic HLW container materials, Fourth European Conference on Management and Disposal of Radioactive Waste, Luxembourg, EC, 209

[3-142] Smailos E., Martinez-Esparza A., Kursten B., Marx G., Azkarate I. (1999), Corrosion evaluation of metallic materials for long-lived HLW and spent fuel disposal containers – WFC, Report EUR 18322/2 EN, Vol2: Radioactive waste management and disposal and decommissioning, 1998 or Wissenschaftliche Berichte FZKA 6285, April

[3-143] Smart N.R., Blackwood D.J., Werme L., (2001), The anaerobic corrosion of carbon steel and cast iron in artificial groundwaters, SKB Technical Report TR 01-22, July

[3-144] Smart N.R., Bond A.E., Crossley J.A.A., Lovegrove P.C., Werme L., (2000), Mechanical properties of Oxides Formed by Anaerobic Corrosion of Steel, Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Vol. 663, MRS 2001, p. 477, Sci Basis XXIV, Sydney

[3-145] Smart N.R., Rance A.P., Fennell P, Werme L., (2002), Expansion due to anaerobic corrosion of steel and cast iron: experimental and natural analogue studies, In: Prediction of long term corrosion behaviour in nuclear waste systems. Proceedings of an int. Workshop, Cadarache, France, pp. 280-294

[3-146] Tanai K., Kanno T., Gallé C.,(1997), Experimental study of gas permeabilities and breakthrough pressures in clays, Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc. Vol. 465, Sci Basis for Nuclear Waste Management XX, Eds.W.KJ Gray, I.R. Triay, Warrendale, p. 995

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

90/106

Dissemination level: PU

[3-147] Tritignon L., Faure M-H., Cranga M., Peycelon H., (1999), Numerical simulation of the interaction between granitic groundwater, engineered clay barrier and iron canister, Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc. Vol. 556, MRS, p.599

[3-148] UN/ECE (1998). International Co-operative Programme on Effects on Materials, Including Historic and Cultural Monuments. Report No 33: Results from XRD analysis of copper corrosion products. A. Krätschmer & B. Stöckle, Bavarian State Conservation Office, München.

[3-149] Vokál A., Brezina M., Kroupová H., Bruha P., Necasová M., Krížová V., Koudelková M., Konírová R., štamberg K., Vopálka D., Ligaunová M., Nachmilner L., (2003), Implementation of engineered barriers assessment methods, ÚJV Report Z1148CH, December

[3-150] Volckaert G., Grinrod P., Impey M., Fioravante V., Horseman S., (1992), MEGAS: Modelling and Experiments on Gas Migration in Argillaceous Host Rocks, Proceeding of Workshop Gas Generation and Release, OECD Paris, p. 405

[3-151] Walton J.C., Sagar B., (1987), A corrosion model for nuclear waste containers, in Sci Basis for Nuclear Waste Management X, Mat. Res. Soc. Sym Proc. Vol. 84, p.283

[3-152] Wersin, P., Spahiu, K., Bruno, J. (1994). Time evolution of dissolved oxygen and redox conditions in a HLW repository. SKB TR-94-02.

[3-153] Wiborgh M., Hoglund L.O., Pers K., (1986), Gas formation in a L/ILW Repository and gas transport in the host rock, NAGRA Tech. Report 85-17, December

[3-154] Vokal, A. and Carlsson, T (2004): First Report on Corrosion Products Characteristics Deliverable No. 2.3.1. – NF-PRO project. Version 0.1

Migration

[3-155] Mazurek, M., Pearson, F.J., Volckaert, G., Bock, H. (2003): Features, Events and Processes Evaluation Catalogue for Argillaceous Media. NEA 4437, OECD 2003. ISBN 92-64-02148-5.

http://www.nea.fr/html/rwm/reports/2003/nea4437-FEP.pdf.

Geochemical evolution of the engineered barrier component in a salt formation

[3-156] Amouric, M.; Olive J. (1991): Illitization of smectite as seen by high-resolution transmission microscopy. - Eur. J. Min., (3): 831-835.

[3-157] Babushkin, V.J.; Matveyev, G.M.; Mchedlov-Petrossyan, O.P.: Thermodynamic of silicates. Springer Verlag, Berlin, 1985.

[3-158] Barbour, S. L.; Yang, N. (1991): The influence of clay-brine interactions on the geotechnical properties of clayey soils of Western Canada. - Kali (91)

[3-159] Batchelder, M.; Cressey, G.; Mather, J. D.; Joseph, J. B. (1996): Smectite-to-illite transformation at low temperature and implications for landfill containment. - Chemical containment of wastes in the geosphere.

[3-160] Bauer, A.; Velde, B. (1999): Smectite transformation in KOH solutions. - Clay Minerals (34/2): 261-276.

[3-161] Bauer, A.; Schäfer, T.; Dohrmann, R.; Hoffmann, H.; Kim, J. I. (2001): Smectite stability in acid salt solutions and the fate of Eu, Th and U in solution. - Clay Minerals (36/1): 93-103.

[3-162] Bechthold, W., Smailos, E., Heusermann, S., Bollingerfehr, W., Bazargan Sabet, B., Rothfuchs, T., Kamlot, P., Grupa, J., Olivella, S., Hansen, F., 2004: "Backfilling and Sealing of Underground Repositories for Radioactive Waste in Salt (BAMBUS-II Project)", European Commission, EUR xxx, in press.

[3-163] Biczók, I.: Betonkorrosion - Betonschutz. Bauverlag, Wiesbaden, 1968. (in German).

[3-164] Bodine, M. W. (1978): Clay mineral assemblages from drill core of Ochoan evaporites, Eddy County. - New Mexico Bur. Mins. Min. Resources Circ. v. (159): 21-32.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

91/106

Dissemination level: PU

[3-165] Bonen, D.; Cohen, M. D. (1992): Magnesium sulphate attack on portland cement paste - I. microstructural analysis, Angew. Chem. (22), 169-180.

[3-166] Bonen, D.; Cohen, M. D. (1992): Magnesium sulphate attack on portland cement paste - II. chemical and mineralogical analysis, Angew. Chem. (22), 707-718.

[3-167] Brammer, K. (1992): Stoffbestand und Lanthanidenverteilung der wasser-unlöslichen Mineralfraktion in marinen Zechsteinevaporiten. - Dissertation, Math.-Naturwiss. Fakultät, TU Clausthal, 154 S. (in German).

[3-168] Breidung, K.-P., 2001: Schachtverschlüsse für untertägige Deponien in Salzbergwerken, Fünftes Statusgespräch Untertägige Entsorgung, Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe - Projektträger des BMWi und BMBF für Entsorgung, Wissenschaftliche Berichte FZKA-PTE Nr. 7. (in German).

[3-169] Brodda, B.-G.; Merz, E. (1983): Zur Wirksamkeit von Tonmineralen als Rückhaltebarriere bei der Endlagerung radioaktiver Abfälle in Salzgesteinen. - Z. dt. geol. Ges., (134): 453-466. (in German).

[3-170] Cuadros, J.; Linares, J. (1996): Experimental kinetic study of the smectite-to-illite transformation. - Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta (60):, 439-453.

[3-171] De Windt, L., Pellegrini, D., van der Lee, J., (2004): Coupled modelling of cement/claystone interactions and radionuclide migration, J. Cont. Hydrol. (68), 165-182.

[3-172] Droste, J., Feddersen, H.-K., Rothfuchs, T., Zimmer, U., 1996: "The TSS-Project: Thermal Simulation of Drift Emplacement, Final Report Phase 2", Gesellschaft für Anlagen- und Reaktorsicherheit (GRS) mbH, GRS-127.

[3-173] Droste, J., Feddersen, H.-K., Rothfuchs, T., 2001: Experimental Investigations on the Backfill Behaviour in Disposal Drifts in Rock Salt (VVS-Project), Final Report, GRS-173.

[3-174] Eberl, D. D.; Velde, B.; McCormick, T. (1993): Synthesis of illite-smectite from smectite at Earth surface temperatures and high pH. - Clay Minerals (28): 49-60.

[3-175] Engelhardt, H.-J.; Brammer, K.-J. (1997): Geochemical and mineralogical changes in argilaceous sediments due to the influence of salt brines. - Abstracts Tagung Sediment '97, Terra Nostra, Schriften der Alfred-Wegener- Stiftung (97/2):41.

[3-176] Erdmannsdörffer, O. H. (1913): Über Koenenit von Sarstedt. - Cbl. Mineral., (1913): 449. (in German).

[3-177] ECOCLAY II - Effects of Cement on Clay Barrier Performance - Phase II, CEC in press.

[3-178] Gabrisová, A.; Havlica, J.; Sahu, S.: Stability of calcium sulphoaluminate hydrates in water solutions with various pH values. Cement and Conrete Research, Bd.21, S.1023-1027, 1991.

[3-179] Grube, H.; Rechenberg, W.: Betonabtrag durch chemisch angreifende saure Wässer. Beton, Heft 11, S.446-451 und Heft 12, S.495-498, 1987. (in German).

[3-180] Harvie, C. E., Møller, N. and Weare, J. H. 1984: The prediction of mineral solubilities in natural waters: the Na-K-MGCa-H-Cl-SO4-OH-HCO3-CO3-CO2-H2O system to high ionic strengths at 25 °C. - Geochim. et Cosmochim.Acta,48,723 – 751.

[3-181] Herbert, H.-J. und Brewitz, W. (1995): Long-Term Mineralogical Changes in Salt Formations due to Water and Brine Interactions. - OECD/NEA Proceedings of the SEDE Workshop "Characterisation of Long-Term Geological Changes Beeing considered for Disposal Sites", 19. -21. September 1994, Paris 18 S.

[3-182] Herbert, H.J., 2000: Zur Geochemie und geochemischen Modellierung hochsalinarer Lösungen mineralischer Rohstoffe - Geologisches Jahrbuch, Sonderheft, Reihe D, Mineralogie, Petrographie, Geochemie, Lagerstättenkunde, Heft SD 1, Hannover. (in German).

[3-183] Herbert, H.-J. and Moog (2000): Modeling of saturation and swelling effects in clays under different saline conditions – Proceedings of the Eurosafe Confernce 6. – 7. November 2000, Cologne, 11p.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

92/106

Dissemination level: PU

[3-184] Herbert, H.-J. and Moog, H. (2001): Experimental results and modeling of the swelling of compacted bentonites under different saline conditions. – Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Radioactive Waste Management and Environmental Remediation, Sept. 30 - Oct. 4, 2001, Bruges, Belgium, 8p.

[3-185] Herbert,H.-J. and Meyer,Th., 2001: Corrosion of cementitious materials under geological disposal conditions with resulting effects on the geochemical stability of clay minerals - Proceedings of the EUROSAFE conference, 5.-6. November 2001, Paris, Seminar 3, 39 - 54.

[3-186] Herbert, H.-J., Kasbohm, J. Venz, C., Kull, H., Moog, H., Sprenger, H. (2004): Langzeitstabilität von Tondichtungen in Salzformationen, Gesellschaft für Anlagen- und Reaktorsicherheit (GRS) mbH, GRS-185. (in German).

[3-187] Hewlett, P.C. (ed.): Lea's Chemistry of Cement and Concrete. Fourth Ed. Arnold, London, 1998.

[3-188] Huang, W.-L.; Longo, J. M.; Pevear, D. R. (1993): An experimentally derived kinetic model for smectite-to-illite conversion and its use as a geothermometer. - Clays and Clay Minerals (41): 162-177.

[3-189] Inoue, A. (1983): Potassium fixation by clay minerals during hydrothermal treatment. - Clays and Clay Minerals (31): 81-91.

[3-190] Kascandes, G. H., Barnes, H. L., Kump, L. R. (1991): The smectite to illite reaction: fluid and solids evolution under flow-through conditions. - Program & Abstracts, 28. Annual Meeting of the Clay Minerals Society.

[3-191] Kasbohm, J.; Henning, K.-H. (1998): Charakterisierung von ausgewählten Na- und Ca-Industrie-Bentoniten mittels Rasterkraftmikroskopie. Teil I: Phasenanalytische Bestimmung des Mineralbestandes.- unveröffentl. Ergebnisbericht zur GRS-Studie, Greifswald 1998. (in German).

[3-192] Kienzler, B., Vejmelka, P., Herbert, H.-J. Meyer, H. and Altenhein-Haese, C. (2000): Longterm leaching experiments of full-scale cemented waste forms: Experimental and modelling results.- Nuclear Technology, vol. 129, 18p.

[3-193] Knöfel, D.: Stichwort Baustoffkorrosion. Bauverlag, Wiesbaden, 1982.

[3-194] Komarneni, S.; Roy, D. M. (1983): Alternation of clay minerals and zeolites in hydrothermal brines. - Clays and Clay Minerals (31): 383-391.

[3-195] Lea, F.M.: The chemistry of cement and concrete. Edward Arnold Publishers, 3. Aufl., 1970.

[3-196] Lippmann, F. (1979): Die Stabilitätsbeziehungen der Tonminerale. - N. Jb. Min. Abh. 136, 287 – 309. (in German).

[3-197] Mehta, K. (2000): Sulphate Attack on Concrete: Separating Myths from Reality, Concrete international (8), 57-61.

[3-198] Meyer Th., Herbert H.-J., Schmidt-Döhl F.(2003): Korrosion von Salzbeton durch salinare Lösungen, GRS-A-3170, PSP-Element 212 313 21. (in German).

[3-199] Meyer Th., Herbert H.-J. (2004): Untersuchung der chemischen und hydromechanischen Wechselwirkungen von Ton/Zement-Systemen, GRS report, in press.

[3-200] Müller-Lyda, I., Birthler, H., Fein, E., 1999: "Ableitung von Permeabilitäts-Porositätsrelationen für Salzgrus", Gesellschaft für Anlagen- und Reaktorsicherheit (GRS) mbH, GRS-148, Köln. (in German).

[3-201] Moog, H. C., Kühle, T. Buhmann, D. and Herbert, H.-J. (2002): Coupling of Transport Processes and Geochemical Processes – a New Feature in the EMOS-Code – Proceedings of the Eurosafe Conference, 4.-5. November 2002, 9p.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

93/106

Dissemination level: PU

[3-202] Nowak E. J., Wakeley L. D., Poole T. S. und Burkes J. P. (1992) Investigations of deteriorated concrete from the liner of the waste isolation pilot plant waste shaft, Sandia Report 91-2733.

[3-203] Poole, T. S.; Wakeley, L. D.; Burkes, J. P. (1994): Durability of Concrete Materials in High-Magnesium Brine, Sandia Report 93-7073, 52 S.

[3-204] Poole, T. S., Wakeley L. D., Young, C. L.: Individual and combined effects of chloride, sulphate, and magnesium ions on hydrated Portland-cement paste. Sandia Report 93-7040, 50S. 1994.

[3-205] Prij, J., Graefe, V., Rothfuchs, T., Vons, L.H., 1995: Modelling of the thermomechanical behaviour of solid rock salt and crushed salt. In: Proc. of Workshop "Testing and Modelling of thermal, mechanical and hydrogeological properties of host rocks for deep geological disposal of radioactive waste", Brüssel, 12. - 13. 01.1995, CEC, EUR 16219 EN, 213 – 229.

[3-206] Register, J. K.; Brookins, D. G.; Register, M. E.; Lambert, S. J. (1980): Clay mineral-brine interactions during evaporite formation: Lanthanide distribution in WIPP samples. - C.J.M. Northrup, Ed., The Scientific Basis for Nuclear Waste Management. v. II. Plenum Press, New York, p. 445-452.

[3-207] Roaldset, E.; Wei, H.; Grimstad, S. (1998): Smectite to illite conversion by hydrous pyrolysis. - Clay Minerals (33): 147-158.

[3-208] Rothfuchs, T., Droste, J., Zhang, C. L. 2001: Determination of Coupled hydraulicmechanical properties of salt backfill: Post-test analyses of in-situ measurements in the Asse mine, Proceedings EUROSAFE Paris 2001, 5.-6. November 2001.

[3-209] Rothfuchs, T., Dittrich, J., Droste, J., Müller, J., Zhang, C. L., 2003: Final Evaluation of the Project "Thermal Simulation of Drift Emplacement" (TSDE-Project), Final Report, Gesellschaft für Anlagen- und Reaktorsicherheit (GRS) mbH, GRS-194.

[3-210] Rothfuchs, T., Droste, J., Herbert, H.-J., Kröhn, K.-P., Wieczorek, K. and Zhang, C., 2004: Cluster Repositoty Project–CROP–A Basis for Evaluation and Developing Concepts of Final Repositories for High-Level Waste, German Country Annexes. – GRS 201, ISBN 3-931995-68-2, 175 p.

[3-211] Sander, W., Herbert, H. J., 2000: A new Hydraulic Barrier-Performance of a Self-Healing Salt Backfill Material, Proc. DISTEC 2000, International Conference on Radioactive waste Disposal, Berlin, 4-6 Sept. 2000.

[3-212] Sander, W. et al 2002: ; Gesellschaft für Anlagen- und Reaktorsicherheit (GRS) mbH, GRS-180. (in German).

[3-213] Sander, W., Herbert, H.-J. (2003): Wirksamkeit der Abdichtungen von Versatzmateriualien – Untersuchungen zum Langzeitverhalten von Salzversatz mit Zuschlagstoffen – GRS-180, ISBN 3-931995-48 -X, 225 S., in press. (in German).

[3-214] Sander, W. (2004): Verfahren zum Verhindern des Eindringens einer Salzlösung in einen Hohlraum einer Salzlagerstätte – European patetn application 00 120 249.8-2307. (in German).

[3-215] Savag, D., Noy, D., Mihara, M., (2002): Modelling the interaction of bentonite with hyperalkaline plume, Applied Geochemistry (17), 207-223.

[3-216] Schmidt, M.W., Fruth, R., Stockmann, N., Birthler, H., Boese, B., Storck, R., Sitz, P., Krauße, A., Eulenberger, K.-H., Schleinig, J.-P., Duddeck, H., Ahrens, H., Menzel, W., Salzer, K., Minkley, W., Busche, H., Lindhoff, U., Gierenz, S., 1995: Schachtverschlüsse für untertägige Deponien in Salzbergwerken - Vorprojekt, GSF-Forschungszentrum für Umwelt und Gesundheit, GSF-Bericht 32/95. (in German).

[3-217] Sitz; P., Koch, G., 1999: Langzeitstabile Streckenverschlussbauwerke im Salinar: in Proc. 4. Statusgespräch Untertägige Entsorgung; Projektträger des BMWi und BMBF für Entsorgung,

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

94/106

Dissemination level: PU

Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe, Wissenschaftliche Berichte FZKA-PTE Nr. 6, pp 169 – 207. (in German).

[3-218] Skalny, J.P. (ed.): Materials science of concrete, Vol.I. American Ceramic Society, Westerville, 1989.

[3-219] Skalny, J.P.; Mindess, S. (ed.): Materials science of concrete, Vol.II. American Ceramic Society, Westerville, 1991.

[3-220] Skalny, J.P. (ed.): Materials science of concrete, Vol.III. American Ceramic Society, Westerville, 1992.

[3-221] Skalny J., Marchand, J., Odler I.: Sulphate attack on concrete, Spon Press, London (2002).

[3-222] Strutz I., Hurbanic M., Rudolph G., Vejmelka P. und Köster R. (1983) Untersuchungen zur Ermittlung des Korrosionsverlaufs von MAW-Zementprodukten bei der Auslaugung in quinärer Salzlösung. KfK-Primärbericht "05.12.01p13C". 102 S. (in German).

[3-223] Taylor, H.F.W.: Cement Chemistry. 2nd ed. Thomas Telford, London, 1997.

[3-224] Tsotomu, S.; Takashi, M.; Hiroshi, I.; Toshihiko, O. (1995): Effect of crystallochemistry of starting materials on the rate of smectite to illite reaction. - Materials Research Society Symp.Proc. (353): 239-246.

[3-225] Vejmelka P., Rudolph G. und Köster R. (1982) Auslaug- und Korrosionsuntersuchungen an zementierte LAW/MAW-Abfallprodukten. KfK 3413. 56 S. (in German).

[3-226] Vejmelka P., Rudolph G., Köster R., Nägele E. und Hilsdorf H. K. (1983) Untersuchungen zur Beständigkeit von MAW- Zementstein- und Mörtelprodukten gegenüber quinärer Salzlösung. KfK-Primärbericht "05.12.01p13D", 55 S. (in German).

[3-227] Vejmelka P., Rudloph G., Kluger W. und Köster R. (1990) Die Konditionierung radioaktiver Abfallösungen durch Zementierung. KfK 4800., 80 S.

[3-228] Wakeley, L. D.; Poole, T. S.; Burkes, J. P. (1994): Durability of Concrete Materials in High-Magnesium Brine, Sandia Report 93-7073.

[3-229] Whitney, G. (1990): Role of water in the smectite-to-illite reaction. - Clays and Clay Minerals (38): 343-350.

[3-230] Zhang, C.-L., Dittrich, J. Rothfuchs, T., 2001: Laboratory Benchmark Tests on Crushed Salt, Test Report, Gesellschaft für Anlagen- und Reaktorsicherheit (GRS) mbH, 2001.

Migration

[3-231] Baeyens, B. & Bradbury, M.H. (1997): A mechanistic description of Ni and Zn sorption on Na-montmorillonite. Part I: Titration and sorption measurements. J. Contam. Hydrol. 27, pp. 199-222.

[3-232] Baeyens, B, Bradbury, M.H & Hummel, W. (2003) Determination of aqueous nickelcarbonate and nickel-oxalate complexation constants. Accepted for publication in Journal of Solution Chemistry (In press)

[3-233] Bourg, I.C., Bourg, A.C.M., Sposito, G. (2003). Modelling diffusion and adsorption in compacted bentonite: a critical review. J. Contam. Hydrol. 61, 293-302.

[3-234] Bradbury M. H., & Baeyens B. (1997) A Mechanistic Description of Ni and Zn Sorption on Na-montmorillonite. Part II: Modelling. Journal of Contaminant Hydrology 27, 223-248.

[3-235] Bradbury, M.H., & Baeyens, B. (1999): Modelling the sorption of Zn and Ni on Camontmorillonite. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 63, pp. 325-336.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

95/106

Dissemination level: PU

[3-236] Bradbury, M.H. & Baeyens, B. (2002a) Sorption of Eu on Na- and Ca-montmorillonites: Experimental investigations and modelling with cation exchange and surface complexation. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 66, pp.2325-2334.

[3-237] Bradbury, M.H. & Baeyens, B. (2002b): Porewater chemistry in compacted re-saturated MX-80 bentonite: Physico-chemical characterization and geochemical modeling. PSI Bericht Nr. 02-10 Paul Scherrer Institut, Villigen, Nagra Technical Report NTB 01-08, Nagra, Wettingen, Switzerland.

[3-238] Bradbury M. H., & Baeyens B. (2003) A comparison of apparent diffusion coefficients in compacted Kunigel V1 bentonite with those calculated from Kd values and effective diffusion coefficients of HTO: A case study for Cs(I), Ni(II), Sm(III), Am(III), Zr(IV) and Np(V) PSI Bericht, Paul Scherrer Institut, Villigen. Nagra Technical Report, Nagra, Wettingen, Switzerland (In press)

[3-239] Garcia-Gutierrez, M., Cormenzana, J.L., Missana, T. & Mingarro, M. (2004). Diffusion coefficients and accessible porosity for HTO and ³⁶Cl⁻ in compacted FEBEX bentonite. Applied Clay Science 26, 65-73.

[3-240] Higashihara, T., kinoshita, K., Sato, S. & Kozaki, T. (2004). Electromigration of sodium ions and electro-osmotic flow in water-saturated, compacted Na-montmorillonite. Applied Clay Science

[3-241] Lehikoinen, J., Muurinen, A. & Valkianen, M. (1999). A consistent model for anion exclusion and surface diffusion. Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc. 556, 663-670.

[3-242] Miyahara, K., Ashida, T., Kohara, Y., yusa, Y. & Sasaki, N. (1990) Effects of bulk density on diffusion for cesium in compacted sodium bentonite, Radiochimica Acta, 52/53, 293-297.

[3-243] Moleira, M., Eriksen, T. & Jansson, M. (2003). Anion diffusion pathways in bentonite clay compacted to different dry densities. Applied Clay Sceince 23, 69-76.

[3-244] Muurinen, A & Lehikoinen, J. (1995): Evaluation of phenomena affecting diffusion of cations in compacted bentonite. Report YJT 95-05. Nuclear Waste Commission of Finnish Power Companies, Helsinki, 199504.

[3-245] Muurinen, A & Lehikoinen, J. (1999). Porewater chemistry in compacted bentonite. Engineering Geology 54, 207-214.

[3-246] Muurinen, A., Karnland, O. & Lehikoinen, J. (2004). Ion concentration caused by an external solution into the porewater of compacted bentonite. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth 29, 119-127.

[3-247] Ochs, M., Lothenbach, B., Shibata, M., Yui, M. (2004). Thermodynamic modelling and sensitivity analysis of porewater chemistry in compacted bentonite. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth 29, 129-136.

[3-248] Oscarson, D. W. & Hume, H. B. (1994) Diffusion of C-14 in dense saturated bentonite under steady state conditions. Transport in Porous Media, 14. 73-84.

[3-249] Sato, H. (2000). Effect of ionic charge on effective diffusion coefficient in compacted sodium bentonite. Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc. 608, 267-274).

[3-250] Westall, J., Zachary, J. L., Morel, F. (1976): MINEQL: A computer program for the calculation of chemical equilibrium composition of aqueous systems. Technical Note 18, Dept. of Civil Eng., Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, Massachusetts.

[3-251] Wold, S. (2003). On diffusion of organic colloids ion compacted bentonite. PhD. Thesis, Royal Institut of Technology, Stockholm, Sweden. SKB report TRITA-KKE-0302.

[3-252] Yu J.-W., Neretnieks, I., 1997. Diffusion and Sorption Properties of Radionuclides in Compacted Bentonite. SKB Technical Report 97-12, Stockholm, Sweden.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

96/106

Dissemination level: PU

CHAPTER 4

[4-1] Östhols, E. and Wanner, H. (2000): The NEA Theromochemical Data Base Project. TDB-0. AEN-NEA. <u>http://www.nea.fr/html/dbtdb/guidelines/tdb0new.pdf</u>.

[4-2]SurveyofThermodynamicandKineticDatabasesNuclearScienceCommitteeNEA/NSC/DOC(96)27September 1996.(http://www.nea.fr/html/science/docs/1996/nsc-doc96-27.html)

[4-3] Parkhurst D.L., Appelo C.A.J., 1999. PHREEQC2 - A computer program for speciation reaction-path, 1D-Transport and inverse geochemical calculations. U.S. Geological Survey.

[4-4] Samper, J., Juncosa, R., Delgado, J., Montenegro, L., 2000. CORE2D. A code for nonisothermal water flow and reactive solute transport. Users manual version 2. Publicación Técnica de Enresa 6/2000.

[4-5] Wolery, T. J., 1992. EQ3/6, A software package for geochemical modeling of aqueous system (version 7). Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory. UCRL-MA-110662 PTI, PTII, PTIII and PTIV.

[4-6] Herbert, H.J., Meyer, Th., 2001. Corrosion of cementitious materials under geological disposal conditions with resulting effects on the geochemical stability of clay minerals. <u>http://www.eurosafeforum.org/down2001/semb3_5.doc</u>).

[4-7] Bourbon, X., 2003. Chemical conceptual model for cement based materials. Mineral phases and thermodynamic data. ANDRA technical report C.NT.ASCM.03.026.

[4-8] Bourbon X. (2001) Chemical reactivity and elementary data on the main hydrates in cementbased materials. Approach based on a phenomenological behaviour model

[4-9] Atkins M., Bennett D.G., Dawes A.C., Glasser F.P., Kindness A. & Read D. (1992) A thermodynamic model for blended cement. Cem. Concr. Res., 22, 497-502.

[4-10] Bennett D.G., Read D., Atkins M. & Glasser F.P. (1992) A thermodynamic model for blended cement. II. Cement hydrate phases ; thermodynamic values and modelling studies. J. Nucl. Mat., 190, 315-325.

[4-11] Haworth A., Sharland S.M. & Tweed C.J. (1989) Modelling chemical interactions in the near field of a low or intermediate level nuclear waste repository. Proc. Symp. Safety Assessment Rad. Waste Repository. Paris (France). 902-911.

[4-12] Lunden I. & Andersson K. (1991) Interaction of concrete and synthetic granitic ground water in air and nitrogen atmosphere. Radiochim. Acta, 52/53, 17-21.

[4-13] Glasser F.P., Mc Phee D.E. & Lachowski E.E. (1988) Modelling approach to the prediction of equilibrium phase distribution in slag cement blends and their solubility properties. MRS Symp. Proc., 112, 3-.

[4-14] Lee J.H., Roy D.M., Mann B. & Stahl D. (1995) Integrated approach to modeling long term durability of concrete engineered barriers in LLRW disposal facility. MRS Symp. Proc., 353, 881-889.

[4-15] Wersin P., Spahiu K. & Bruno J. (1994) Time evolution of dissolved oxygen and redox conditions in a HLW repository. SKB TR 94-02.

[4-16] Taylor H.F.W. (1990) Cement Chemistry. Acad. Press.

[4-17] Lea F.M. (1956-1998) The chemistry of cement. Third Ed. -1970- Lea's chemistry of cement. Fourth Edition by P.C. Hewlett –1998- , Arnold Eds.

[4-18] Bradbury, M.H., Baeyens, B., 1998. A physico-chemical characterisation and geochemical modelling approach for determining pore water chemistries in argillaceous rocks. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 62, pp. 783-795.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

97/106

Dissemination level: PU

[4-19] Bradbury, M.H., Baeyens, B., 2002. Pore water chemistry in compacted re-saturated MX-80 bentonite: Physico-chemical characterisation and geochemical modelling. PSI Bericht Nr. 02-10 Paul Scherrer Institut, Villigen, Switzerland and Nagra Technical Report NTB 01-08, Nagra, Wettingen, Switzerland (<u>http://les.web.psi.ch/publications/abstracts/PSI_Bericht02-10.pdf</u>).

[4-20] Fernández, A.M^a, Cuevas, J., Rivas, P., 2001. Pore water chemistry of the FEBEX bentonite. Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Pro. 663, pp. 573-588.

[4-21] Fernández, A.M^a, 2004. Caracterización y modelización del agua intersticial en materiales arcillosos: Estudio de la bentonita de Cortijo de Archidona. Ph. D. Thesis. Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, 505 pp.

[4-22] Fernández, A.M^a., Baeyens, B., Bradbury, M., Rivas, P., 2004. Analysis of the pore water chemical composition of a Spanish compacted bentonite used in an engineered barrier. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Vol. 29/1, pp. 105-118.

[4-23] Wanner, H., Wersin, P., Sierro, N., 1992. Thermodynamic modelling of bentonitegroundwater interaction and implications for near field chemistry in a repository for spent fuel. SKB 92-37, 28 pp.

[4-24] Wieland, E., Wanner, H., Albinsson, Y., Wersin, P., Karland, O., 1994. A surface chemical model of the bentonite-water interface and its implications for modelling the near field chemistry in a repository for spent fuel. SKB Technical Report 94-26. 64 pp.

[4-25] Stumm, W., Morgan, J.J., 1981. Aquatic chemistry. 2nd. Ed. John Wiley & Sons. New York.

CHAPTER 5

[5-1] Arcos, D.; Bruno, J.; Benbow, J.; Takase, H.S. 2000a. Behaviour of bentonite accessory

minerals during the thermal stage. SKB Technical Report 00-06.

[5-1] Arcos, D., Bruno, J., Duro, L., Grivé, M. 2000b. Desarrollo de un modelo geoquímico de campo próximo.ENRESA Publ. Tec. 4/2000

[5-2] Arcos, D., Bruno, J., Duro, L., Hodgkinson, D. 2004. Geochemical evolution of the near field. Process modelling. NF-PRO Report, Component 2, WP2.6.

[5-3] Blackwood, D.J.; Naish, C.C. 1995. The effect of galvanic coupling between the copper outer canister and the carbon steel inner canister on the corrosion resistance of the Advanced cold Process Canister. SKB PR 95-04.

[5-4] Blackwood, D.J., Naish, C.C., Platts, N., Taylor, K.J.; Thomas, M.I. 1995. The anaerobic corrosion of carbon iron in granitic groundwaters, SKB TR 95-03

[5-5] Blackwood, D.J.; Hoch, A.R.; Naish, c.C.; Rance, A.; Sharland, S.M. 1994. Research on corrosion aspects of the Advanced cold Process Canister. SKB TR 94-12

[5-6] Bruno, J.; Arcos, D.; Duro, L. 1999. Processes and features affecting the near field hydrochemistry. Groundwater-bentonite interaction. SKB TR 99-29.

[5-7] ENRESA 2000. FEBEX project. Full-scale engineered barriers experiment for a deep geological repository for high level radioactive waste in crystalline host rock. FINAL REPORT. ENRESA Pub. Tec. 1/2000.

[5-8] ENRESA 2003. Proyecto AGP. Almacenamiento geológico profundo. ENRESA 2003. Evaluación del comportamiento y de la seguridad de un almacén geológico de residuos radiactivos de alta actividad en arcilla. ENRESA Internal Report.

[5-9] Karnland, O.; Sandén, T.; Johannesson, L.E.; Eriksen, T.; Jansson, M.; Wold, S.; Pedersen, K.; Motamedi, M. 2000. Long term test of buffer material. Final report on the pilot parcels. SKB TR 00-22.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

98/106

Dissemination level: PU

[5-10] King, F.; Ahonen, L.; Taxén, C.; Vuorinen, U.; Werme, L. 2001. Copper corrosion under expected conditions in a deep geologic repository. SKB TR 01-23.

[5-11] Pedersen, K.; Karlsson, F. 1995. Investigations of subterranean microorganisms. Their importance for performance assessment of radioactive waste disposal. SKB TR 95-10.

[5-12] Platts, N.; Blackwood, D.J.; Naish, C.C. 1994. Anaerobic oxidation of carbon iron in granitic groundwaters: A review of the relevant literature. SKB TR 94-01.

[5-13] Puigdomenech, I.; Taxén, C. 2000. Thermodynamic data for copper. Implications for the corrosion of copper under repository conditions. SKB TR 00-13.

[5-14] Savage, D.; Noy, D.; Mihara, M. 2002. Modelling the interaction of bentonite with hyperalkaline fluids. Appl. Geochem., 17: 207-223.

[5-15] SKB, 1999. SR 97. Processes in the repository evolution. SKB TR 99-07.

[5-16] Smart, N.; Rance, A.; Blackwood, D. 1997. Corrosion aspects of the copper-steel/iron process canister: Consequence of changing the material for the inner container from carbon steel to cast iron. SKB PR 97-04.

[5-17] Stumm, W.; Morgan, J.J. 1981. Aquatic Chemistry. J. Wiley Sons, New York.

[5-18] Taylor, H. F. W. 1990. Cement Chemistry; pp. 62-63. Academic Press, London, U.K.

[5-19] Wanner, H.; Wersin, P.; Sierro, N. 1992. Thermodynamic modelling of bentonitegroundwater interaction and implications for near field chemistry in a repository for spent fuel. SKB TR 92-37.

[5-20] Wersin, P. 2003. Geochemical modelling of bentonite pore water in high-level waste repositories. Jour. Contam. Hydrol., 61: 405-422.

[5-21] Wieland, E.; Wanner, H.; Albinsson, Y.; Wersin, P.; Karnland, O. 1994. A surface chemical model of the bentonite-water interface and its implications for modelling the near field chemistry in a repository for spent fuel. SKB TR 94-26.

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04] Dissemination level: PU 99/106

ACRONYMS

ADZ: Alteration Damaged Zone

AECL: Atomic Energy of Canada Limited

Afm: monosulphate

Aft: ettringite

AGP: Almacenamiento Geológico Profundo (Deep Geological Disposal)

ANDRA: Agence Nationale pour la Gestion des Déchets Radioactifs

BCE: Buffer Container Experiment

BFS: Blast Furnace Slag

BMT: Buffer Mass Test

BWR: Boiling Water Reactor

CEC: Cation Exchange Capacity

CH: Calcium Hydroxide

CLC: Cellular Lightweight Concrete

CSH: Calcium Silicate Hydrates

DDL: Double Diffusive Layer

DGR: Deep Geological Repository

EBS: Engineered Barrier System

EDZ: Excavated Damage Zone

ENRESA: Empresa Nacional de Residuos Radiactivos, S.A. (Spain)

FA: fly ashes

FEBEX: Full-Scale Engineered Barriers Experiment

GRS: Gessellschaft für Anlagen und Reaktorsicherheit

HA: humic acid

HLW: High Level Waste

HRL: Hard Rock Laboratory

INE: Institut für Nukleare Entsorgung (Germany)

ITT: Isothermal Tests

LLW: Low Level Waste

LOT: Long Term test of buffer material

NAGRA: Nationale Genossenschaft für die Lagerung Radioaktiver Abfälle (Switzerland)

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]

Dissemination level: PU

Date of issue of this report: 31 March 2005

100/106

NSARP: Nirex Safety Assessment Research program

ONDRAF/NIRAS: Belgian Agency for Radioactive Waste and enriched Fisssile Materials

OPC: Ordinary Portland Cement

PWR: Pressure Water Reactor

RAWRA: Radioactive Waste Repository Authority (Czech Republic)

RESEAL project: A large in situ demonstration test for Repository SEALing in an argillaceous host rock

RTD: Research and Technology Development

S:L: Solid:Liquid ratio

SCK-CEN: Studiecentrum voor Kernenergie-Centre D'Etude de l'Energie

SFA: fly ash

SKB: Svensk Kärnbränslehantering AB

SR: sulphoresistant

SRB: Sulphoresistant Bacteria

THM: Thermo-Hydro-Mechanical

THMCB: Thermo-Hydro-Mechanical Chemical and Bacteria

URL: Underground Research laboratory

w/c: water/cement ratio

[NF PRO]

(D2.1.1) – State of the art report. Final version [CIEMAT/DIAE/54511/07/04]
Dissemination level: PU
Date of issue of this report: 31 March 2005

101/106